
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, APRIL 03, 2023 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of March 20, 2023. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed maximum levy for affected property tax levies for FY2024. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 21, 2023) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the maximum levy for affected property tax levies for FY2024. 

3. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to conditional use for adaptive reuse of defunct institutional buildings. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 03/24/2023) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
conditional use for adaptive reuse of defunct institutional buildings, upon its first consideration. 

Old Business 

1



Page 2 of 3 

4. Pass Ordinance #3025, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
establishing procedures for Planning & Zoning Commission review and City Council approval of site 
plans in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), upon its second consideration. (5 aye votes 
required due to denial by the Planning & Zoning Commission) 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

5. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of March 20, 2023 relative to the 
following items: 
a) Review snow removal practices and policies. 
b) Code Enforcement – private snow removal code revisions discussion. 

6. Approve the following proclamations: 
a) Recognizing April 2023 as Fair Housing Month. 
b) Recognizing April 26, 2023 as Administrative Professionals Day. 
c) Recognizing May 2023 as Low Mow May. 

7. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of February 2023. 

8. Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Hy-Vee Fast & Fresh, 6527 University Avenue. 
b) Hy-Vee Food Store, 6301 University Avenue. 

9. Approve the following Order Accepting Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreements with the following 
establishments for first tobacco violations: 
a) National Cigar Store, d/b/a Hill Street News & Tobacco, 2217 College Street. 
b) Gracious Food, LLC, d/b/a King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street. 
c) Kram Company, Inc., d/b/a The Landmark, 107 Main Street. 

10. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 
temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (May 26, June 16-17, June 23-24, and July 21-22, 
2023) 
d) Happy’s Wine & Spirits, 5925 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
– 14 day permit. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

11. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

12. Resolution approving the recommendation of the Director of Public Safety Services and City 
Administrator relative to the appointment of an Acting Fire Chief. 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of five Participation Agreements involving Allergan, 
CVS, Teva, Walgreens and Walmart relative to a national opioid settlement. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Contract Amendment #1 to the Linen Services 
Agreement with Aramark Uniform Services. 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service Order with USCC Services, LLC 
(UScellular) relative to providing cellular service for the City. 

16. Resolution approving and accepting a Warranty Deed, in conjunction with the expansion of the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park. 

17. Resolution approving and accepting two Warranty Deeds, in conjunction with the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

18. Resolution approving and accepting five Warranty Deeds, in conjunction with the Cedar Heights 
Drive Reconstruction Project. 

19. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Municipal Pipe Tool Company LLC for 
the 2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

20. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 2023 
Street Construction Project. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates for design services relative to the West Viking Road Industrial Park Expansion Phase II. 

22. Resolution approving the preliminary plat of Hidden Pines. 

23. Resolution approving and accepting a Public Sanitary Sewer Easement, in conjunction with the 
preliminary plat of Hidden Pines. 

24. Resolution setting April 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the proposed FY2024 Budget for 
the City of Cedar Falls. 

25. Resolution setting April 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into a proposed 
Purchase, Sale and Development Agreement, and to consider conveyance of certain city-owned real 
estate to CF Storage, LLC. 

26. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting April 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Ashworth Drive Roadway 
Expansion Project. 

27. Resolution setting April 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 
26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to signage for Civic/Institutional Uses in the 
Downtown Character District (CD-DT). 

28. Resolution setting April 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, 
Agricultural District to R-1, Residence District approximately 3 acres of property located west of the 
Hudson Road & Ashworth Drive intersection, f/n/a 4919 Hudson Road. 

29. Resolution setting April 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, 
Agricultural District to R-2, Residence District approximately 14 acres of property located north of 
Black Hawk Park Addition and west of Cypress Avenue. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

30. Allow Bills and Claims for April 3, 2023. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, MARCH 20, 2023 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:04 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Green led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

54200 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Schultz that the minutes of the 
Regular Meeting of March 6, 2023 be approved as presented and ordered of 
record. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54201 - Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, commented on the need for ADA compliant 

restrooms downtown. 
 
  Kathryn Delau, 2214 Coventry Lane, expressed concerns with neighboring 

nuisance property and requested more aggressive means of abatement. 
 
  Forrest Dawkins, 2323 Yorkshire Drive, echoed the previous speakers concerns 

and agreed that it is a dangerous situation. 
 
  Community Development Director Sheetz and Building Official Castle responded 

that the nuisance property is under contract to be purchased. 
 
54202 -     Finance & Business Operations Director Rodenbeck provided an update on the 

budget process and issues with publication of the notice causing delays in the 
process. 

 
54203 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 10, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed amendments 
to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to Planning & Zoning 
Commission review of site plans in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). It 
was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54204 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed amendments. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard provided a brief summary of the proposed 
amendments. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed amendments, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to 
the next order of business. 

 
54205 - Following comments by Mayor Green, it was moved by deBuhr and seconded by 

Ganfield that Ordinance #3025, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to establishing procedures for Planning & Zoning 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

Commission review and City Council approval of site plans in the Downtown 
Character District (CD-DT), be passed upon its first consideration. Following 
comments and questions by Councilmembers deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Dunn, Sires and Schultz, and Mayor Green, and responses by Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard and City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires. Nay: 
Schultz, Dunn. Motion carried. 

 
54206 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 10, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed amendments 
to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to eliminating the 
shared parking requirement in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). It was 
then moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54207 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed amendments. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard provided a brief summary of the proposed 
amendments. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed amendments, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to 
the next order of business. 

 
54208 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding that an ordinance amending 

Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to eliminating the shared 
parking requirement in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), be passed 
upon its first consideration. Following comments and questions by 
Councilmembers Harding, deBuhr, Kruse, Sires and Ganfield, and Mayor Green, 
it was moved by Kruse that if shared parking is denied, residential parking 
requirements be increased to one bedroom. Mayor called the motion out of order. 
The Mayor then put the question on the original motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Ganfield, Sires. Nay: 
Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Dunn. Motion failed. 

 
54209 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 10, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed amendments 
to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to increasing 
residential parking requirements in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT) to 
one parking space per bedroom. It was then moved by Ganfield and seconded 
by Harding that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and 
placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54210 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed amendments. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard provided a brief summary of the proposed 
amendments. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed amendments, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

the next order of business. 
 
54211 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Schultz that an ordinance amending 

Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to increasing residential 
parking requirements in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT) to one parking 
space per bedroom, be passed upon its first consideration. Following comments 
and questions by Councilmembers Kruse, deBuhr, Schultz and Dunn, and 
responses by Planning & Community Services Manager Howard, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, deBuhr, Sires. Nay: Schultz, Harding, 
Ganfield, Dunn. Motion failed. 

 
54212 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

 Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of March 6, 2023 
relative to the following items: 
a) FY2024 Budget. 
b) Economic Development Incentives. 

 Approve a proclamation recognizing March 20, 2023 as Robotics week. 

 Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to 
the certified list for the position of Assistant Equipment Mechanic in the Public 
Works Department. 

 Approve an Order Accepting Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreement with The 
Music Station, a/k/a Mini Mart, 1420 West 1st Street, for a first tobacco violation. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Barn Happy, 11310 University Avenue, Special Class B retail native wine - 
renewal. 
b) Chilitos Mexican Bar and Grill, 1704 West 1st Street, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
c) Social House, 2208 College Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
d) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E retail alcohol – renewal. 
e) The Wine Shop, 305 Main Street, Special Class C retail alcohol – adding 
outdoor service. 
f) Godfather's Pizza, 1621 West 1st Street, Special Class C retail alcohol - new. 
g) Hurling Hatchet, 100 East 2nd Street, Special Class C retail alcohol - new. 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

54213 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #23,095, authorizing the Mayor’s appointment and two designated 

alternates to the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area Transportation 
Organization (MPO) Policy Board. 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 Resolution #23,096, approving payment, and approving and accepting Release 
and Settlement Agreements with respect to the City’s issuance on August 31, 
2022, of General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022, maturing annually 
on June 1, 2024 through June 1, 2035, and authorizing and directing the Mayor 
and City Clerk to execute said Release and Settlement Agreements on behalf of 
the City, as follows: 
a) Investor “A” Maturity 2029 & 2030:  $19,029.55 
b) Investor “B” Maturity 2031 & 2032:  $22,470.25 
c) Investor “C” Maturity 2033 & 2034:   $22,342.10 
d) Investor “D” Maturity 2035:   $22,497.75 

 Resolution #23,097, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract for demo 
and discovery with Peters Construction Corp. relative to the Pheasant Ridge Golf 
Course Pro Shop. 

 Resolution #23,098, approving a Mixed Use (MU) Zoning District site plan for a 
triplex to be located on Lot 1, Pinnacle Ridge First Addition. 

 Resolution #23,099, approving the final plat of West Viking Road Industrial Park 
Phase VI. 

 Resolution #23,100, approving and accepting a Temporary Construction 
Easement, in conjunction with the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction 
Project. 

 Resolution #23,101, approving and authorizing execution of a Change of Work 
Order to the Contract with Peterson Contractors, Inc. relative to West Viking 
Road Industrial Park Project Phase VI. 

 Resolution #23,102, receiving and filing bids, and approving and accepting the 
bid of Municipal Pipe Tool Company LLC, in the amount of $253,025.25, being 
the lowest bid received for the 2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

 Resolution #23,103, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the bid of Peterson Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $2,664,055.20, being the 
lowest bid received for the 2023 Street Construction Project. 

 Resolution #23,104, setting April 3, 2023 as the date of public hearing on 
proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to adaptive reuse of defunct institutional buildings.  

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,095 through #23,104 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54214 -   It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Harding that Resolution #23,105, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Public Services with 
Cedar Valley Youth Soccer Association relative to providing opportunities for 
youth soccer, be adopted. Following comments by Cedar Valley Soccer Club 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

President Tom Herzmann, 1122 West 10th Street, Councilmember Sires and 
Mayor Green, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #23,105 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54215 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,106, 

setting April 3, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the maximum levy rate, be 
adopted. Following a comment by Councilmember Kruse, question by 
Councilmember Ganfield, and response by Finance & Business Operations 
Director Rodenbeck, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of 
the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #23,106 duly passed and adopted. 

54216 -  It was moved by Harding and seconded by Ganfield that the bills and claims of 
March 20, 2023 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54217 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr to refer to the Planning & 

Zoning Commission to remove the ability of street parking to be considered as 
required shared parking for developments. Following a comment by 
Councilmember Kruse, the motion carried 5-2, with Harding and Dunn voting 
Nay.  

 
    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield to refer to Committee of the 

Whole discussion of pricing of lots in the Industrial Park. Motion carried 6-1, with 
Dunn voting Nay. 

 
54218 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield to adjourn to Executive 

Session for the annual discussion of the City Administrator’s performance 
pursuant to Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(i) and City Code Section 2-217. Upon call 
of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn.  Nay: None. Motion carried. 

     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:50 P.M. 
 
     Mayor Green reconvened the Council meeting at 10:22 P.M.   
 
54219 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Dunn that the meeting be adjourned 

at 10:23 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
    ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

8

Item 1.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: March 27, 2023 

 SUBJECT: FY2024 Budget 

 
Attached is the required form giving notice of the hearing to set the maximum levy and 
the corresponding resolution.    
 
You may recall that I noted in my previous presentation that unfortunately this new state 
notice does not include the total levy rate, it only has certain levies.  Therefore, this is 
not the true picture of the total levy rate.  For example, the total rate being proposed for 
the FY24 Budget is $11.74; however, this form only shows $10.81.  You will note that 
the form does show an overall tax increase of .72%. However, when you take the 
effects of the revaluation and the rollback, different classes of properties will see 
different changes as follows: 
 Residential – 2.98% increase 
 Commercial/Residential – 2.00% increase 
 Multi-Residential – 12.56% decrease 
 
As discussed in the budget presentation, this illustrates the tax burden shift that the 
rollback causes.  
 
A reminder that this is setting the maximum levy, the City Council can continue to make 
reductions for the final budget adoption.  If you have any questions about the budget or 
the budget process, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 
 

9

Item 2.



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING - CITY OF CEDAR FALLS - PROPOSED PROPERTY TAX LEVY
Fiscal Year July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024

The City Council will conduct a public hearing on the proposed Fiscal Year City property tax levy as follows:
Meeting Date:    4/3/2023    Meeting Time:    07:00 PM    Meeting Location:    Cedar Falls City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA

At the public hearing any resident or taxpayer may present objections to, or arguments in favor of the proposed tax levy. After adoption of the proposed tax levy, the City
Council will publish notice and hold a hearing on the proposed city budget.

City Website (if available)
cedarfalls.com  City Telephone Number

(319) 273-8600
Current Year Certified

Property Tax 2022 - 2023
Budget Year Effective

Property Tax 2023 - 2024
Budget Year Proposed Maximum

Property Tax 2023 - 2024
Annual %

CHG
Regular Taxable Valuation 2,064,620,691 2,068,909,898 2,068,909,898
Tax Levies:
Regular General 16,723,428 16,723,428 16,758,170
Contract for Use of Bridge 0
Opr & Maint Publicly Owned Transit 456,100 456,100 474,340
Rent, Ins. Maint. Of Non-Owned Civ. Ctr. 0
Opr & Maint of City-Owned Civic Center 0
Planning a Sanitary Disposal Project 0
Liability, Property & Self-Insurance Costs 249,340 249,340 312,770
Support of Local Emer. Mgmt. Commission 576,590 576,590 1,104,190
Emergency 0
Police & Fire Retirement 1,136,090 1,136,090 1,123,780
FICA & IPERS 1,593,540 1,593,540 1,639,300
Other Employee Benefits 1,473,770 1,473,770 957,840
Total Tax Levy 22,208,858 22,208,858 22,370,390 0.72
Tax Rate 10.75687 10.73457 10.81265

Explanation of significant increases in the budget:
Significant increases to the budget are caused by staffing costs, including negotiated salary and benefit increases. Also, consolidated dispatch costs increased significantly
due to the formula being changed.
If applicable, the above notice also available online at:
cedarfalls.com; https://www.facebook.com/citycf; https://twitter.com/CityCF; https://wwww.instagram.com/cedar_falls_iowa/

*Total city tax rate will also include voted general fund levy, debt service levy, and capital improvement reserve levy.
**Budget year effective property tax rate is the rate that would be assessed for these levies if the dollars requested is not changed in the coming budget year

10

Item 2.



11

Item 2.



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE FY2024 
MAXIMUM PROPERY TAX DOLLARS 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls has considered the 

proposed FY2024 city maximum property tax dollars for the affected levy total, and 

WHEREAS, a notice concerning the proposed city maximum property tax dollars 

was published as required and posted on the city website and social media accounts, 

and 

WHEREAS, as required by law, a public hearing concerning the proposed city 

maximum property tax dollars was held by the City Council on April 3, 2023.  

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa that the maximum property tax dollars for the affected tax levies for FY2024 shall 

not exceed $22,370,390.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the Maximum Property Tax dollars requested in the total maximum levy for 

affected property tax levies for FY2024 represents less than 102% from the Maximum 

Property Tax dollars requested for FY2023. 

ADOPTED this 3rd day of April, 2023 with the following vote: 
 

     
Schultz __________  deBuhr _________  Kruse ___________ 

Harding ________  Ganfield __________ 

Sires __________  Dunn ________ 

        
       _____________________ 
                                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

12

Item 2.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, Planner I 

 DATE: April 3, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment (TA22-005) – Setting of Public Hearing 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Zoning Text Amendment - Add hair salon as potential conditional use of 
defunct institutional buildings 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Chad Welsh, Owner of 209 Walnut (former Church) 
 

LOCATION: 
 

Code change would be applicable to any defunct institutional building 
 

 

 
BACKGROUND 
We received a request for an amendment to the zoning code to add hair salons to the list of 
uses allowed for consideration as a conditional use of a defunct institutional building. The 
applicant is requesting this change because they would like to have an opportunity to apply to 
the Board of Adjustment for a conditional use to repurpose the church building they own at 209 
Walnut Street for use as a hair salon. Personal service uses such as a salon are not currently 
listed as a qualifying use for consideration under this provision of the zoning code. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The following are the current uses eligible for consideration by the Board of Adjustment if an 
owner of a church building would like to adaptively reuse their building as provided for in Section 
26-140 of the Zoning Code, adopted in 2021: 
 

 Hospitality-oriented uses such as: retreat facilities, convention centers, guesthouses, 
meeting halls, and event facilities; 

 Conversion to a multi-unit dwelling in a zone where such use is not otherwise allowed or 
where the proposed number of units exceeds the number otherwise allowed in the zone; 

 Community service uses such as: libraries, museums, senior centers, community 
centers, neighborhood centers, day care facilities, youth club facilities, social service 
facilities, and vocational training facilities for the physically or mentally disabled; 

13

Item 3.



 
 

 Specialized educational facilities such as: music schools, dramatic schools, dance 
studios, martial arts studios, language schools, and short-term examination preparatory 
schools; 

 Professional office uses such as: accountants, lawyers, architects, or similar. 
 
When drafting the original code provision, staff considered other uses that would be similar to 
the community assembly-type activity level of a church, such as the hospitality and community 
service uses listed above. Since these buildings often have large interior spaces that might be 
conducive to classrooms, we included specialized educational uses as an option. There has 
been at least one church in the community that has successfully been converted to apartments 
(in an R-4 zone; not conditional use), so multi-unit dwellings were listed as a possibility. 
Professional office uses are typically fairly low impact uses, so were included as well. Staff felt 
that this list was liberal enough to be useful but limited enough to be appropriate for residential 
zones. The applicant maintains that it is not liberal enough since some neighborhoods may be in 
favor of lighter retail or personal service uses and that determination can be made by the Board 
of Adjustment with any neighborhood input received. With that in mind, below is a breakdown of 
pros and cons of changing the code to allow personal service uses, such as a hair salon to be 
considered. 
 

Pros 
 The traffic and activity of a hair salon or 

similar personal service use may be less 
imposing to a neighborhood than a church 
or some of the other community assembly 
uses listed. 

 Hair salons and other similar personal 
services are common home occupations 
and may not be any more obtrusive than a 
professional office use.  

 Adding it to the list in City code does not 
grant any automatic right to a use, as the 
Board of Adjustment can reject any 
proposal if it is not a good fit for the 
subject property.  

 Neighbors are notified and given 
opportunity to oppose or provide input to 
the Board of Adjustment. 

 Conditions can be imposed by the Board 
of Adjustment to make a use better fit for 
the neighborhood context, such as limiting 
the hours of operation, exterior lighting, 
and signage. 

 A broader use list can provide greater 
utility of the conditional use code 
provision, particularly for smaller 
properties that may not be able to 
accommodate the traffic and activities for 
a community assembly-type use.  

Cons 
 Some retail sales and service uses may 

be considered more controversial in 
residential neighborhoods than the other 
uses listed in the conditional use code 
provision. 

 The conditional use code provision has not 
been in effect very long. Therefore, the 
Board of Adjustment has yet to review a 
conditional use case and develop their 
experience in considering this kind of land 

use matter.  
 Text amendments have application across 

the community for any defunct institutional 
site, so will not just apply to the property 
owned by the applicant.  

 Expanding the list could spur further 
requests for amendments to allow a 
broader range of uses.  

 There were concerns about the conditional 
use code provision when initially 
considered and adopted. Perhaps the 
concept should be tested before it is 
expanded any further.  

 With broader use considerations, 
neighborhood residents close to churches 
may need to be more vigilant and be 
willing to provide input when a re-use is 
considered.   

 
The pros and cons to expanding the uses are fairly balanced as there are near-equal benefits, 

14

Item 3.



 
 

risks, and safeguards. As such, there is not a clear answer as to whether some retail services 
should be added to the conditional use provision or not. However, staff feels that the current 
code as constituted provides plenty of appropriate options for consideration when a church or 
other institutional use becomes vacant.  It may be wise to hold off on expanding the uses until 
the provision is more tested.   
 
PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT 
If the Commission is inclined to recommend approval of this request, staff suggests the following 
wording be added to Section 26-140(e)(1)a. of the Zoning Code, which lists the use category, 
but then restricts it so that only those uses specifically listed would be allowed for consideration.  
 

6. Personal service uses limited to salons, shoe repair, tailoring services, therapy-based 

services, and photographic studios.  

 
These uses are primarily appointment-based services used by all ages, and thus may be more 
appropriate in neighborhood contexts than other retail or service uses that have more 
unpredictable levels of activity. In addition, staff believes that, if approved, this limited approach 
would accomplish the applicant’s objective without adding a seemingly arbitrary salon use on its 
own.  While staff does not fully support this text amendment, if it is adopted the Board of 
Adjustment may reject any conditional use proposal or impose any reasonable conditions based 
on neighborhood input.  
 
Notice of public hearing at the Planning and Zoning Commission was published in the WCF 
Courier twice: once on February 15, 2023 and then again on March 2, 2023. This was discussed 
and voted on at their March 8, 2023 meeting. 
 
Notice of Public Hearing at Council was published in the WCF Courier on March 24, 2023. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on March 8, 2023, the Commission voted (5 
ayes to 1 nay) to recommend approval of amendments to add limited personal service uses to 
the list of eligible conditional uses of defunct institutional buildings as outlined in the staff report 
above.  
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION DISCUSSION 
Discussion 
2/8/2023 

The first item of business was a zoning text amendment to expand a list of potential 
conditional uses of defunct institutional buildings. Chair Lynch introduced the item and 
Mr. Sevy provided background information. He explained that a request was received for 
a zoning text amendment that would allow the addition of hair salons to the list of eligible 
uses in such buildings. He discussed current uses that are eligible for consideration and 
explained that salons would not fall under the professional office uses that are allowed. 
They are considered to be a personal service use. Mr. Sevy provided the pros and cons 
to allowing this kind of business to operate in such buildings. The proposed text 
amendment would read “Personal service uses limited to hair salons, shoe repair, 
tailoring services, therapy-based services and photographic studios.” These uses are 
primarily appointment-based services used by all ages which may make them more 
appropriate in neighborhood context than other retail or service uses. Staff feels that, if 
approved, the limited approach would accomplish the applicant’s objective without 
adding a seemingly arbitrary salon use on its own. Staff does not fully support the text 
amendment. If it is adopted the Board of Adjustment may still reject any conditional use, 

15

Item 3.



 
 

proposal or impose any reasonable conditions based on neighborhood input. Staff 
recommends that the Commission discuss the proposed zoning code amendment and 
set a public hearing date for formal consideration and recommendation to City Council. 

Chad Welsh, 6701 Strayer Road, spoke as the applicant regarding the item, noting that 
the proposed business is intended to be more of a makeup and brow salon. Mr. Sevy 
noted that he hadn’t been given that clarification. Mr. Welsh stated that he is available 
for any questions.  

Steven Jordan, 2510 Cottage Row Road, spoke as Mr. Welsh’s realtor and stated that 
the item will still go through Board of Adjustment approval. 

Mr. Larson suggested changing the business category to salon instead of hair salon to 
avoid making the description so specific. 

Ms. Crisman asked for a definition of a defunct institutional building and what it would 
apply to. Mr. Sevy explained that it applies to an empty building that is not currently 
being used for it’s purpose. Ms. Howard clarified that it has to be an institutional use 
building such as a church or school.  

Mr. Hartley stated that he likes the idea of being able to repurpose buildings that would 
otherwise typically stay empty. Ms. Moser agreed with the sentiment.  

Mr. Larson made a motion to move the item to public hearing. Ms. Crisman seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Hartley, Larson, 
Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 
 

Public 
Hearing 
3/8/2023 

The first item of business was a zoning text amendment regarding expanding the list of 
potential conditional uses of defunct institutional buildings. Chair Lynch introduced the 
item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. He noted that this item was 
presented at the February 8 meeting and gave a recap of what was discussed. He 
discussed the current uses that are eligible for consideration in a defunct building. He 
also covered the pros and cons of repurposing a church for the different uses. The 
proposed text amendment would state “Personal service uses limited to salons, shoe 
repair, tailoring services, therapy-based services, and photographic studios.” Staff 
recommends caution when allowing the possibility of retail services in residential 
neighborhoods for the time being and recommends disapproval of the amendment. 

Chad Welsh, petitioner (6701 Strayer Road), stated that he feels that projects should be 
on a case-by-case basis to allow for more potential projects. 

Stephen Jordan, real estate agent for the petitioner, (2510 Cottage Row Road), stated 
his support and said that he has spoken to many people in the community and that by 
and large the community is in favor of it. 

Mr. Hartley stated his support for being more open to repurposing old buildings and 
using available space when possible. 

Ms. Grybovych asked how the original list of provisions was developed. Mr. Sevy 
explained that it was considered in the context of churches and what has been done 
with them in other communities. Conditional uses are a newer concept to Cedar Falls 
and the goal was to be conservative with the list of uses while still allowing a reasonable 
avenue for adaptive reuse. He displayed some of the currently eligible uses.  

Mr. Larson feels that the simple change in language is adding something explicitly that 
has a similar impact and nature of business to the other ones on the list. He agreed with 
Mr. Hartley in his support.  

Ms. Crisman stated that she believes that repurposing a building is, if possible, always 

16

Item 3.



 
 

the best choice when considering the environmental impact and cost of resources. 

Ms. Grybovych noted concern with adding such specific uses as opposed to making a 
broader category.  

Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Hartley, Larson, Leeper and 
Lynch), and 1 nay (Grybovych). 

 

17

Item 3.



Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner I, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 26-140. CONDITIONAL USES, OF DIVISION 1, 
GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF 
CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA TO ADD CERTAIN PERSONAL SERVICE USES TO THE LIST OF LAND 
USES THAT QUALIFY FOR CONDITIONAL USE CONSIDERATION FOR THE ADAPTIVE 
RE-USE OF DEFUNCT INSTITUTIONAL BUILDINGS IN RESIDENCE DISTRICTS.  
 
WHEREAS, Section 26-140 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, adopted in 2021, contains a 

list of uses that qualify for conditional use consideration for the adaptive re-use of defunct institutional 
buildings on a case-by-case basis as reviewed and approved by the Board of Adjustment, and 

 
WHEREAS, the City received an application seeking a zoning code text amendment to add 

“salon” to the list of uses which qualify for conditional use consideration for the adaptive re-use of 
defunct institutional buildings; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed (Case TA22-003) and 

determined that allowing certain personal service uses to qualify for consideration as a conditional use 
to adaptively re-use defunct institutional buildings located in residential zones as reviewed and 
approved by the Board of Adjustment, is a reasonable amendment to the zoning code since personal 
service uses such as a salon have a similar impact and nature of business to other uses that qualify, 
and the repurposing of a building is beneficial to the community and can have a significantly lower 
cost and environmental impact compared to new construction. Therefore, the Commission 
recommended approval; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1: Paragraph (e)(1)a. within Section 26-140. Conditional Uses, within Division 1, 
Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add an untitled paragraph 6., 
as follows:  
 

6. Personal service uses limited to salons, shoe repair, tailoring services, therapy-based 

services, and photographic studios. 

 

 
INTRODUCED:     April 3, 2023    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
____________________________ 

ATTEST:      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

18

Item 3.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: March 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Petition from City Council to amend the Downtown Character District (TA22-003) 

 

 
On July 18th, 2022, the City Council held a public hearing on an ordinance to amend the Downtown 
Character District zoning regulations recommended unanimously by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission at their June 8th meeting. In effect, this ordinance would have required site plans for 
new buildings proposed in the Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages to be 
reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the City Council as per the 
City Council’s original petition.  
 
After the close of the public hearing the City Council discussed the proposed ordinance and a 
motion passed to refer the ordinance back to the Planning and Zoning Commission with a petition 
for additional amendments to the zoning ordinance “to include review of any site plan that would 
expand the floor plan or where residential is being added, similar to language in Section 26-196, 
C.2.b.”  The minutes of this discussion are listed below.  
  
Minutes from the July 18th City Council meeting:  
 
It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding that an ordinance, amending Chapter 26, 
Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to Planning & Zoning Commission review of site plans 
in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), be passed upon its first consideration. Following 
questions by Councilmembers Harding and Kruse, and responses by City Attorney Rogers and 
Planning & Community Services Manager Howard, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Sires 
to petition the Planning & Zoning Commission to include review of any site plan that would expand 
the floor plan or where residential is being added, similar to language in Section 26-196, C.2.b. 
Following comments and questions by Councilmembers deBuhr, Kruse, Dunn, Harding and Sires, 
and responses by Howard, it was moved by Harding to call the question on the original motion. 
Motion failed 3-4, with deBuhr, Kruse, Ganfield and Sires voting Nay. Following comments by 
Mayor Green, and questions and comments by Councilmembers deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Dunn 
and Schultz, the Mayor put the question on the motion to petition the Planning & Zoning 
Commission. Motion carried 4-3, with Dunn, Schultz and Harding voting Nay. 
  
 
 

19

Item 4.



 
 

Direction from Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
At the Commission’s August 10, 2022 meeting, the Commission discussed the petition from the 
City Council and directed staff to prepare draft language for consideration at a public hearing on 
August 24, 2022.   
 
At their August 24, 2022 meeting, on a vote of 4-5, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
recommended denial of the attached amendments to the zoning ordinance. Note: For 
context the P&Z minutes from both the original petition from the City Council (where the 
Commission recommended approval) and from the revised petition from the City Council (where 
the Commission recommended denial) are included below.  
 
Council Action at the September 6, 2022 meeting: At the Council meeting on September 6, 
the City Council postponed setting the public hearing date until after Council decided whether to 
amend the voting threshold necessary to pass an ordinance disapproved by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission from 2/3 majority to simple majority.  
 
The ordinance amendment regarding the voting threshold necessary to pass an ordinance 
disapproved by the Planning and Zoning Commission was resolved at the January 3, 2023 
Council meeting when the City Council failed to override Mayor’s veto of said ordinance change.   
 
RECOMMENDATION ON POSTPONED ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS: Staff now 
recommends that the Council consider the following recommendation of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission:  

 The Planning and Zoning Commission recommends denial of the petition from the City 
Council to require review and approval of site plans by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and the City Council for certain projects in the Downtown Character 
District as set forth in the attached red-lined draft.  

 
Note: Due to the disapproval of the proposed amendments by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, it will require 2/3 majority of Council to approve the amendments.   
 
 
Attachments:  

 Red-lined draft of the most recent proposed changes to the zoning code per the petition from City Council. 

 Proposed Ordinance 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

Introduction 

03/23/22 
The Commission then considered a zoning text amendment to add a requirement for 
Planning and Zoning review of site plans in the CD-DT. Chair Leeper introduced the 
item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained that some 
commission members were not on the commission when the new code was 
discussed, so she will be providing some background information again. She 
explained that there was concern and frustration with the fact that it seemed as 
though a great deal of projects had to come through the commission for approval. 
The idea behind the new code was to create more clear and objective standards in 
the code, making less reason to have an extra review by the Commission. She 
discussed the role of the Commission, which includes planning for the future growth 
of the city, making recommendations on legislative matters related to planning and 
zoning (amendments to the zoning code, changes to zoning map, etc.) and making 

20

Item 4.



 
 

recommendations on subdivision of land, including street extensions and proposals 
for parks. Review of site plans was not one of the official listed duties and was added 
to the code later for certain newer zoning and overlay districts.  
 
Ms. Howard discussed potential options which include: 

1. Maintain the code as currently adopted 
2. Maintain as currently adopted, but staff provides monthly report to the 

Commission on site plans under review. 
3. Require new buildings in the UG, UG2 and Storefront frontages to be 

reviewed and approved by Planning and Zoning. 
4. Require all new buildings in the Downtown Character District to be reviewed 

and approved by Planning and Zoning 
5. Require all site plans to be reviewed by Planning and Zoning and approved by 

City Council as was previously done in the CBD Overlay. 
 
Mr. Larson feels that one of the primary objectives of the new zoning ordinance was 
to provide a clear set of rules and make it easier for developers and to potentially 
remove an often unnecessary step for the process. He suggested trying out option 
two to make sure there is some kind of a review. 

 
Ms. Crisman also likes the second option and stated that she feels a bit discouraged 
by how many things have been coming back from council that the commission has 
put so much work into. She’s not sure that adding another thing for approval is a 
great idea if things that have been worked so hard on are going to come back again. 
She likes the idea of staying in the loop and checking in on the work already done. 
 
Mr. Holst feels that the new zoning process is a lot more efficient and less subjective 
so it is easier to check things through. The only thing that will be unfortunate to lose is 
the chance for public input. He also said that Planning and Zoning is a check for staff.  

 
Mr. Leeper agreed with the comments from the Commission and stated that it is a 
tough place to be. He likes the second option and asked if there is a mechanism that 
would allow the planning and zoning commission to pull an item in for approval.  
 
Mr. Hartley feels that it would be nice to have an overview for projects, maybe in the 
form of a monthly report so that the Commission can decide if they should take a 
closer look. His concern isn’t just with the Commission not being able to see what is 
going to happen, but to give the public a chance to comment as well. 

 
Ms. Howard stated that there needs to be a clear path created to deciding on whether 
a project needs to be considered by the Commission. After further conversation, the 
general direction from the Commission to go with a mixture of options two and three.  

 
Review of 

proposed 

amendments 

5/25/2022 

The Commission then considered Zoning Text Amendment and review of certain site 
plans in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). Chair Leeper introduced the item 
and Ms. Howard provided background information with regard to previously 
discussed potential options for the review of site plans in the Downtown Character 
District. She discussed the proposed code language and showed a rendering of the 
frontage designations within the downtown area where P&Z and Council review of 
site plans would be required if these changes are adopted. She displayed the 
clarified/updated code language being proposed and explained what those changes 
mean and asked if there were any questions. Staff recommended that the 
Commission discuss the draft text amendment, provide direction, and consider setting 
a date of public hearing for the June 8 meeting. 

21

Item 4.



 
 

 
Ms. Saul commented that the code changes proposed reflect what the Commission 
discussed and asked for. There was brief discussion with regard to different aspects 
of the changes.  
 
A public hearing was set for the Commission meeting on June 8, 2022. 
 

   

Public hearing and 

Vote 

6/8/2022 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a zoning text amendment 
with regard to review of certain site plans in the CD-DT District. Chair Leeper 
introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained 
that it is currently on the table to change the zoning code to require new buildings in 
the Urban General (UG), Urban General 2 (UG2) and Storefront frontages to be 
reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Commission. She displayed a rendering of the 
Character District and the frontage destinations where the proposed amendments 
would apply. She offered to answer any questions about the proposed code changes 
and recommended that that Commission open the public hearing, discuss and make 
a recommendation to City Council on the proposed amendments. 
 
Ms. Saul asked about the process if a residence is going to add square footage. Ms. 
Howard stated that this text amendment only addresses new buildings.  
 
Mr. Holst clarified that this amendment addresses concerns about new construction 
and public input. Mr. Leeper added that this is a check and balance for significant 
projects in the area. Mr. Larson noted that the amendment could be revisited after a 
year to see if it is still necessary. 
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 9 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Holst, 
Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Moser and Saul), and 0 nays. 
 

 
Introduction of 

second petition  

8/10/2022 

The first item of business was a zoning text amendment for reviewing certain site 
plans in the CD-DT zoning district. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard 
provided background information. She explained that in March the Commission 
considered various options for amending the code to have site plans reviewed at the 
Planning and Zoning meeting and approved by Council. Direction was given that the 
Commission is interested in reviewing site plans for new buildings in the Urban 
General and Urban General 2 and Storefront Frontages. In May staff brought forward 
draft language for Commission approval and a public hearing was held on June 8. 
City Council set a public hearing date for July 18 and Council approved a motion to 
refer the ordinance back to the Commission to consider amending the zoning 
ordinance “to include review of any site plan that would expand the floor plan or 
where residential is being added, similar to language in Section 26-196C.2.b.” Staff 
recommends that the Commission discuss and provide direction to staff regarding the 
petition from City council.  
 
Mr. Leeper asked what has changed since the last time the Commission voted 
unanimously on the item. Ms. Howard stated that she doesn’t believe anything has 
changed. Council just felt that they would like to see further review by the 
Commission and Council. Mr. Holst stated that he would be okay with the added 
review if that’s what Council wants.  
 

22

Item 4.



 
 

Ms. Crisman disagreed stating that the code is written the way it is makes 
requirements clear. The Commission spending more time reviewing more things is 
not a good use of time as there are many projects that will be held up. Ms. Saul 
agreed with Mr. Holst.  
 
Mr. Leeper stated that he has heard comments in the field that the process has been 
too complex and takes too long. People want to know specifically and clearly what 
can and can’t be done. If the review process takes too much time it costs developers 
a lot of extra money.  
 
Ms. Saul stated that she doesn’t believe that parking issues have been fully 
addressed. Ms. Crisman felt that the code spells out what the parking expectations 
are so any added review is just adding a step. The review would not be needed if the 
code is followed.  
 
Mr. Holst asked what Council specifically needs from the Commission. Ms. Howard 
stated that the Commission would need to vote on their petition for the changes. Staff 
would prepare an ordinance amendment per council direction, set a public hearing 
and the Commission could vote yes or no to the changes. If the Commission votes 
yes, Council would need majority vote for approval. If the Commission votes no, it 
would trigger a council supermajority vote on amendment. Staff will need to draft out 
what City Council is requesting for a vote by the Commission. Public hearing is 
scheduled for the August 24, 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting.  

 
Public hearing and 

Vote 

8/24/2022 

The first item of business was a zoning text amendment regarding certain site plans 
in the CD-DT district. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided 
background information and explained that this is a public hearing regarding a petition 
from City Council to require P&Z review of site plans that would expand the floor plan 
or where residential is being added, similar to language in Section 26-196C.2.b. She 
showed the draft of the new language being proposed per the Council’s petition. Staff 
recommends that the Commission discuss the proposed amendments to the Zoning 
Code and make a recommendation to City Council.  
 
Ms. Moser stated that she feels this is putting the Commission in an awkward position 
as it was sent back to them after they had agreed on this item unanimously in an 
effort to streamline the process. To change it would add an extra layer to the process. 
 
Ms. Grybovich added that no planning documents are perfect and they have 
discussed the ability to revisit the item down the road to allow the Commission to see 
if changes should be made. A lot of work has gone into this document and she feels 
that they should move forward with what the Commission has proposed.  
 
Mr. Hartley stated that he has wrestled with creating a process that is efficient and 
easy to move through, but he also likes the idea of transparency and the ability for 
citizens to see everything laid out for them to see what is being proposed. He asked 
how much comes to the Commission currently with regard to site plans throughout 
the City. Ms. Howard stated that there are a number of zones where site plans are 
not reviewed through the Commission and City Council (i.e., R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, C-1, 
C-2, etc.) Typically, the zones that are reviewed are planned developments that have 
a master plan associated with them (i.e., RP, HWY-1, MU, and other Overlay Zones, 
such as the previous CBD Overlay).  
 
Mr. Holst feels that the positive side is the consideration of public transparency and 
can see the merit to adding the review. He believes there is a good deal of public 

23

Item 4.



 
 

interest and feels that if this is what the Council would like to see he is comfortable 
with their recommendation. Ms. Saul stated she agrees with Mr. Holst. 
 
Mr. Larson feels that the proposed language is a good middle ground and would 
support some additional oversight as long as the end goal is the intent to remove it 
from the equation. He doesn’t believe the Commission needs to see everything that 
comes through and suggested that if it is amended to create more review there 
should be an agreement to revisit this in a year, if the process is too onerous.   
 
Ms. Crisman stated her concern that once amended the ordinance will not be 
changed in the future to reduce unnecessary oversight of site plans. She doesn’t feel 
that it has been sent back to the Commission from a concern for the public. She 
believes that the Commission has made every effort to make the code clear and it is 
P&Z’s responsibility to focus on planning for the future, such as improvements to the 
code for College Hill and other areas that need attention rather than on minor site 
plan reviews. She stated that staff is very capable and excellent at reviewing site 
plans. The Commission had agreed previously that they were mostly just curious to 
see how it was working, not that there was concern or need for additional public 
comment. She doesn’t feel that the public is worried about adding additional square 
footage to an existing building. She would like to move forward so the Commission 
can focus on other matters that need their attention. Mr. Larson agreed with the 
majority of these sentiments. 
 
Mr. Holst stated that he could understand that this is a big change. He disagreed that 
the public doesn’t care about projects like these. Mr. Larson noted that the only way 
that the Commission can decide on how the change will work is to make a decision 
and give it time to try out the process to see if there are any shortcomings that need 
to be taken into account. 
 
 Ms. Crisman stated that she doesn’t believe that this is taking away the public’s 
ability to provide comments. Every meeting has time set aside for public comment 
where they could share their thoughts and ideas.  
 
 Mr. Holst noted that people won’t have a chance to comment on projects that aren’t 
coming through Planning and Zoning. Mr. Leeper stated that the reason that the 
projects aren’t coming through the Commission is because the rules in the code are 
clear so it would not be necessary. He feels that this is more of an issue of process 
and that the Commission spent a lot of time trying to get this right. The previous 
recommendation from the Commission to focus additional review only for new 
buildings was approved unanimously and he is wondering how long these minor 
changes to the code will continue to come back from the Council.  
 
 Ms. Grybovich asked what happens next in the process. Ms. Howard stated that at 
this time the Commission should decide to recommend for or against the proposed 
changes per the Council petition. If denial is recommended, it will require 2/3 of the 
Council to pass the ordinance. If approval is recommended a simple majority of 
Council will be required to pass the ordinance.  
 
 Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the proposed language changes. Ms. Saul 
seconded the motion. The motion was denied with 4 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson and 
Saul) and 5 nays (Crisman, Grybovych, Leeper, Lynch and Moser). 
 

 

 

24

Item 4.



Note that in the red-lined version of the proposed code amendments, the strike-through 
notation indicates language to be deleted. Underlined text is new language added.  All 
other language is unchanged and is included to provide context for the changes 
proposed. The highlighted section is the language that was amended per City Council’s 
petition for further revisions forwarded after the public hearing at City Council on July 18, 
2022. 

Amend Section 26-191C., Applicability, as follows:  

C.  Applicability and Development Review 

 1.  Where an adopted Regulating Plan is shown on the zoning map, these Character District 

standards immediately apply at the parcel level.  

 2. The process for developing or redeveloping within a Character District is delineated in 

Section 26-36 through Section 26-39. All applications for development or redevelopment 

within a Character District shall be reviewed and approved according to the procedures 

set forth in Section 26-36 through Section 26-39. Applications shall be administratively 

reviewed and approved, except for the following:   

a. Site plans for new buildings on property designated as Urban General, Urban General 

2, or Storefront on an adopted Regulating Plan.  

b. Any plan for expanding the gross floor area of an existing building on property 

designated as Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront on an adopted 

Regulating Plan.  

c. Any plan for one or more additional dwelling units within an existing building on 

property designated as Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront on an adopted 

Regulating Plan.  

3. With regard to any of the exceptions listed in subparagraphs a., b., and c., above, the 

Zoning Administrator, in consultation with the Zoning Review Committee and Technical 

Review Committee, shall prepare and forward a report along with the site plan and 

supporting documents to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council for review 

and approval according to procedures set forth in Section 26-36(d), Review and Decision-

making. 

Amend Section 26-36 and 26-37, as follows:  

Sec. 26-36. Administrative Determination Site Plan Review, Proportionate Compliance 

Determinations, and Minor Adjustments 

(a) APPLICABILITY GENERAL APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

The Zoning Administrator shall review and decide upon applications for the following 
administrative reviews and code adjustments in consultation with the Zoning Review 
Committee(ZRC) and/or the staff Technical Review Committee, as applicable. Some of 
these processes have additional review and approval requirements; a cross-reference to 
those requirements is provided in the right column.  

Permit or Adjustment Additional Review Requirements 

Site Plan Section 26-37.D 

25

Item 4.



Proportionate 
Compliance 

n/a 

Minor Adjustment Section 26-39.E 

Applications and submittal materials required for site plan review, proportionate compliance 
determinations, and minor adjustments under this Chapter shall be submitted on forms and 
in such numbers as required by the City. The applicable filing fee shall be paid at the time 
the application is filed. Additional fees may be required for re-submittals. Fees are 
determined by resolution of the City Council.  

(b) APPLICATION  COMPLETENESS REVIEW 

(1) Applications shall not be processed until all fees and materials have been submitted and 
are deemed sufficient complete in form and content such that recommendations, as 
required, and a decision may be made on the application by the Zoning Administrator, 
or other decision-making body, as specified in this chapter. The Zoning Administrator 
shall determine application sufficiency completeness.  

(2) If an application is deemed insufficient incomplete, the Zoning Administrator shall inform 
the applicant of the specific submittal requirements that have not been met. The Zoning 
Administrator may provide notice in writing, electronically, or in conversation with the 
applicant.   

(3) If an application is deemed insufficient incomplete, the applicant must resolve and 
resubmit the materials required to complete the application within 30 days of the date 
informed of the insufficiency of the application.  
a. An insufficient incomplete application that has not been revised to meet the 

completeness requirements shall expire on the 30th day.  An expired application 
shall be returned to the applicant along with any original documents submitted in 
support of the application.  

b. The City, at its discretion, may retain the application fee paid. Once an application 
has expired, the application must be resubmitted in full, including payment of the 
application fee. 

(c) REVIEW, REFERRAL, AND RECOMMENDATION 

(1) Upon submission of an application, the Zoning Administrator shall review the application 
and accompanying documentation to determine whether the information included in the 
application is sufficient to evaluate the application against the approval criteria of the 
procedure or permit requested. 

(2) The Zoning Administrator may refer any application to the Zoning Review Committee 
(ZRC) or Technical Review Committee (TRC) for review and recommendation.  

(d) REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING 

(1) The Zoning Administrator shall review the Applications shall be reviewed for 
conformance with all applicable provisions of this Code chapter.  

(2) To be approved, an application shall be fully consistent with the standards of this chapter 
Code unless a minor adjustment is concurrently approved to allow specified deviation 
from applicable standards. An administrative approval may include instructions and 
clarifications regarding compliance with this Code, but shall not be approved with 
conditions that require action beyond the specific requirements of the City Code of 
Ordinances.   

(3) Except as specified in paragraph (4) below, after consultation with the TRC and ZRC, as 
applicable, the Zoning Administrator shall approve or deny the applications for site plan 
review and minor adjustments and shall make determinations regarding proportionate 
compliance and provide written notification of the decision to the applicant. If an 
application is denied, the written notification shall include the reasons for denial. 
Administrative decisions are appealable pursuant to Section 26-62.  

26

Item 4.



 
(4) For any site plan that requires Planning and Zoning Commission and/or City Council 

review and approval, as set forth in this Chapter, the Zoning Administrator shall prepare 
a staff report and recommendation based on the approval criteria, standards and 
requirements of this Code, and any other applicable policies and regulations. The staff 
report and recommendation shall be forwarded to the Planning and Zoning Commission 
for its review and recommendation to the City Council. If the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends denial, the site plan shall not be forwarded to the City Council, 
unless so requested by the applicant in writing. After consideration of the staff report and 
the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommendation, the City Council may approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the site plan. If a site plan is denied, the Planning and 
Zoning Commission and/or City Council, as applicable, shall state the reasons for denial.  

 
(e) APPEAL 

1. Administrative determinations are appealable pursuant to Section 26-62. 

Sec. 26-37. Site Plan  

(a) APPLICABILITY 

The purpose of this section is to set forth the procedures and criteria for review and approval 
of site plans, which shall include when referenced in this Chapter, site development plans, 
development plans, or similar.  Site plans are technical documents that illustrate how the 
structure(s), layout of an area, and proposed uses meet the requirements of this chapter and 
any other applicable ordinances, standards, regulations, and with all previously approved 
plans applicable to the property.  

(b) AUTHORITY 

A site plan is required for: 

(1) Character Districts 

a. Any application for development in a character district. 
b. All requests for structures, architectural elements or accessory structures (front 

porch, front yard fence) at or forward of the required building line, and accessory or 
temporary uses; however, for minor accessory structures not located forward of the 
required building line, such as sheds, fences, or decks, the site plan shall only be 
required to show the location of the proposed structure or addition in relation to 
property boundaries, required setbacks, easements, and terrain changes as more 
fully detailed in this Code; 

(2) Traditional Zone Districts All other Zoning Districts 

a. Any application for a commercial, industrial, institutional, or multi-unit residential 
dwelling project development;  

b. Any application for development requiring site plan review, site development plan 
review, development plan review, plan review, or similar review as set forth 
elsewhere in this chapter.  

(c) APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

(1) A pre-application meeting with the Zoning Review Committee (ZRC) is required prior to 
the submission of a site plan application for development in a character district. Pre-
application meetings are optional and encouraged for all other applications. 

(2) The applicant shall submit the site plan application to the Planning and Community 
Services Division. Application submittal deadlines and requirements shall be established 
on submittal forms available from the Planning and Community Services Division and on 
the City’s website.   

27

Item 4.



(d) DECISION CRITERIA 

The site plan shall be reviewed against the following criteria:  

(1) The site plan is consistent with all applicable adopted plans and policies; 
(2) The site plan is consistent with any prior approvals, including any conditions that may 

have been placed on such approvals; and  
(3) The site plan conforms with all applicable requirements of this Code the Code of 

Ordinances, or with all applicable requirements as modified by a request for a an 
approved minor adjustment. 

(e) LIMITATION OF APPROVAL 

Zoning Administrator approval of a site plan does not in any way imply approval by any other 
City department. 

(f) EFFECT 

(1) Approved site plans shall be binding upon the property owner(s) and their successors 
and assigns.   

(2) No permit shall be issued for any building, structure, or use that does not conform to an 
approved site plan.   

(3) No building, structure, use or other element of the approved site plan shall be modified 
without amending the site plan, unless it is determined by the City that such modification 
will not require an amended site plan.   

(4) All buildings, structures and uses shall remain in conformance with the approved site 
plan or be subject to enforcement action. 

(g) POST-APPROVAL ACTIONS 

(1) Expiration  

a. Approved site plans shall expire one year after approval if the applicable permit(s) 
for the proposed development a building permit has have not been issued. or the 
approved use established. In the event that the documents expire due to the 
passage of this time period, new site plan review documents must be submitted for 
approval in the same manner as an original application for development review.   

b. For good cause, an extension not to exceed one year may be granted by the Zoning 
Administrator. Requests for an extension must be in writing stating the reasons for 
such request.  

(2) Modifications to Site plans  

The holder of an approved site plan may request an adjustment to the document, or the 
conditions of approval, by submitting either an application for minor adjustment or an 
amended site plan, whichever is appropriate, to the Zoning Administrator. An amended 
site plan shall be filed and processed in accordance with the procedures specified in 
this Chapter for the an initial site plan submittal, or as otherwise specified in this Chapter.  

 

28

Item 4.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3025 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO CLARIFY TERMINOLOGY AND ESTABLISH 

NEW PROCEDURES FOR REVIEW OF SITE PLANS FOR 

DEVELOPMENT IN THE DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT 

BY AMENDING SECTION 26-191, INTRODUCTION TO 

CHARACTER DISTRICTS AND DEFINITIONS, UNDER DIVISION 

2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND 

DISTRICT REGULATIONS; AND SECTION 26-36, SITE PLAN 

REVIEW, PROPORTIONATE COMPLIANCE DETERMINATIONS, 

AND MINOR ADJUSTMENTS, AND SECTION 26-37, SITE PLAN,  

UNDER DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, UNDER ARTICLE II, 

ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT; ALL WITHIN 

CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Character District zoning regulations, adopted November 1, 

2021, established procedures for the review of site plans for development within the Downtown 

Character District; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has petitioned the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to consider requiring Planning and Zoning Commission Review of development 

proposals in the Downtown Character District rather than administrative review and approval; 

and 

WHEREAS, after a public hearing on June 8, 2022, the Planning and  

Zoning Commission recommended approval of zoning code amendments to clarify the procedures 

for review of site plans in the Downtown Character District and to require Planning and Zoning 

Commission review and City Council approval of site plans for new buildings in the Urban 

General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages, with all other site plans to be reviewed 

administratively (TA22-003); and  

 

WHEREAS, after a public hearing on July 18, 2022, the City Council passed a motion to refer 

the ordinance back to the Planning and Zoning Commission with a petition for additional 

amendments to the zoning ordinance to include review of any site plan that would expand the floor 

plan or where residential is being added; and  

 

WHEREAS, after a public hearing on August 24, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

recommended denial the July 18th petition from the City Council;  

 

WHEREAS, due to the disapproval of the proposed petition by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, this ordinance will require 2/3 majority vote to pass.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

29

Item 4.



Section 1: Subsection C, Applicability, of Section 26-191, Introduction to Character Districts 

and Definitions,  within Division 2 Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District 

Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby deleted and the following substituted in lieu thereof:  
 

C.  Applicability and Development Review 

1. Where an adopted Regulating Plan is shown on the zoning map, these Character 
District standards immediately apply at the parcel level.  

2. All applications for development or redevelopment within a Character District shall be 
reviewed and approved according to the procedures set forth in Section 26-36 through 
Section 26-39. Applications shall be administratively reviewed and approved, except 
for the following:   
a. Site plans for new buildings on property designated as Urban General, Urban 

General 2, or Storefront on an adopted Regulating Plan.  
b. Any plan for expanding the gross floor area of an existing building on property 

designated as Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront on an adopted 
Regulating Plan.  

c. Any plan for one or more additional dwelling units within an existing building on 
property designated as Urban General, Urban General 2, or Storefront on an 
adopted Regulating Plan.  

3. With regard to any of the exceptions listed in subparagraphs a, b, and c, above, the 
Zoning Administrator, in consultation with the Zoning Review Committee and Technical 
Review Committee, shall prepare and forward a report along with the site plan and 
supporting documents to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council for 
review and approval according to procedures set forth in Section 26-36(d), Review and 
Decision-making. 

 

Section 2: Section 26-36, within Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Administration and 

Enforcement, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby deleted and the following substituted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 26-36. Site Plan Review, Proportionate Compliance Determinations, and Minor 

Adjustments 

(a) GENERAL APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Applications and submittal materials required for site plan review, proportionate 
compliance determinations, and minor adjustments under this Chapter shall be 
submitted on forms and in such numbers as required by the City. The applicable filing 
fee shall be paid at the time the application is filed. Additional fees may be required for 
re-submittals. Fees are determined by resolution of the City Council.  

(b) APPLICATION  COMPLETENESS REVIEW 

(1) Applications shall not be processed until all fees and materials have been submitted 
and are deemed complete in form and content such that recommendations, as 
required, and a decision may be made on the application by the Zoning 
Administrator, or other decision-making body, as specified in this chapter. The 
Zoning Administrator shall determine application completeness.  

(2) If an application is deemed incomplete, the Zoning Administrator shall notify the 
applicant of the specific submittal requirements that have not been met.  

(3) If an application is deemed incomplete, the applicant must resubmit the materials 
required to complete the application within 30 days of the date notified of the 
insufficiency of the application.  

30

Item 4.



a. An incomplete application that has not been revised to meet the completeness 
requirements shall expire on the 30th day.  An expired application shall be 
returned to the applicant along with any original documents submitted in support 
of the application.  

b. The City, at its discretion, may retain the application fee paid. Once an 
application has expired, the application must be resubmitted in full, including 
payment of the application fee. 

(c) REVIEW, REFERRAL, AND RECOMMENDATION 

(1) Upon submission of an application, the Zoning Administrator shall review the 
application and accompanying documentation to determine whether the information 
included in the application is sufficient to evaluate the application against the 
approval criteria of the procedure or permit requested. 

(2) The Zoning Administrator may refer any application to the Zoning Review 
Committee (ZRC) or Technical Review Committee (TRC) for review and 
recommendation.  

(d) REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING 

(1) Applications shall be reviewed for conformance with all applicable provisions of this 
Code.  

(2) To be approved, an application shall be fully consistent with the standards of this 
Code, unless a minor adjustment is concurrently approved to allow specified 
deviation from applicable standards.  

(3) Except as specified in paragraph (4) below, after consultation with the TRC and 
ZRC, as applicable, the Zoning Administrator shall approve or deny applications for 
site plan review and minor adjustments and shall make determinations regarding 
proportionate compliance and provide written notification of the decision to the 
applicant. If an application is denied, the written notification shall include the 
reasons for denial. Administrative decisions are appealable pursuant to Section 26-
62.  

(4) For any site plan that requires Planning and Zoning Commission and/or City Council 
review and approval, as set forth in this Chapter, the Zoning Administrator shall 
prepare a staff report and recommendation based on the approval criteria, 
standards and requirements of this Code, and any other applicable policies and 
regulations. The staff report and recommendation shall be forwarded to the 
Planning and Zoning Commission for its review and recommendation to the City 
Council. If the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends denial, the site plan 
shall not be forwarded to the City Council, unless so requested by the applicant in 
writing. After consideration of the staff report and the Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s recommendation, the City Council may approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the site plan. If a site plan is denied, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and/or City Council, as applicable, shall state the reasons for denial.  

 

Section 3: Section 26-37, Site Plan, within Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Administration and 

Enforcement, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby deleted and the following substituted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 26-37. Site Plan  
(a) APPLICABILITY 

The purpose of this section is to set forth the procedures and criteria for review and 
approval of site plans, which shall include when referenced in this Chapter, site 
development plans, development plans, or similar.  Site plans are technical documents 
that illustrate how the structure(s), layout of an area, and proposed uses meet the 

31

Item 4.



requirements of this chapter and any other applicable ordinances, standards, 
regulations, and with all previously approved plans applicable to the property.  

(b) AUTHORITY 

A site plan is required for: 

(1) Character Districts 

a. Any application for development in a character district. 
b. All requests for structures, architectural elements or accessory structures (e.g., 

front porch, front yard fence) at or forward of the required building line, and 
accessory or temporary uses; however, for minor accessory structures not 
located forward of the required building line, such as sheds, fences, or decks, 
the site plan shall only be required to show the location of the proposed structure 
or addition in relation to property boundaries, required setbacks, easements, and 
terrain changes as more fully detailed in this Code. 

(2) All Other Zoning Districts 

a. Any application for commercial, industrial, institutional, or multi-unit residential 
development;  

b. Any application for development requiring site plan review, site development plan 
review, development plan review, plan review, or similar review as set forth 
elsewhere in this chapter.  

(c) APPLICATION PROCEDURES 
(1) A pre-application meeting with the Zoning Review Committee (ZRC) is required prior 

to the submission of a site plan application for development in a character district. 
Pre-application meetings are optional but encouraged for all other applications. 

(2) The applicant shall submit the site plan application to the Planning and Community 
Services Division. Application submittal deadlines and requirements shall be 
established on submittal forms available from the Planning and Community Services 
Division and on the City’s website.   

(d) DECISION CRITERIA 
The site plan shall be reviewed against the following criteria:  

(1) The site plan is consistent with all applicable adopted plans and policies; and 
(2) The site plan is consistent with any prior approvals, including any conditions that 

may have been placed on such approvals; and  
(3) The site plan conforms with all applicable requirements of this Code, or with all 

applicable requirements as modified by an approved minor adjustment. 

(e) EFFECT 
(1) Approved site plans shall be binding upon the property owner(s) and their 

successors and assigns.   
(2) No building, structure, use or other element of the approved site plan shall be 

modified without amending the site plan, unless it is determined by the City that such 
modification will not require an amended site plan.   

(3) All buildings, structures and uses shall remain in conformance with the approved site 
plan or be subject to enforcement action. 

(f) POST-APPROVAL ACTIONS 

(1) Expiration  

a. Approved site plans shall expire one year after approval if the applicable 
permit(s) for the proposed development have not been issued. In the event that 
the documents expire due to the passage of this time period, new site plan 
review documents must be submitted for approval in the same manner as an 
original application for site plan review.   

32

Item 4.



b. For good cause, an extension not to exceed one year may be granted by the 
Zoning Administrator. Requests for an extension must be in writing stating the 
reasons for such request.  

(2) Modifications to Site Plans  
The holder of an approved site plan may request an adjustment to the document, or 
the conditions of approval, by submitting either an application for minor adjustment 
or an amended site plan, whichever is appropriate, to the Zoning Administrator. An 
amended site plan shall be filed and processed in accordance with the procedures 
specified in this Chapter for the initial site plan submittal, or as otherwise specified 
in this Chapter. 

 

INTRODUCED:     March 20, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   March 20, 2023   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
 
 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

33

Item 4.



  
 
 
 

MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

March 20, 2023 
 

The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:40 p.m. on March 20, 2023, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Councilmembers Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon 
Harding, Daryl Kruse, Dustin Ganfield, Gil Schultz, and Dave Sires. Staff members from all City 
Departments and members of the community attended in person.   
 
Public Works Committee: 
Chair Schultz called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Public Works 
Committee Agenda, Review snow removal practices and policies and introduced the Public Works 
Director, Chase Schrage. Director Schrage introduced Operations & Maintenance Division Manager, 
Brian Heath. Mr. Health gave an overview of the City’s snow & ice control operations that included: 
winter preparation, snow removal coverage, employee team and mass notification for a snow event, 
general guidelines, decision making factors that determine snow and ice control activities, and snow 
removal timeline. Mr. Heath reviewed the arterial roadways, routes, fleet of vehicles, the efficiency of 
the newer plows, telematics, and the winter operations costs for 2022/2023. Mr. Heath explained the 
importance of the environmental steps the city utilizes, salt & brine storage facilities, anti-ice 
applicators and the production of the brine. Mr. Heath broke down the snow hauling operations for 
2022/2023 for the Parkade, College Hill and the high school and described the equipment needed 
for those areas. Mr. Heath explained the City’s success is due to its dedicated employees. Mr. Heath 
welcomed residents and Councilmembers to tour the Public Works facility. Council members 
expressed their appreciation to the staff. Councilmembers discussed residential snow removal, snow 
removal of recreational trails, holiday hours and snow removal on roundabouts. 
 
Community Development Committee: 
Chair Harding called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Community 
Development Committee Agenda, Code Enforcement – private snow removal code revisions 
discussion and introduced Building Official Jamie Castle. Ms. Castle explained duplicate sections in 
Ordinance 19-4 and would recommend keeping 19-185. Ms. Castle recommended replacing any 
portion within the code that uses specially named staff to say “City Staff”, use “snow and ice” rather 
than “natural accumulation of snow and ice” and change “reasonable amount of time” to “within 48 
hours of the snow event”. Ms. Castle recommends changing the property owners’ responsibility for 
snow removal to be the full width of the sidewalk for safety and accessibility and include sidewalk 
corners for safety, ability to cross and useability of sidewalk. When snow removal of snow at a 
corner is not feasible, City staff can approve an alternative route that allows pedestrians the ability to 
cross the street. Ms. Castle stated property owners’ responsibility would include all sidewalks being 
cleared of snow with no exceptions. Ms. Castle asked Councilmembers for a motion to direct staff to 
revise appropriate sections of the code that included: reorganization and consolidation; updating 
terminology; definition of internal responsibilities; timelines of removal; and extent of property 
owners’ responsibilities. Councilmembers discussed: trail vs. sidewalk snow removal; abandonment 
of sidewalks; high use pedestrian areas; ADA compliancy; trails in lieu of sidewalks; sidewalks 
shoveled to pavement; placement of stickers on vacant properties; and cost of snow removal if a 
property is invoiced. Director Schrage stated the City is working with INRCOG for QR codes for trail 
information. Chair Harding called for public comment. Janice King, 1422 College Street, spoke in 
concern of removing snow at sidewalk corners. Andrew Shroll, speaking on behalf of the Cedar Falls 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee, discussed maps of recreations trails available online, 
support of changes to Ordinance 19-4 as discussed tonight and 8-10’ trails on commercial and 
residential property. It was motioned by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz to have staff revise 
appropriate sections of the code to address reorganization and consolidation, updating terminology, 
and defining internal responsibilities, timelines of removal and extent of property owner’s 
responsibilities. The motion was put to vote. Aye: deBuhr, Dunn, Harding, Kruse, Ganfield, Schultz 
and Sires; Nay: None. Motion passed. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:55 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

34

Item 5.



   ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 M E M O R A N D U M 
Office of the Mayor 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 TO: City Council  

 DATE: March 28, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Proclamation Requests 

 REF: (a) CFD 1117.22: Council Policy – Official City Proclamations 

 

1. In accordance with reference (a), I am enclosing the following proclamation request(s) 

received from the public for City Council consideration:  

a. Fair Housing Month – April 2023 (submitted by the Northeast Iowa Regional 

Board of REALTORS®) 

b. Administrative Professionals Day – April 26, 2023 (submitted by Jennifer 

Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations) 

c. Low Mow May – May 2023 (submitted by Mayor Green) 

2. Item (c) above follows a presentation which will be given by the ISU Extension service 

on the evening of April 3, 2023.  

3. Please contact me with any questions about the above proclamations. 

  

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Communications Specialist 

### 

 

35

Item 6.



 

CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
  

 
 

                             WHEREAS, April 11, 2023 marks the 55th Anniversary of the 
passage of the Fair Housing Act, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, as 
amended, which enunciates a national policy of Fair Housing without regard to 
race, creed, color, religion, sex, familial status, disability, and national origin, and 
encourages fair housing opportunities for all; and 

WHEREAS, the Northeast Iowa Regional Board of REALTORS® is committed to 
highlight the Fair Housing Act by continuing to address discrimination in our 
community, to support programs that will educate the public about the right to 
equal housing opportunities, and to plan partnership efforts with other 
organizations to help to assure everyone of their right to fair housing; and 

WHEREAS, the National Association of REALTORS® Code of Ethics commits that 
no REALTOR® shall deny equal professional services to any person for reasons of 
race, color, religion, sex, disability, familial status, national origin, sexual 
orientation, or gender identity; and 

WHEREAS, individuals in Cedar Falls have the right to choose where they live 
without discrimination based on race, color, religion, age, sex, disability, gender 
identity, familial status or national origin, and Cedar Falls fully supports the intent 
and purpose of the Federal Fair Housing Act, local fair housing laws, and follows 
practices in order to achieve this goal;  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, acting in the name of the Cedar Falls City 
Council, do hereby proclaim April 2023 as: 

 

 
in the City of Cedar Falls, and I do encourage residents to educate themselves on 
past discriminatory housing practices and to advocate to ensure our city lives up to 
the ideals of equal housing opportunity as codified in the Fair Housing Act. 

        Signed this 3rd day of April, 2023. 

 

______________________________________                                                                                 
MAYOR ROBERT M.  GRE EN  

FAIR HOUSING MONTH 

36

Item 6.



 

CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
  

 
      

 WHEREAS, Administrative Professionals play an essential role in 
coordinating the office operations of businesses, government, educational 
institutions, and other organizations; and 

WHEREAS, the work of Administrative Professionals today requires advanced 
knowledge and expertise in communications, computer software, office 
technology, project management, records maintenance, organization, customer 
service, and other vital office management responsibilities; and 

WHEREAS, Administrative Professionals Day is observed annually in workplaces 
around the world to recognize the important contributions of administrative 
support staff; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls recognizes the diverse work and talents of the 
various administrative support staff in all departments in the city; and 

WHEREAS, many of the projects and the critical services that the city provides 
would not be possible without the support of the administrative staff; and 

WHEREAS, these administrative support staff may have differing titles, they all 
serve an important role in the City of Cedar Falls organization; 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, acting in the name of the Cedar Falls City 
Council, do hereby proclaim April 26, 2023 as: 

 

 
 
in the City of Cedar Falls and hereby urge all businesses and organizations in Cedar 
Falls to recognize the importance of their administrative support staff in their 
respective business operations. 

        Signed this 4th day of April, 2023. 

 

______________________________________                                                                                 
MAYOR ROBERT M.  GRE EN  

ADMINISTRATIVE PROFESSIONALS DAY 

37

Item 6.



 

CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
  

 
 

                             WHEREAS, Spring is an important time for many pollinators, 
because bees and other pollinators have limited food sources early in the season, 
especially in urban and suburban environments; and 

WHEREAS, when allowed to bloom, common flowering plants in most home lawns 
– like dandelion, clover, creeping charlie, and violet – provide a food source for 
pollinators at a time when many other flowers are not yet blooming; and 

WHEREAS, in Iowa, lawn grass typically grows at least a foot during the month of 
May, will outgrow flowering plants, and once tall enough will smother any plants 
underneath; and 

WHEREAS, mowing tall lawn grass down to the typical lawn height of 3 to 3.5 
inches will cause stress or death of the grass because so much leaf material is 
removed at once, and grass clippings left piled on the lawn may smother and kill 
the plants underneath leaving bare or open spots in the lawn; and 

WHEREAS, preliminary studies show that mowing every two weeks can still 
significantly increase bee population size; and  

WHEREAS, most flowering plants in lawns, like dandelion and clover, will flower 
even after the lawn is mowed; 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, acting in the name of the Cedar Falls City 
Council, do hereby proclaim May 2023 as: 

 

 
and encourage Cedar Falls residents to extend the time between mowings from 
every 7 days to every 10-14 days to manage landscape in a way that supports 
pollinators with more flowers; and I furthermore encourage residents to consider 
creating well-designed pollinator gardens to support butterfly, bee, and other 
pollinator populations. 

        Signed this 4th day of April, 2023. 

 

______________________________________                                                                                 
MAYOR ROBERT M.  GRE EN  

LOW MOW MAY 

38

Item 6.



39

Item 7.



40

Item 7.



41

Item 7.



42

Item 7.



43

Item 7.



44

Item 7.



45

Item 7.



46

Item 7.



47

Item 7.



48

Item 7.



49

Item 7.



50

Item 7.



51

Item 7.



52

Item 7.



53

Item 7.



54

Item 7.



55

Item 7.



56

Item 7.



57

Item 7.



58

Item 7.



59

Item 7.



60

Item 7.



61

Item 7.



62

Item 7.



63

Item 7.



64

Item 7.



65

Item 7.



66

Item 7.



67

Item 7.



68

Item 7.



69

Item 7.



70

Item 8.



71

Item 8.



BEFORE THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

IN RE:       ORDER ACCEPTING 

National Cigar Store     ACKNOWLEDGMENT/ 

d/b/a Hill Street News & Tobacco   SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

2217 College Street  

Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 ON this ______ day of _______________, 2023, in lieu of a public hearing on the 

matter, the Cedar Falls City Council approves the attached Acknowledgment/Settlement 

Agreement between the above-captioned permittee and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 Therefore, the Cedar Falls City Council FINDS that the above-captioned 

permittee has remitted to the "City of Cedar Falls", a civil penalty in the amount of Three 

Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($300.00).  Be advised that this sanction will count as a first 

violation of Iowa Code Section 453A.2(1), pursuant to Iowa Code Section 453A.22(2)(a).  

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the judgment in this matter is hereby satisfied. 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 

      City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

72

Item 9.



73

Item 9.



74

Item 9.



75

Item 9.



76

Item 9.



77

Item 9.



BEFORE THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

IN RE:       ORDER ACCEPTING 

Gracious Food, LLC d/b/a King Star   ACKNOWLEDGMENT/ 

2228 Lincoln Street     SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 ON this ______ day of _______________, 2023, in lieu of a public hearing on the 

matter, the Cedar Falls City Council approves the attached Acknowledgment/Settlement 

Agreement between the above-captioned permittee and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 Therefore, the Cedar Falls City Council FINDS that the above-captioned 

permittee has remitted to the "City of Cedar Falls", a civil penalty in the amount of Three 

Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($300.00).  Be advised that this sanction will count as a first 

violation of Iowa Code Section 453A.2(1), pursuant to Iowa Code Section 453A.22(2)(a).  

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the judgment in this matter is hereby satisfied. 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 

      City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

78

Item 9.



79

Item 9.



80

Item 9.



81

Item 9.



82

Item 9.



83

Item 9.



BEFORE THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

IN RE:        

The Landmark      ORDER ACCEPTING 

c/o KRAM Company, Inc.    ACKNOWLEDGMENT/ 

107 Main Street     SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 ON this ______ day of _______________, 2023, in lieu of a public hearing on the 

matter, the Cedar Falls City Council approves the attached Acknowledgment/Settlement 

Agreement between the above-captioned permittee and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 Therefore, the Cedar Falls City Council FINDS that the above-captioned 

permittee has remitted to the "City of Cedar Falls", a civil penalty in the amount of Three 

Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($300.00).  Be advised that this sanction will count as a first 

violation of Iowa Code Section 453A.2(1), pursuant to Iowa Code Section 453A.22(2)(a).  

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the judgment in this matter is hereby satisfied. 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 

      City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

84

Item 9.



85

Item 9.



86

Item 9.



87

Item 9.



88

Item 9.



89

Item 9.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  March 27, 2023 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 

b) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

c) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
– temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (May 26, June 16-17, June 23-24, and July 21-
22, 2023) 

d) Happy’s Wine & Spirits, 5925 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
– 14 day permit. 

 

90

Item 10.



   OFFICE OF THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

PHONE 319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 TO: City Council Members  

    

       FROM:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Director 
  Ronald S. Gaines, City Administrator 
  Mayor Robert M. Green    

 

 DATE: March 22, 2023  

  

 SUBJECT: Acting Fire Chief  

 
  
The Cedar Falls Public Safety Department currently has a vacancy in the Fire Chief 
position with the approved severance agreement with John Bostwick. In accordance 
with Section 2-979 (a) of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, the Public Safety 
Director has the authority to appoint an Acting Fire Chief for a period not to exceed 30 
days. Public Safety Director Craig Berte appointed Captain John Zolondek as the 
Acting Fire Chief on March 9th, 2023.   
 

A new Fire Chief is anticipated to be appointed in June of 2023.  Therefore, in 

accordance with Section 2-979 (b) of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, we are 

recommending the Cedar Falls City Council appoint Captain John Zolondek as 

the Acting Fire Chief for a period not to exceed 180 days.   
 
 

91

Item 12.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: March 27, 2023 

   SUBJECT:   New Opioid Settlements 
 
You will recall that in early 2022 Council approved participation by the City in the national opioid 

settlement involving three large pharmaceutical distributors (McKesson, Cardinal Health and 

AmerisourceBergen) as well as one manufacturer, Janssen Pharmaceuticals and its parent 

company, Johnson & Johnson.  There was a 100% participation rate in the 2022 settlement 

among Iowa political subdivisions.  

 

Another settlement worth approximately $ 20 billion has now been reached with two additional 

pharmaceutical manufacturers (Teva and Allergan) as well as three pharmacies (CVS, 

Walgreens and Walmart).  The State of Iowa is participating in all these settlements.  The State 

of Iowa stands to receive up to $345 million over a multi-year period through these new 

settlements.   

 

As before, the settlement funds will be allocated among the State and Counties under a 

Memorandum of Understanding, with 50% going to the state and 50% going to participating 

counties.  As before, Black Hawk County then has the option of suballocating to participating 

cities within the County. 

 

The reason that Cedar Falls has been asked to participate is that cities in Iowa with a population 

exceeding 10,000 are part of the group that will determine participation rates for the settlements, 

and thus the amount of funds to be distributed locally. 

 

As before, the important part for Council to consider is that participation is necessary to ensure 

that Cedar Falls may, in cooperation with Black Hawk County, receive settlement proceeds for 

opioid abatement programs and activities. As before, there are restrictions on use of settlement 

proceeds; proceeds must be spent on opioid abatement only.  Also as before, there is no 

requirement that the City participate in any particular program.  Participation means that the City 

will retain the option to work with the County on abatement programs if it chooses to do so. 

 

In short, the new settlements are very much like the previous settlements, just with new parties. 

 

Attached you will find Participation Agreements for all five settlements. 

 

I recommend approval of these Participation Agreements.  Feel free to contact me with any 

questions.     

92

Item 13.



EXHIBIT         K      
Subdivision     and     Special     District     Settlement         Participation         Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_teva_allergan/
Address 1: /address1_teva_allergan/
Address 2: /address2_teva_allergan/
City, State, Zip: /cit_ta/  /state_ta/  /zi_ta/
Phone: /phone_teva_allergan/
Email: /email_teva_allergan/

The  governmental  entity  identified  above  (“Governmental  Entity”),  in  order  to  obtain  and  in
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Agreement dated
November 22, 2022 (“Allergan Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized official,
hereby elects to participate in the Allergan Settlement, release all Released Claims against all Released
Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Allergan Settlement, understands
that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that
by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the Allergan Settlement as
provided therein.

2. Following the execution of this Settlement Participation Form, the Governmental Entity shall
comply  with  Section  III.B  of  the  Allergan  Settlement  regarding  Cessation  of  Litigation
Activities.

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within fourteen (14) days of the Reference Date and prior to
the filing of the Consent Judgment, file a request  to dismiss  with prejudice any Released
Claims  that  it  has  filed.  With  respect  to  any Released  Claims  pending in  In  re  National
Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes the MDL
Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation of  Dismissal  With Prejudice substantially  in the form found at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

4. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Allergan  Settlement  pertaining  to
Subdivisions and Special Districts as defined therein.

5. By  agreeing  to  the  terms  of  the  Allergan  Settlement  and  becoming  a  Releasor,  the
Governmental  Entity is  entitled  to  the  benefits  provided  therein,  including,  if  applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Allergan Settlement
solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

City of Cedar Falls Iowa
Robert M. Green, Mayor

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA 50613
319-273-8600
Kevin.Rogers@cedarfalls.com

93

Item 13.



7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided
in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Allergan Settlement.

8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Allergan Settlement as provided therein.

9. The  Governmental  Entity, as a  Participating  Subdivision  or  Participating  Special  District,
hereby becomes a Releasor for all  purposes in  the Allergan Settlement, including,  but  not
limited to, all provisions of Section V (Release),  and along with all departments, agencies,
divisions,  boards, commissions, Subdivisions,  districts,  instrumentalities  of any  kind  and
attorneys, and any person in their official capacity whether elected or appointed to serve any of
the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or through any of  the
foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to
the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely,
unconditionally, and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist in
bringing, or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability
for any Released Claims against any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever.  The releases
provided for in the Allergan Settlement are intended to be broad and shall be interpreted so as
to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating in any way
to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of the Governmental Entity to
release claims. The Allergan Settlement shall be a complete bar to any Released Claim.

10. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision or Participating Special District as set forth in the Allergan Settlement.

11. In connection with the releases provided for in the Allergan Settlement, each Governmental
Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and
benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other jurisdiction,
or principle of common law, which is similar, comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that the
creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor
at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, would have
materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges,
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which
Releasors  do  not  know  or  suspect  to  exist,  whether  through  ignorance,  oversight, error,
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Allergan Settlement.

12. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Allergan Settlement, to
which the Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this  Settlement Participation
Form is  interpreted  differently from the  Allergan  Settlement  in  any  respect,  the  Allergan
Settlement controls.

2

94

Item 13.



I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Settlement Participation Form on behalf 
of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_teva_allergan/                            

Name: /name_1_teva_allergan/                               

Title: /title_1_teva_allergan/                                 

Date: /date_1_teva_allergan/                                 

3

Robert M. Green

Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

95

Item 13.



EXHIBIT     K      

Subdivision     Participation     and     Release     Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_cvs/
Address 1: /address1_cvs/
Address 2: /address2_cvs/
City, State, Zip: /cit_cv/  /state_cv/  /zi_cv/
Phone: /phone_cvs/
Email: /email_cvs/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in
consideration  for  the  benefits  provided  to  the  Governmental  Entity  pursuant  to  the  Settlement
Agreement dated December 9, 2022 (“CVS Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized
official, hereby elects to participate in the CVS Settlement, release all Released Claims against all
Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the CVS Settlement, understands that all
terms in this Participation and Release Form have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that
by executing this Participation and Release Form, the Governmental Entity elects to participate
in the CVS Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein.

2. The Governmental  Entity shall  promptly,  and in any event  no later  than 14 days after  the
Reference Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any
Released  Claims  that  it  has  filed. With  respect  to  any Released  Claims  pending in  In  re
National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes
the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation  of  Dismissal  with  Prejudice  substantially  in  the  form  found  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the CVS Settlement pertaining to Participating
Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By agreeing to the terms of the CVS Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, monetary payments
beginning after the Effective Date.

5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the CVS Settlement
solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

City of Cedar Falls Iowa
Robert M. Green, Mayor

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA 50613
319-273-8600
Kevin.Rogers@cedarfalls.com

96

Item 13.



6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided in,
and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the CVS Settlement. The Governmental
Entity likewise agrees to arbitrate before the National Arbitration Panel as provided in, and for
resolving disputes to the extent otherwise provided in, the CVS Settlement.

7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the CVS Settlement as provided therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for all
purposes  in  the  CVS Settlement,  including without  limitation all  provisions  of  Section XI
(Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, districts,
instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official capacity elected or
appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or
through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor,
provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity  hereby  absolutely,  unconditionally,  and  irrevocably  covenants  not  to  bring,  file,  or
claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to
establish  liability  for  any  Released  Claims  against  any  Released Entity in any forum
whatsoever. The releases provided for in the CVS Settlement are intended by the Parties to be
broad and shall  be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar
against any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the
power of the Governmental Entity to release claims. The CVS Settlement shall be a complete
bar to any Released Claim.

9. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the CVS Settlement.

10. In connection with the releases provided for in the CVS Settlement, each Governmental Entity
expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and benefits
conferred by any law of  any state or territory of  the United States  or  other jurisdiction,  or
principle  of  common law, which is similar, comparable,  or equivalent to  § 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her
favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her would
have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released
party.

A Releasor  may hereafter  discover  facts  other  than  or  different  from those  which  it  knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental Entity
hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges, upon the
Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which Releasors do
not know or suspect to exist, whether through ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or through no
fault  whatsoever,  and  which,  if  known,  would  materially  affect  the  Governmental  Entities’
decision to participate in the CVS Settlement.

2

97

Item 13.



11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the CVS Settlement, to which
Governmental  Entity  hereby  agrees. To  the  extent  this  Participation  and  Release  Form  is
interpreted differently from the CVS Settlement in any respect, the CVS Settlement controls.

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation and Release Form on 
behalf of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_cvs/                                            

Name: /name_1_cvs/                                               

Title: /title_1_cvs/                                                 

Date: /date_1_cvs/                                                 

3

Robert M. Green

Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

98

Item 13.



Exhibit         K      
Subdivision     and     Special     District     Settlement         Participation         Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_teva_allergan/
Address 1: /address1_teva_allergan/
Address 2: /address2_teva_allergan/
City, State, Zip: /cit_ta/  /state_ta/  /zi_ta/
Phone: /phone_teva_allergan/
Email: /email_teva_allergan/

The  governmental  entity identified above  (“Governmental  Entity”), in  order  to obtain  and  in
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant  to the Agreement
dated November 22, 2022 (“Teva Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized
official, hereby elects to participate in the Teva Settlement, release all Released Claims against all
Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Teva Settlement, understands that
all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that by
this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the Teva Settlement as provided
therein.

2. Following the execution of this Settlement Participation Form, the Governmental Entity shall
comply with Section III.B of the Teva Settlement regarding Cessation of Litigation Activities.

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within 14 days of the Reference Date and prior to the filing of
the Consent Judgment, file a request to dismiss with prejudice any Released Claims that it has
filed.  With respect  to any Released Claims pending in In re National  Prescription Opiate
Litigation,  MDL No.  2804,  the  Governmental  Entity  authorizes  the  Plaintiffs’ Executive
Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a Stipulation of Dismissal
With Prejudice substantially in the form found at https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

4. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Teva  Settlement  pertaining  to
Subdivisions as defined therein.

5. By agreeing to the terms of the Teva Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, monetary payments
beginning after the Effective Date.

6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Teva Settlement
solely for the purposes provided therein.

7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided
in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Teva Settlement.

1

City of Cedar Falls Iowa
Robert M. Green, Mayor

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA 50613
319-273-8600
Kevin.Rogers@cedarfalls.com

99

Item 13.



8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Teva Settlement as provided therein.

9. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision or Participating Special  District,
hereby becomes a Releasor for all purposes in the Teva Settlement, including but not limited
to all provisions of Section V (Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions,
boards, commissions, districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in
their official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency,
person,  or  other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity
identified in  the  definition of  Releasor, provides  for  a  release  to  the  fullest  extent  of  its
authority.  As a Releasor, the Governmental  Entity hereby absolutely,  unconditionally,  and
irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought,
filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against
any  Released  Entity  in  any  forum  whatsoever.  The  releases  provided  for  in  the  Teva
Settlement are intended by Released Entitles and the Governmental Entity to be broad and
shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any
liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of
the Governmental Entity to release claims. The Teva Settlement shall be a complete bar to
any Released Claim.

10. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision or Participating Special District as set forth in the Teva Settlement.

11. In connection with the releases provided for in the Teva Settlement, each Governmental Entity
expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and benefits
conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other jurisdiction, or
principle  of  common law,  which  is  similar, comparable,  or  equivalent  to  § 1542  of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims
that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in
his or her favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by
him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with
the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges,
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which
Releasors do not know or suspect  to exist, whether through  ignorance,  oversight,  error,
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Teva Settlement.

12. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Teva Settlement, to which
Governmental  Entity  hereby  agrees.  To  the  extent  this  Election  and  Release  is  interpreted
differently from the Teva Settlement in any respect, the Teva Settlement controls.

2

100

Item 13.



I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Election and Release on behalf of the 
Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_teva_allergan/                            

Name: /name_1_teva_allergan/                               

Title: /title_1_teva_allergan/                                 

Date: /date_1_teva_allergan/                                 

3

Robert M. Green

Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

101

Item 13.



EXHIBIT     K      

Subdivision     Participation     and     Release     Form      

Governmental Entity: State: 
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_walgreens/
Address 1: /address1_ walgreens/
Address 2: /address2_ walgreens/
City, State, Zip: /cit_wg/  /state_wg/  /zi_wg/
Phone: /phone_walgreens/
Email: /email_walgreens/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in
consideration  for  the  benefits  provided  to  the  Governmental  Entity  pursuant  to  the  Settlement
Agreement dated December 9, 2022 (“Walgreens Settlement”),  and acting through the undersigned
authorized  official,  hereby  elects  to  participate  in  the  Walgreens  Settlement,  release  all  Released
Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Walgreens Settlement, understands
that all terms in this Participation and Release Form have the meanings defined therein, and
agrees that by executing this Participation and Release Form, the Governmental Entity elects to
participate in the Walgreens Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as provided
therein.

2. The Governmental  Entity shall  promptly,  and in any event  no later  than 14 days after  the
Reference Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any
Released  Claims  that  it  has  filed. With  respect  to  any Released  Claims  pending in  In  re
National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes
the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation  of  Dismissal  with  Prejudice  substantially  in  the  form  found  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

3. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Walgreens  Settlement  pertaining  to
Participating Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By  agreeing  to  the  terms  of  the  Walgreens  Settlement  and  becoming  a  Releasor,  the
Governmental  Entity  is  entitled  to  the  benefits  provided  therein,  including,  if  applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

5. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  use  any  monies  it  receives  through  the  Walgreens
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

City of Cedar Falls Iowa
Robert M. Green, Mayor

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA 50613
319-273-8600
Kevin.Rogers@cedarfalls.com

102

Item 13.



6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided in,
and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  provided  in,  the  Walgreens  Settlement. The
Governmental  Entity  likewise  agrees  to  arbitrate  before  the  National  Arbitration  Panel  as
provided  in,  and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  otherwise  provided  in,  the  Walgreens
Settlement.

7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Walgreens Settlement as provided therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for all
purposes in the Walgreens Settlement, including without limitation all provisions of Section XI
(Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, districts,
instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official capacity elected or
appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or
through any of the foregoing,  and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor,
provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity  hereby  absolutely,  unconditionally,  and  irrevocably  covenants  not  to  bring,  file,  or
claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to
establish  liability  for  any  Released  Claims  against  any  Released  Entity  in  any  forum
whatsoever. The releases provided for in the Walgreens Settlement are intended by the Parties
to be broad and shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar
against any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the
power of the Governmental Entity to release claims. The Walgreens Settlement shall be a
complete bar to any Released Claim.

9. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the Walgreens Settlement.

10. In connection with the releases provided for in the Walgreens Settlement, each Governmental
Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and
benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other jurisdiction,
or principle of common law, which is  similar,  comparable,  or  equivalent  to § 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that the
creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor
at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her would have
materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges,
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which
Releasors  do  not  know  or  suspect  to  exist,  whether  through  ignorance,  oversight,  error,
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Walgreens Settlement.

2

103

Item 13.



11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Walgreens Settlement, to
which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Participation and Release Form
is  interpreted  differently  from  the  Walgreens  Settlement  in  any  respect,  the  Walgreens
Settlement controls.

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation and Release Form on 
behalf of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_walgreens/                                 

Name: /name_1_walgreens/                                    

Title: /title_1_walgreens/                                       

Date: /date_1_walgreens/                                      

3

Robert M. Green

Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

104

Item 13.



EXHIBIT     K      

Subdivision     Participation   Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Official: /officialname_walmart/
Address 1: /address1_walmart/
Address 2: /address2_walmart/
City, State, Zip: /cit_wm/  /state_wm/  /zi_wm/
Phone: /phone_walmart/
Email: /email_walmart/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in 
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 
Agreement dated November 14, 2022 (“Walmart Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned 
authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the Walmart Settlement, release all Released Claims
against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Walmart Settlement, understands
that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that
by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the Walmart Settlement and
become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein.

2. The Governmental Entity shall promptly, and in any event within 14 days of the Effective
Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any Released
Claims that it has filed. With respect to any Released Claims pending in In re National
Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes the
Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation of Dismissal With Prejudice substantially in the form found at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/.

3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Walmart Settlement pertaining to
Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By agreeing to the terms of the Walmart Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Walmart
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

City of Cedar Falls Iowa
Robert M. Green, Mayor

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA 50613
319-273-8600
Kevin.Rogers@cedarfalls.com

105

Item 13.



6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental 
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role 
as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Walmart 
Settlement.

7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Walmart Settlement as provided 
therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for all 
purposes in the Walmart Settlement, including but not limited to all provisions of Section X 
(Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, districts,
instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official capacity elected 
or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming 
by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of 
Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the 
Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, and irrevocably covenants not to 
bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to 
otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against any Released Entity in 
any forum whatsoever. The releases provided for in the Walmart Settlement are intended by 
the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest
possible bar against any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the 
full extent of the power of the Governmental Entity to release claims. The Walmart 
Settlement shall be a complete bar to any Released Claim.

9. In connection with the releases provided for in the Walmart Settlement, each 
Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all 
provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the 
United States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, 
comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that the 
creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the 
time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, would have materially 
affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows, 
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental 
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges, 
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which 
Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether through ignorance, oversight, error, 
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the 
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Walmart Settlement.

10. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Walmart Settlement, to 
which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Election and Release is 
interpreted differently from the Walmart Settlement in any respect, the Walmart Settlement 
controls.

2

106

Item 13.



I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Election and Release on behalf of the 
Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_walmart/                                    

Name: /name_1_walmart/                                       

Title: /title_1_walmart/                                          

Date: /date_1_walmart/                                         

3

Robert M. Green

Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

107

Item 13.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

    M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council  

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: March 24, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Linen Services Agreement - Amendment #1 

 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Linen Services agreement July 2021 with 
Aramark Uniform Services.  They provide shop towels, mops, and rug/floor mats to all 
departments of the City for the three-year period from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2024.   
 
This amendment is to add logo floor mats to our pricing.   All other terms and conditions 
of the service agreement remain the same.   
 
I have enclosed an amended agreement with Aramark Uniform Services to add the cost 
of logo floor mats.  The cost of all other products on in the agreement will remain 
unchanged.  
 
If you have any questions please feel free to contact me. 
 
 
 
cc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 Matt Buck, Building Maintenance Supervisor 
 
 

108

Item 14.



109

Item 14.



110

Item 14.



111

Item 14.



112

Item 14.



113

Item 14.



114

Item 14.



115

Item 14.



116

Item 14.



117

Item 14.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: March 28, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Agreement with US Cellular for Cellular Service 

 

It is time to renew our agreement with US Cellular as our provider for cell service.  They 
are our current provider but most phones on our contract are due for an upgrade and 
we have additional 33 users that have requested to go on the City Plan based on 
changes to our mobile device management policies being put in place.   
 
They have worked with us to continue to offer a shared pool of data, penny devices, and 
subsidized pricing on other devices for the length of the term.  This renewal would be for 
an additional 2-year term and needs council approval as it is a service contract.   
 
The attached is the Service Order for the new phones and contracted price for the 
service.  We do have 2-3 positions that we provide phones with more advanced 
cameras and video capabilities and you will see one of those phones, the iPhone 14 Pro 
on the list.   
 
Please reach out to me with any questions, either at 319-268-5111 or email at 
Julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com.   
 
 
Attachment:  DocuSign_City_of_Cedar_Falls_SOF_2023April 

118

Item 15.

mailto:Julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com


 

Page 1 of 3 
SERVICE ORDER MSA (Business Customer) v 10.03.2022                                                                                                                                          USCC Confidential 

 

SERVICE ORDER FORM TERMS  
(Legally Binding Document) 

 
 

This Service Order is between You and USCC Services, LLC on behalf of its operating licensed affiliate doing business as UScellular in the Home Market 
(“USCC”). This Service Order is governed by the MASTER SERVICE AGREEMENT (“MSA”) located at https://www.uscellular.com/legal, unless there is a 
separately signed agreement between You and USCC which is identified in this Service Order. Terms not defined herein are defined in the MSA. By 
signing below, you agree and acknowledge that You have read and understood the MSA terms and this Service Order, and that the person signing below 
has the authority to enter into this Service Order on Your behalf.  
 

BUSINESS LEGAL NAME AND ADDRESS 

Business Legal Name  City Of Cedar Falls Business Address       
☐  Same as Shipping Address 

220 Clay StreetCedar 
Falls, Iowa 50613 

Billing Address  
☒  Same as Shipping Address 
  
 Business d/b/a (If applicable)       

BUSINESS SET-UP INFORMATION – USCC INTERNAL USE 

☐ New Business 

Customer    

☒ Current Business 

Customer         

BAN Group ID:       
(If current customer)  

Email Address julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com 

Portal Setup                                

☒ Accept ☐ Decline ☐ Current 

Portal 
Contact  
 (NA for Current User) 

Julie Sorensen Portal Contact Email 
(NA for Current User) 

julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com 

Business Phone Number 319-273-8600 Contact Name (POC) Julie Sorensen 

Account Number (If current customer) 448460582 Territory IANE1 

Tax ID (EIN)   Market IANE1 

Tax Exempt (Attach to File) ☒ Yes          ☐ No Estimated Value 
(ECV) 

 $23,000 

Service(s) Ordered under this 
Purchase: 

Voice & 
Data 

                  Special Approval Sheet 
(Must Attach to File) ☐  Yes        ☒  Not Applicable     ☒  Toolbox 

 

TABLE 1 - SERVICE(S)5 
Service Commitment  

 (Months) 4 

 
May 

activate 
additional 

lines at 

Rate Plan 1 

Cost Summary 

Initial 
Quantity  

(Activations) 

 
Rate Plan Name 

 
Term 

 
Other 

 
MRC 

MRC w/ 
Pricing  

Approval 

Detail 2 

Total Customer 
MRC 

33 Public Sector Pooled 1GB 24       ☒ YES ☐ NO 27.50   907.50 

                                                

                                                

                                                

                                                

                                                

                                                

Grand Total Customer MRC (excludes applicable taxes, fees, and other charges) $907.50 

☐ CHECK HERE IF Customer is eligible for Standard Rate Plan Changes for length of term 
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0873DDA8-5180-42AB-9078-5584D801571B

119

Item 15.

https://www.uscellular.com/legal


 

Page 2 of 3 
SERVICE ORDER MSA (Business Customer) v 10.03.2022                                                                                                                                          USCC Confidential 

 

 

 

TABLE 2 –EQUIPMENT PURCHASES 5 
(WITHOUT RETAIL INSTALLMENT 

CONTRACT)3 

Equipment Service 
Commitment 

(Months)4 

 
May Order 
additional 
quantities 
at stated 

cost 1 

 
Equipment Cost Summary 

Initial 
Quantity 

Description 
Upgrade 
Eligibility 

Term Other 

RETAIL COST 
(non-

subsidized) 

Special 
Approval  

(Subsidized)
2 

 
Subsidized 

Price 

 

Total  

25 Iphone SE 
3rd Gen 

24 24       ☒ YES ☐ NO     $0.01 $.25 

7 A14 5G 24 24                         $0.01 $.07 

1 Iphone 14 
Pro 

1 24                         $549 $549.33 

                                                            

                                                            

                                                            

Grand Total Customer Equipment Cost (excludes applicable taxes) $549.33 

☒ CHECK HERE IF Customer is eligible for Standard Subsidy price for length of term 
 

☐ CHECK HERE IF Customer is activating Customer owned equipment (“COE”)  COE approved by USCC: ☐ YES ☐ NO 

☐ CHECK HERE IF Customer is purchasing Equipment through a Retail Installment Contract (“RIC”) 

DO NOT COMPLETE TABLE 2 FOR RIC PURCHASES. SUBMIT A RETAIL INSTALLMENT AGREEMENT (RIC) AND ATTACH TO THIS SERVICE ORDER 
 

ADDITIONAL/OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS (IF APPLICABLE) 

Accessory Discount / Exclusions      $25% 

Volume Commitment  33 

Revenue Commitment 23000 

Promotional Credits  n/a 

Other Terms and Conditions        
 

1   If “yes” , additional purchases at the Rate Plan / stated cost may be purchased after the Effective Date of this Service Order provided that the Rate 
Plan, state cost or quantities (as applicable) are available. USCC has the right to discontinue any Rate Plan or Equipment availability at any time with 
or without notice. If additional purchases are permitted and made pursuant to this Service Order, such purchase(s) will be documented in Your 
account without requiring a new Service Order or addendum to this Service Order, and this Service Order will thereby be amended with respect to 
such additional purchase(s) as documented in Your account and without any further writing. You are responsible for reviewing Your account for any 
errors in billing or otherwise. See Section 7(c) of the MSA for billing and payment details.     

2  Requires USCC Special Pricing Approval. Additional terms may apply. 
3  If purchasing through a retail installment plan You must execute a Retail Installment Contract (RIC) and the attached RIC Initial Set-up Form must be 

completed. The RIC governs Your Equipment purchased on an installment plan.  
4  Service Commitment(s) ETFs are based on 50% of the MRC of the terminated line of Service multiplied by the number of months remaining on the 

Commitment without proration and You may be required to return promotional credits. Subsidized Equipment ETFs are based on the Commitment 
term and type of Equipment purchased. Equipment Commitment ETFs are in addition to any Service Commitment ETFs. See Sections 9, 10 and 11 of 
the MSA for full details.  

5  If additional space is needed for purchases, please check “Additional Purchases-Service Order Form Addendum Attached” in the signature block. The 
purchases on the Service Order Form Addendum are hereby incorporated by reference.  Any “Grand Total” includes the total of purchases listed on 
the Service Order Form and any additional Service Order Form Addendum.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0873DDA8-5180-42AB-9078-5584D801571B

120

Item 15.



 

Page 3 of 3 
SERVICE ORDER MSA (Business Customer) v 10.03.2022                                                                                                                                          USCC Confidential 

 
 
 

AGREED AND ACKNOWLEDGED BY THE PARTIES’ AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES 

USCC SERVICES, LLC  
Agreed and Acknowledged 
 
 
 
 

 
Signature:  
 
Printed Name:  
 
Title:  
 
Date: 

City Of Cedar Falls 
Agreed and Acknowledged 
 
  

 
Signature:  
 
Printed Name  
 
Title:  
 
Date 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0873DDA8-5180-42AB-9078-5584D801571B

Julie Sorensen

Manager of Info Systems

Mike Litscher

Sales Manager

121

Item 15.



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 0873DDA8518042AB90785584D801571B Status: Sent

Subject: DocuSign: City of Cedar Falls SOF.docx

SFA Opportunity ID: 

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 3 Signatures: 0 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 1 Initials: 0 Tyler Meusburger

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-06:00) Central Time (US & Canada)

30 N Lasalle St Ste 4000

Chicago, IL  60602

Tyler.Meusburger@uscellular.com

IP Address: 163.116.147.49 

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             3/27/2023 2:05:47 PM

Holder: Tyler Meusburger

             Tyler.Meusburger@uscellular.com

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Julie Sorensen

julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com

Manager of Info Systems

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 3/27/2023 2:09:27 PM

Viewed: 3/27/2023 2:35:00 PM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Mike Litscher

mike.litscher@uscellular.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 3/27/2023 2:09:26 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp

Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 3/27/2023 2:09:27 PM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

122

Item 15.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: March 27, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Property Acquisition: Robert and Sandra Jones 
 
 
At their November 7, 2022 meeting, City Council approved the execution of the Offer to 
Buy Real Estate and Acceptance for 2.50 acres of land located at 2617 S. Union Road, 
just west of the West Viking Road Industrial Park, from Robert and Sandra Jones. The 
purchase price was $395,000.00. City Legal staff completed the closing on the property 
on March 27, 2023.  
 
Now that the closing has been completed, City Council will need to accept the Warranty 
Deed that will be recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office. Staff 
recommends that the City Council adopt the following: 
 
 1. Resolution Approving and Accepting a Warranty Deed for the purchase of 

2.50 acres, more or less, of real estate located at 2617 S. Union Road, 
owned by Robert and Sandra Jones. 

 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 
 
         
        
 
 
 

123

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160 

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A WARRANTY DEED FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF 2.50 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OF REAL ESTATE LOCATED AT 

2617 S. UNION ROAD OWNED BY ROBERT AND SANDRA JONES 

 
 WHEREAS, The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, previously approved execution of 

an Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Robert and 

Sandra Jones, for the purchase of 2.50 acres, more or less, of real estate located at 2617 S. Union Road 

owned by Robert and Sandra Jones; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to said Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance, the real estate transaction 

recently closed, and Robert and Sandra Jones have tendered a Warranty Deed in fulfillment of said Offer 

to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance, a copy of which Warranty Deed accompanies this Resolution, to the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best interests of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and accept said Warranty Deed. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that said Warranty Deed conveying 2.50 acres, more or less, of real estate 

located at 2617 S. Union Road by Robert and Sandra Jones, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

approved and accepted, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to cause said Warranty Deed 

to be recorded with the Black Hawk County Recorder. 

 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of April, 2023. 

 
       

____________________________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 

____________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

124

Item 16.



 2 

CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the 

above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _____ duly and legally 

adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

  

 

 

  

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

125

Item 16.



126

Item 16.



127

Item 16.



128

Item 16.



129

Item 16.



130

Item 16.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Luke Andreasen, PE 
 
 DATE: March 24, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Main Street Reconstruction (6th St. to University) 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3283 
  Warranty Deed 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct Main Street from 6th Street to University 
Avenue from a 4-lane roadway to a 3-lane roadway. Included in the project will be the 
intersections at Seerley Boulevard, 18th Street, 12th Street, and potentially 6th Street which 
will be replaced with single-lane roundabouts to improve the overall traffic safety and flow 
in all directions of travel. The project will also include improvements to the water main, 
sanitary sewer, storm sewer, sidewalks, and other miscellaneous roadway items. The 
project required partial acquisition for new city ROW from nine (9) properties. In addition, 
two (2) total take acquisitions were required to accommodate the new roundabout at the 
12th/Main intersection. The City has closed on the following acquisitions: 
 

Parcel # Owner Address Acquisition Type 

11 D&J Investments, Inc 2604 Main Street Partial 

300 D&J Investments, Inc 7404 University Avenue Partial 

 
Attached is a strip map of the entire project where these properties can by identified by 
parcel number. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends that the City 
Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving the warranty deed for this 
property acquisition. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

131

Item 17.



p
w

:/
/f

o
th

-p
w

.b
e
n

tl
e
y

.c
o

m
:f

o
th

-p
w

-0
1

/D
o

c
u

m
e
n

ts
/C

li
e
n

ts
/C

e
d

a
r 

F
a
ll

s
 I

A
 C

/M
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t 

R
e
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

/C
A

D
/D

is
p

la
y

s
/A

lt
e
rn

a
ti

v
e
s
/S

tr
ip

M
a
p

_
U

lt
im

a
te

_
P

U
B

5
/2

3
/2

0
2

2

11
14

15

16

17

18

21

22

23

24 27

28

29

30

31

33

32

40

39

38

37

36

41

44

42 43

45

46

47

50

51

52

53

54 55
56

57

58

59

62

63 64 65

66

67

68

71

72

73

74 75

76 79

80

81

82

83

84

87

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

102

103

104

105

106
107

108

109

110

111 114

115

116

117

120

121

122

123

124

125

126 129

130 131 132 133

134

135

138 139
142

150

151

154

155

156
157158

159

162

163

166

167

168

169
170

171

174

175

176177178179

180183

184

185

186

187

188

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

202

203

204

205

206

207

208
211

212213214

215

216

217

218

221

222223224225

226

227

230

231

232233

234

235

236

237240

241

242

244245

246

243

247
250

251

252

253

254

255

256

259

261

260

262
263

264

265
266

267
270

271

272

273

274

275

278

280

281

282

283

279

284

288

287

289

290

291

292

293

294295

296

298

300

299

BUS-45

AASHTO 2018 (US)
(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45

AASHTO 2018 (US)
(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c)
 2

02
2 

Tra
ns

oft
 S

olu
tio

ns
, I

nc
. A

ll 
rig

hts
 re

se
rve

d.

FEET

0 100

 WASHINGTON ST

Cedar Falls, Iowa
Main Street Reconstruction

STATE ST

W
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

W
 2

2
N

D
 S

T

 S
E
E

R
L
E

Y
 B

L
V

D

 E
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

E
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

 W
 1

7
T

H
 S

T

W
 1

8
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

W
 7

T
H

 S
T

 E
 7

T
H

 S
T

 W
 9

T
H

 S
T

W
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 6

T
H

 S
T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 6

T
H

 S
T

W
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 9

T
H

 S
T

E
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

 E
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

2604 MAIN ST

D AND J INVESTMENTS INC
110 E SEERLEY BLVD

HARDING ENTERPRISES L C 2310 MAIN ST

LINCOLN SAVINGS BANK

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

201 E 22ND ST

201 PROPERTIES LLC

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

2120 MAIN ST

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

107 E 21ST ST

105 E 21ST ST

WEVERINK, MICHELE L

115 E 21ST ST

TRAETOW, MARY A

2018 MAIN ST

2C PROPERTIES LLC

106 E 21ST ST

104 E 21ST ST

MAI, JASON J

114 E 21ST ST

SULLIVAN,DIANE M TRUST

SULLIVAN,DANIEL E TRUST

2C PROPERTIES LLC

ANGOVE,VICKI TRUST

ANGOVE,GREGORY TRUST

111 E 20TH ST

SCHWAN, EMILY

MASON, THOMAS

115 E 20TH ST

ROBERTS, DONALD

1934 MAIN ST

DJS PROPERTIES LLC

DJS PROPERTIES LLC

T & R RENTALS LLC

106 E 20TH ST

MANLEY, LYNN A

114 E 20TH ST

DAGIT, DEBORAH K

DAGIT, SCOTT K

1932 MAIN ST

1930 MAIN ST

T & R RENTALS LLC

1820 MAIN ST

DEERY INVESTMENTS INC

1922 MAIN ST

KLEIN STORAGE LLC

1904 MAIN ST

DEERY INVESTMENTS INC

103 E 18TH ST

PROPERTIES L C

GRACIE MAE 

113 E 18TH ST

111 E 18TH ST

109 E 18TH ST

107 E 18TH ST

HESSE,C AND L LLC

123 E 18TH ST

ROUNDABOUT CENTER LLC

CVVC PROPERTIES L L C

120 E 18TH ST

118 E 18TH ST

TRP PROPERTIES L L C

1718 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1702 MAIN ST

PERMANENT PLANNING INC

1624 MAIN ST

CREW, JUDY L

1616 MAIN ST

RENTALS LLC

CHRISTOPHERSON 1612 MAIN ST

BIENFANG, MARY K

1604 MAIN ST

HAND, MARCEY J

HAND, CHRISTOPHE M

115 E 16TH ST

CRONKHITE, SARA N

CRONKHITE, LEE J

CRONKHITE, SARA N

CRONKHITE, LEE J

120 E 16TH ST

MONAGHAN, BRIAN P

MONAGHAN, BRIDGETTE R

1524 MAIN ST

ROLFES, LANA

ROLFES, DENNIS

1516 MAIN ST

CRALL, MICHAEL G

1504 MAIN ST

CRALL, MICHAEL

115 E 15TH ST

GREDER, GRANT

KEW, BRANDON C

119 E 15TH ST

STRICKLAND, JANE M

121 E 15TH ST

PEVERILL, TAMARA K

PEVERILL, KENNETH W

116 E 15TH ST

GEMINI PROPERTIES L L C

110 E 15TH ST

KRAAYENBRINK, MARLA R

KRAAYENBRINK, RANDY L

1422 MAIN ST

PRIEBE, JOSHUA

PRIEBE, DANIELLE

1416 MAIN ST

VORLAND, DAVID E

1404 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

1403 STATE ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

114 E 14TH ST

PAULI, JACOB

PAULI, NIKOLE

1322 MAIN ST

MALBEC PROPERTIES LLC

1316 MAIN ST

KOG PROPERTIES LLC

1310 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1303 STATE ST

PAGEL, LA DONNA K

PAGEL, LARRY E

110 E 13TH ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1121 STATE ST

KUEHL, JEANETTE M

1124 MAIN ST

MARTINEZ, SHEREE

MARTINEZ, MICHAEL R
1120 MAIN ST

LILLY, JAMES A

LILLY, JOSEPHINE A

1116 MAIN ST

COLLINS, JOHNPAUL

1112 MAIN ST

MC FARLANE, DIANE M

MC FARLANE, MONTELL G

1108 MAIN ST

CV PROPERTIES II LLC

1104 MAIN ST

TENTINGER, PETER

111 E 11TH ST

RENTALS OF IOWA LLC

115 E 11TH ST

GERKEN, SUSAN K

GERKEN, ROBERT D

1103 STATE ST

MB RENTALS II LLC

1021 STATE ST

SOUTER, JASMINE M

GASSMAN, MICHAEL

112 E 11TH ST

MC CARTY RENTALS LLC

1022 MAIN ST

SMITH, CHARLOTTE I

1018 MAIN ST

AIRJB LLC

1014 MAIN ST

1012 MAIN ST

1010 MAIN ST

WERNIMONT LLC 1006 MAIN ST

SMIGELSKI, JUSTIN P

1004 MAIN ST

WELSH INVESTMENTS LLC

109 E 10TH ST

HERNANDEZ, THERESA M

GRIFFIN, ELAINE C

117 E 10TH ST

RENTALS OF IOWA LLC

1003 STATE ST

JOHNSON, CHARLES T

JOHNSON, MELINDA C
921 STATE ST

JRICE, MIMI

114 E 10TH ST

MELICK, KENT

MELICK, JEAN

902 MAIN ST

FIRST PRESBYTER, IAN CHURCH C

FIRST PRESBYTER, IAN CHURCH C

124 E 9TH ST

KNAPP, WENDY S

114 E 9TH ST

RUSSELL, NATASHA K

RUSSELL, JAMES C

824 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

816 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

802 MAIN ST

800 MAIN ST

ST PATRICKS CHU, RCH

113 E 8TH ST

PIGGOTT, KAIA A

PIGGOTT, JUSTIN G

803 STATE ST

801 STATE ST

KEL MAR LC

721 STATE ST

PIGGOTT, KAIA A

PIGGOTT, JUSTIN G

720 MAIN ST

DEV PROPERTIES LLC

716 MAIN ST

WILCOX, PETER J

712 MAIN ST

710 MAIN ST

708 MAIN ST

706 MAIN ST

BAUCH, CHRISTINA B

BAUCH, JAMES C

702 MAIN ST

702 MAIN LLC

115 E 7TH ST

PROPERTIES LLC

RANDYS RENTAL 

703 STATE ST

123 E 7TH ST

RETH, ADAM

622 MAIN ST

KNUTSON, MARK L

KNUTSON, THERESA B
602 MAIN ST

FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF

528 MAIN ST

524 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

515 MAIN ST

FARMERS STATE BANK

516 WASHINGTON ST

CHEVROLET CO INC

RASMUSSON 

HI YIELD LLC

116 W 6TH ST

RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC

601 MAIN ST

CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY

613 MAIN ST

NELSON FUNERAL HOME INCHI YIELD LLC

123 W 7TH ST

HI YIELD LLC

123 W 8TH ST

705 MAIN ST

ST PATRICK CHURCH

115 W 8TH ST

ST PATRICK CHURCH

804 WASHINGTON ST

KEISER, CAROLINE

KEISER, DOUGLAS B

801 MAIN ST

SCHMITT, THERESA D

SCHMITT, KASEY J

805 MAIN ST

CNC INVESTMENTS L L C

811 MAIN ST

M J KNOX LLC
815 MAIN ST

JUANITA LLC

822 WASHINGTON ST

BECKER, AMY L

BECKER, BRIAN C

904 WASHINGTON ST

HARTON, HELEN C

116 W 9TH ST

RICKARD, CLARK J

RICKARD, TWYLA J

903 MAIN ST

RICKARD, CLARK J

909 MAIN ST

HOVENGA, MICHELLE

HOVENGA, REGGIE S

915 MAIN ST

CHASE, SCOTT A

921 MAIN ST

SHUMAKER, CHARLES A

SHUMAKER, AMANDA L

920 WASHINGTON ST

NEWTON, MARK R

122 W 10TH ST

PITZENBERGER, MARY

112 W 10TH ST

STICKFORT, SUSAN G

STICKFORT, THOMAS E

1003 MAIN ST

CHRISTMAN, JESSICA A

CHRISTMAN, KEVIN J

1009 MAIN ST

WILSON CLASBY, NIKKI J

CLASBY, DANIEL B

1015 MAIN ST

CALVARY BAPTIST, CHURCH OF C

1022 WASHINGTON ST

BUTLER, BETTY J

BUTLER, MICHAEL J

120 W 11TH ST

RUSSELL, MEGHAN D

RUSSELL, BEN J

118 W 11TH ST

COLSCH, JOSHUA

COLSCH, JENNIFER

COLSCH, JONATHAN

1103 MAIN ST

1103 MAIN CO OP INC

1109 MAIN ST

MERSHON RENTALS LLC

1115 MAIN ST

CUNNINGHAM, MICHAEL E

1117 MAIN ST

ANDERSON, JOYCE E1123 MAIN ST

1125 MAIN ST

K3D LLC

109 W 12TH ST

K3D LLC

1124 WASHINGTON ST

BEARDSLEY, BRYAN L

1204 WASHINGTON ST

RASMUSSON, DONALD R

114 W 12TH ST

RASMUSSON,JACK R FAMILY TRUST

RASMUSSON,PATRICIA M

1203 MAIN ST

CHRISTOPHERSON, VALERIE K

CHRISTOPHERSON, DAVID J

1209 MAIN ST

TIGERHAWK RENTALS LLC

1217 MAIN ST

MOSSMAN, OLIVIA

MOSSMAN, JONATHAN

1221 MAIN ST

MEINDERS, KOREY J

MEINDERS, CLAYTON

1220 WASHINGTON ST

WINTERHOF, KIM A

WINTERHOF, GARY L

1304 WASHINGTON ST

LEEPER, JENNIFER R

LEEPER, BRADLY D

1303 MAIN ST

ASCHERL, NANCY L

1309 MAIN ST

TURNER, PATRICIA M

TURNER, JOSEPH W

1315 MAIN ST

TURNER, PATRICIA M

TURNER, JOSEPH W

1321 MAIN ST

PONTIOUS, BIANCA

111 W 14TH ST

PURDY, KENT N

115 W 14TH ST

SCHLICHER, MARY A

1322 WASHINGTON ST

PHILLIPS, ANDREA L

1404 WASHINGTON ST

FUCHS, MIKAYLA

FUCHS, BENJAMIN

1403 MAIN ST

COURTNEY, JAY J

1411 MAIN ST

1409 MAIN ST

1407 MAIN ST

MAIN PROPERTIES LLC

1415 MAIN ST

RICHTER, RENELL S

RICHTER, DOUGLAS A

1421 MAIN ST

WEBB, KAREN J

WEBB, DALE S

115 W 15TH ST

RIDENOUR, KIMIE A

1422 WASHINGTON ST

RIDENOUR, KIMIE A

1504 WASHINGTON ST

NORTHWESTERN BELL TELEPHONE CO

1503 MAIN ST

STINER, EMILY M

STINER, DAVID HENRY

1509 MAIN ST

KOTZ, SUE A
1515 MAIN ST

MORAN, AIDAN

1523 MAIN ST

BLOOMQUIST, KARIN

BLOOMQUIST, MITCHEL

115 W 16TH ST

GILGEN, JAMES D

117 W 16TH ST

WERNIMONT REALTY LLC

1520 WASHINGTON ST

WERNIMONT REALTY LLC

1604 WASHINGTON ST

PROPERTIES L L C

OTTER CREEK

114 W 16TH ST

SWAYNE, JENNIFER

110 W 16TH ST

EVERSON, JULIE

1609 MAIN ST

BUNDY, STEVEN J

1615 MAIN ST

KOTZ, LINDSEY A1621 MAIN ST

MB RENTALS II LLC

1603 MAIN ST

MAKA PROPERTIES LLC

1622 WASHINGTON ST

FAUSER, JANE A

FAUSER, RICHARD D

1702 WASHINGTON ST

HOUG, DUSTIN W

1703 MAIN ST

KOG PROPERTIES LLC

1709 MAIN ST

MORD, SHARON J

MORD, JAN K

1711 MAIN ST

FISHER, MARY C

1715 MAIN ST

FREED RENTALS L L C

1721 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1722 WASHINGTON ST

DT RENTALS LLC

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1907 MAIN ST

SLINKER, GEORGIA M

SLINKER, DARYL R

1901 MAIN ST

VETTER, LEANN M

VETTER, THOMAS J

1915 MAIN ST

KELLY R & J FAM TRUST

1925 MAIN ST

REISETTER, JENNIFER A

REISETTER, MATTHEW T

1929 MAIN ST

CLAYTON, JENNIFER

CLAYTON, JEREMY

1931 MAIN ST

ROBERT, RICHARD L

1935 MAIN ST

BUDKE, PATRICIA L

BUDKE, KENNETH A

115 W 20TH ST

ROBERT, RICHARD L
2004 WASHINGTON ST

HOEL, TERRY D

2003 MAIN ST

DOLLYS RENTALS LLC

2009 MAIN ST

NUSS, JAMES B

2017 MAIN ST

CHRISTOPHERSON, DAVID J

2021 MAIN ST

CBJ HOLDINGS LLC

2022 WASHINGTON ST

KERR, KATHLEEN A

110 W 21ST ST

SOUTHGATE PROPERTIES L C

2109 MAIN ST

REFSHAUGE, BONITA M

2115 MAIN ST

SOUTHGATE PROPERTIES L C

2121 MAIN ST

HICKS, BONNIE K

HAHN, JERRY W

2125 MAIN ST

PURDY, KENT N

2103 MAIN ST

THOMPSON, SANDRA L

117 W 22ND ST

ANDERA, JORDAN D

2203 MAIN ST

JACOBSON, DONALD L

2204 WASHINGTON ST

THOMPSON, JOANNA L

2205 MAIN ST

COULTHARD, VERLA F

COULTHARD, ALVIN E2215 MAIN ST

2217 MAIN ST

SCHWAKE, MARY L

SCHWAKE, JEFFREY A

2221 MAIN ST

RIVERSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC

2301 MAIN ST

RIVERSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC

2303 MAIN ST

CV PROPERTIES II LLC

2309 MAIN ST

EMAAD LLC

2323 MAIN ST

EMAAD LLC

2322 WASHINGTON ST

PARTNERSHIP

IVERSON AND REIGHARD

204 SEERLEY BLVD

Z PROPERTIES LLC

7404 UNIVERSITY AVE

D AND J INVESTMENTS INC

STATE OF IOWA

132

Item 17.

AndreasenL
Line



133

Item 17.



134

Item 17.



135

Item 17.



136

Item 17.



137

Item 17.



138

Item 17.



139

Item 17.



140

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: April 3, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project  
  City Project No.: RC-000-3171 
  Warranty Deed(s) 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is currently in the reconstruction of Cedar Heights Drive from East 
Viking Road to East Greenhill Road including a multilane roundabout at Cedar Heights 
Drive & East Greenhill Road intersection and a single lane roundabout at the Cedar 
Heights Drive & Huntington Road intersection.  
 
The project required partial acquisition for new city ROW from five (5) properties. The City 
has previously closed on the following acquisitions and requires recording with the Black 
Hawk County Recorder’s Office: 
 

Parcel # Owner Address/Parcel ID Acquisition Type 

2 Greenhill Estate Inc. 8913-29-301-001 Fee Title 

3 Lin K. Smith 5117 Cedar Heights Drive Fee Title 

15 Maiers & Hansen Properties, L.C. 4507 Chadwick Road Fee Title 

32 Reorganized Church of Jesus 
Christ of Latter Day Saints 

4616 Cedar Heights Drive Fee Title 

35 SLR Farms, LLC 8913-29-326-005 Fee Title 

 
Attached is a strip map of the entire project where these properties can by identified by 
parcel number. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends that the City 
Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving the warranty deed for 
these property acquisitions. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

141

Item 18.



142

Item 18.



143

Item 18.



144

Item 18.



145

Item 18.



146

Item 18.



147

Item 18.



148

Item 18.



149

Item 18.



150

Item 18.



151

Item 18.



152

Item 18.



153

Item 18.



154

Item 18.



155

Item 18.



156

Item 18.



157

Item 18.



158

Item 18.



159

Item 18.



160

Item 18.



161

Item 18.



162

Item 18.



163

Item 18.



164

Item 18.



165

Item 18.



166

Item 18.



167

Item 18.



168

Item 18.



169

Item 18.



170

Item 18.



171

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: April 3, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
  City Project Number: SA-000-3316 
  Contract Documents 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, 
Payment, and Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with 
Municipal Pipe Tool Co., LLC., for the construction of the 2023 Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project. 
 
This project consists of installing a cured in place liner within existing 8-inch diameter 
sewer lines in selected areas of the City. The total project involves approximately 6,147 
linear feet and 99 sewer service taps. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving and 
executing the contract with Municipal Pipe Tool Co., LLC., for the construction of the 
2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments, feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

172

Item 19.



173

Item 19.



174

Item 19.



175

Item 19.



176

Item 19.



177

Item 19.



178

Item 19.



179

Item 19.



180

Item 19.



181

Item 19.



182

Item 19.



183

Item 19.



184

Item 19.



185

Item 19.



186

Item 19.



187

Item 19.



188

Item 19.



189

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Principal Engineer, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: March 27th, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2023 Street Construction Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3299 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with Peterson 
Contractors, Inc for the construction of the 2023 Street Construction Project.  
 
The Department of Public Works recommends approving and executing the contract 
with Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the construction of the 2023 Street Construction 
Project. This project involves the full removal and replacement of two (2) streets.   
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

190

Item 20.



191

Item 20.



192

Item 20.



193

Item 20.



194

Item 20.



195

Item 20.



196

Item 20.



197

Item 20.



198

Item 20.



199

Item 20.



200

Item 20.



201

Item 20.



202

Item 20.



203

Item 20.



204

Item 20.



205

Item 20.



206

Item 20.



207

Item 20.



208

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: April 3, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates 
  W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
  City Project Number: SU-397-3320 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval is the Professional Services Agreement 
between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & Associates which outlines the scope of 
services and costs for the W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II. 
 
The enclosed agreement with Snyder & Associates provides for concept design services 
and sewer area design services for the future extension of the W. Viking Industrial Park 
southerly to the 76 acres under contract for purchase by the City at the northeast corner 
of Ridgeway Avenue and Union Road. The fees of this agreement are based on hourly 
rates and fixed expenses and shall not to exceed the total amount of $18,000.00.  
 
The project will be initially paid by Economic Development Funds then will be certified as 
TIF debt within the Southwest Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Plan. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates for the W. 
Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II. 
 
If you have any questions or comments, feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer  

209

Item 21.



 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

 
OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 
 

 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 

FAX 319-268-5197 

  
  
  
     
 

 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: SU-397-3320  
 

 
  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Snyder & Associates, 5005 Bowling Street, SW, Suite 
A Cedar Rapids, IA 52404, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay 
Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

 

210

Item 21.



 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 
from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 11 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
 
 
 
 

211

Item 21.



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
 
 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed a fee of eighteen thousand dollars ($18,000). 

 Concept Design Services $6,0000 
 Sewer Area Design Services $12,000 

 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving 
CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other 
projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are similar to 
the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall not be liable for 
any unauthorized reuse of modification of its work product. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

212

Item 21.



(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 
be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 

213

Item 21.



and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 
CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the 
payment of its invoices. 

 
 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District Court, 
Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes 

any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or communications 
heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be changed, modified, or 
amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict between 
this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms and conditions of Exhibit C 
shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, Exhibit C shall control. 

 
 (b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved by 

CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT of 
any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 

such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and CONSULTANT 

and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its exhibits 
limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either party that are 
available to either party under the law. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 
 
By:  By:   
 
 
Printed Name:    Robert M. Green  Printed Name:     Lindsay Beaman      
 
 
Title: __Mayor of Cedar Falls  Title:    Business Unit Leader                           
 
 
Date:  Date: March 17, 2023  

214

Item 21.



Snyder & Associates  W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Project No. 123.0290.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

A-1 

 

    
Exhibit A 

 
W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number: SU-397-3320 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall be completed in 
accordance with generally accepted standards of practice and shall include the services 
and supplies to complete the following: 
 

I. GENERAL 
 

The services generally include the development of an overall concept plan for the 
expansion of the industrial park, including 78 acres south of the existing industrial park 
expansion, as well as approximately 133 acres directly east of the previously identified 
78 acres..  

 
II. SCOPE OF WORK 

 
A. The CONSULTANT shall complete concept designs for the purposes of 

providing the CLIENT with lot and street layout options prior to the preparation 
of preliminary design efforts. 

 
1. Prepare up to three concept designs for the layout of the expanded 

Industrial Park into both the 78-acre and 133-acre areas, showing varied 
lot sizes ranging generally from two (2) to twenty (20) acres and streets to 
compliment the terrain and maximize the efficient use of the expanded lot 
area.  
 

2. Existing terrain and features will be based on available LiDAR and aerial 
imagery. 
 

3. The overall concept to include both areas should include review 
considerations for potential connections to W. Ridgeway Ave, as well as 
connections to the existing W. Viking Industrial Park. 

 
4. Scalable documents of concept designs will be provided electronically. 

 
5. Attend one meeting to discuss concepts, and changes will be incorporated 

into the final concept that will be submitted to the CLIENT.   
 
B. The CONSULTANT shall prepare a preliminary grading and utility layout plan. 

 
1. Existing terrain and features will be based on available LiDAR and aerial 

imagery. 
 

215

Item 21.



Snyder & Associates  W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Project No. 123.0290.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

A-2 

 

2. Preliminary stormwater management study will be conducted to identify site 
needs to aid in preliminary grading. Sanitary sewer routing is to be 
considered during the concept design and further preliminarily detailed to 
accompany the grading plan. 
 

3. Scalable documents of the preliminary design exhibit(s) will be provided 
electronically. 

 
4. One meeting to discuss preliminary design exhibit(s) with changes to be 

incorporated into an exhibit to be submitted to the CLIENT. 
 

C. Additional Services 
 
1. The CLIENT may request Additional Services from the CONSULTANT not 

included in the Scope of Services as outlined. Additional Services may 
include but are not necessarily limited to; topographic survey; preparation 
of acquisition plats; preparation of the preliminary plat; coordination or 
subconsulting efforts for geotechnical analysis; archaeological and cultural 
Resources Survey; traffic impact study; expanding the scope of the project 
or the work to be completed; requesting the development of various 
documents not listed; extending the time to complete a project through no 
fault of the CONSULTANT; or requesting additional work items that 
increase the Engineering Services and corresponding costs.  

 
III. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 

 
A. ENGINEERING SERVICES 

 
1. Compensation for this Scope of Services shall be on an hourly basis in 

accordance with the hourly fees and other direct expenses in effect at the 
time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not to exceed fee 
of Eighteen Thousand  Dollars ($18,000). 

 
IV. ASSIGNABILITY 

 
A. The CONSULTANT shall not assign any interest in this agreement and shall 

not transfer any interest in the same without the prior written consent of the 
CITY. Subconsultants designated as part of this AGREEMENT shall be 
deemed to be approved with this AGREEMENT is executed. 

 
B. Subconsultants are proposed as follows: 

 
None 

 

216

Item 21.



    

Exhibit B 
 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number SU-397-3320 
 

  Original12/13/11 
Revision 01/31/2017 

 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR  

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly authorized to transact business at the 
location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

217

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 

➢ This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
➢ Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
➢ Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 

➢ Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees shall be named as an additional insured on General 
Liability Policies for all classes of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 

218

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), 
indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, 
including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages 
which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents 
working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not limited to, 
damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, 
and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the 
injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor due to 
accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in person or 
property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the Contractor 

219

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent caused by 
the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the Contractor or 
anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or 
otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other 
casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss 
or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out of the work 
performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for 
Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that 
such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the 
right of the Contractor to recover thereunder. 
 
 
Completion Checklist 
 

❑ Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
❑ Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
❑ Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
❑ Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
  

220

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     
$1,000,000
 
 
 
      
             
 
 
 
   
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 

221

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

  

222

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees, are included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing 
operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 2037 07 
04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

223

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

 
 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

224

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

225

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

  

226

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

227

Item 21.



 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

228

Item 21.



Snyder & Associates  W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Project No. 123.0290.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

 

    

Exhibit C 
 

W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number SU-397-3320  
 

  2/9/12 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS 
 

 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

229

Item 21.



Snyder & Associates  W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Project No. 123.0290.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

 

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

230

Item 21.



Snyder & Associates  W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II 
Project No. 123.0290.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-397-3320 

 

 

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

231

Item 21.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

3/17/2023

DONAGHY-KEMPTON INSURORS
PO BOX 3287
DES MOINES IA 50316-0287

Brian Donaghy
515-288-8545 515-288-2422

brian@dki-ins.com

UNITED FIRE GROUP 13021
SNYDAS1 INSURANCE CO OF THE WEST 27847

Snyder & Associates Inc
2727 SW Snyder Blvd
Ankeny IA 50023-8402

79832235

A X 1,000,000
X 100,000

X Contractual Liab 5,000
X XCU Included 1,000,000

2,000,000
X X

Y Y 60376805 10/1/2022 10/1/2023

2,000,000

Deductible 0
A 1,000,000

X
Y Y 60376805 10/1/2022 10/1/2023

A X X 5,000,00060376805 10/1/2022Y 10/1/2023

5,000,000
X 0

B XY WIA506220501 10/1/2022 10/1/2023

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000
A
A

Property
Inland Marine

60376805
60376805

10/1/2022
10/1/2022

10/1/2023
10/1/2023

Business Pers Prop
Leased & Rented

$2,288,000
$100,000

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities
and their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing and completed operations on General Liability per
the attached CG7201 07/17. This coverage shall be primary to the additional insureds, and not contributing with any other insurance or similar protection
available to the Additional Insureds, whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. Governmental Immunities endorsement including 30
days notice of cancellation included. Waiver of Subrogation included on Workers Compensation and General Liability.

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS IA 50613

232

Item 21.



233

Item 21.



������������	�
��� �	�������	�����
�������
	�����������
��������	���	�
���
 �
�������
	 ������������������	������������ !"#�$%���!���&&�#�!'�()!%$��*$��'&)!%$��*$�!&�"�)�#�!'�+�!%�&$&, #���$'&!��$�$'#-
!)!%$��*$��+�!%�&$&, #���������̂5:7L_7̀ ]2DC5:2B1456<5:; L?>;>013I6J15:<1]2B51:D1>2GC77@1;120:584:8;120DaP:>@P623D06TOEUUU]2B51:D1>2GC77@1;120:584:8;120Da?6DD6K.:52>2<D06TNUU=6521M@8K65;1365:BQC>51365<:2>b:0>62DL1/01230F1517650>2<51QC>51;12006OcU3:8DRP56:31213d:;13]2DC513RWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513LVM215DE?1DD11D65I6205:B065DLWC06;:0>BG0:0CD\F12Z1QC>513>2I62D05CB0>62W<511;120\>0Fe6Cf]2B@C3>2<_7D051:; 4:50>1DRI6205:B065DP@:2H10W33>0>62:@]2DC513L4563CB0DLI6;7@1013V715:0>62DI6J15:<1f]2B@C3>2<_7D051:; 4:50>1DRWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513LS12365DRWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513L?1DD656K?1:D13.QC>7;120WC06;:0>BG0:0CD\F12Z1QC>513>2?1:D1W<511;120\>0Fe6CRWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513Lg:2:<15D65?1DD656K451;>D1DRW33>0>62:@]2DC513L.2<>2115DEW5BF>01B0D65GC5J1865Dd60.2<:<13A80F1d:;13]2DC513RW33>0>62:@]2DC513LG0:0165Y6J152;120:@W<12B865GCA3>J>D>626546@>0>B:@GCA3>J>D>62L415;>0D65WC0F65>b:0>62DRW33>0>62:@]2DC513LI62D6@>3:013]2DC5:2B1456<5:; \̂5:7L_7̀ VKKL451;>D1DV715:0>62DV2@8LVM215DE?1DD11D65I6205:B065DWC06;:0>BG0:0CD\F12Z1QC>513>2I62D05CB0>62W<511;120\>0Fe6CRW33>0>62:@]2DC513L.;7@6811]2hC5806W260F15.;7@6811RWC06;:0>B:@@8>2B@C313LW<<51<:01?>;>0D6K]2DC5:2B1 7̂15@6B:0>62̀RWC06;:0>B:@@8>2B@C313LW<<51<:01?>;>0D6K]2DC5:2B1 7̂15756h1B0̀Ri26M@13<16K6BBC5512B1Li26M@13<16K:2j6BBC5512B1kEjB@:>; 65DC>0kA886C5:<120ED15J:20651;7@6811DF:@@260>2>0D1@KB62D0>0C01H26M@13<16K0F12:;13>2DC513C2@1DD:26KK>B156K0F12:;13>2DC513F:D51B1>J13DCBF260>B1K56;0F1:<120ED15J:20651;7@6811RRR_2>20120>62:@K:>@C51063>DB@6D1:@@F:b:53Dl]K86CC2>20120>62:@@8K:>@063>DB@6D1:28F:b:53D1/>D0>2<:00F1>2B170>623:016K86C576@>B8EM1M>@@2603128B6J15:<1C23150F>DI6J15:<1=65; A1B:CD16KDCBFK:>@C51l[6M1J15E0F>D756J>D>62361D260:KK1B06C55><F006B6@@1B0:33>0>62:@751;>C; 651/15B>D16C55><F06KB:2B1@@:0>6265262L5121M:@lj]2DC513I6205:B0k5131K>213K65?>;>013Z:>@56:3I6205:B0C:@?>:A>@>08g6A>@11QC>7;12006>2B@C31D26M51;6J:@E56:3;:>2012:2B1:23D05110B@1:2>2<1QC>7;120@1DD0F:2OEUUU@ADYS\P63>@8]2hC58Z131K>213�����	�	m���	���
�������
	 ���n�
� �
������	m����m�o����m�
��������	�
������
����
�����	��	��
���������� ]2B@C31DB6785><F013;:015>:@6K]2DC5:2B1G15J>B1DVKK>B1E]2BlEM>0F>0D715;>DD>62l ��*$�!"�o

RRRRR
RRR

P@:2H10\:>J156KGCA56<:0>62?>A15:@>b:0>62I623>0>62RRR

60376805

234

Item 21.



������������	
����
����� ������
������	�������
����	����������������������� �! "!�!�#$��%���&�%�'���()*+,-./0+,1,-21/.*3*,+*-+405-6,70/8*.,.4-.,02),3/99/:*-;<�������	����������	�=	�	����>���������%�?�!&�!@?&A�� B�%��(),3/99/:*-;6)5-;,+50,15.,52��>������C=�	��	�D�������������������	�=	�	���� �EFGHIGI�JKLGJFMNONPGQ2���ERSTUVKHU,W694+*/-N��ELGRFGIKJ	HFGHIGI	HXTJM*+0,7956,.:*2)2),3/99/:*-;<YZ/.*9[*-\40[]/0Y70/7,02[.515;,],W7,62,./0*-2,-.,.30/12),+25-.7/*-2/32),*-+40,.̂ ()*+,W694+*/-./,+-/25779[2/Y_/.*9[*-\40[]/0Y70/7,02[.515;,]0,+492*-;30/1 2),4+,/30,5+/-5_9,3/06,2/70/2,627,0+/-+/070/7,02[̂�ELNHIGI�VJG�GPNS�VǸVSVFMQ2���ERSTUVKHU2),95+27505;057)*+.,9,2,.5-.0,7956,._[2),3/99/:*-;<aW694+*/-+R�2)0/4;)H�./-/25779[2/.515;,_[3*0,b,W79/+*/-b9*;)2-*-;b+1/c,0,+492*-;30/1 +46)3*0,b,W79/+*/-b/09*;)2-*-;/0+70*-c9,09,5c5;,2/70,1*+,+:)*9,0,-2,.2/[/4/02,17/050*9[/6647*,._[[/4:*2)7,01*++*/-/32),/:-,0̂Q+,75052,9*1*2/3*-+405-6,5779*,+2/2)*+6/8,05;,5+.,+60*_,.*-
���	�� 			C�	�	�
��	�
������^d� �KHC�eHGIfNFGJRJNgFQ2���ERSTUVKHU,W694+*/-P��VJRJNgFh�TFK�JfNFGJRJNgFi�jiNj*+.,9,2,.5-.0,7956,._[2),3/99/:*-;<iNjk,++2)5-lm3,,29/-;no� �JKLGJFMNONPGp=KJJKeGI�qTVLOGHFQ2���ERSTUVKHU2),3/99/:*-;*+5..,.2/7505;057)ioj/3,W694+*/-X�NONPG�K�JKLGJFM<()*+,W694+*/-./,+-/25779[2/Y70/7,02[.515;,]2/_/00/:,.,r4*71,-2:)*9,525\/_+*2,5-.:)*9,-/2_,*-;4+,.2/7,03/01 /7,052*/-+̂ (),1/+2:,:*9975[3/0Y70/7,02[.515;,]2/5-[/-,7*,6,/3_/00/:,.,r4*71,-24-.,02)*+6/8,05;,*+stlbuuu7,0/66400,-6,̂ (),*-+405-6,533/0.,.4-.,02)*+70/8*+*/-*+,W6,++/8,05-[859*.5-.6/99,62*_9,70/7,02[*-+405-6,v*-694.*-;.,.462*_9,w585*95_9,2/2),*-+40,.b:),2),070*150[b,W6,++b6/-2*-;,-2/0/-5-[/2),0_5+*+̂x� �JKLGJFMNONPG�VǸVSVFMp�SGyNFKJUQ2���ERSTUVKHU2),3/99/:*-;*+5..,.2/7505;057)+idjhioj5-.izj/3,W694+*/-X�NONPG�K�JKLGJFM<()*+,W694+*/-./,+-/25779[2/Y70/7,02[.515;,]0,+492*-;30/1 2),4+,/3,9,852/0+̂ {/:,8,0b5-[*-+405-6,70/8*.,. 3/0+46)Y70/7,02[.515;,]*+,W6,++/8,05-[859*.5-.6/99,62*_9, 70/7,02[*-+405-6,v*-694.*-;.,.462*_9,w585*95_9,2/2),*-+40,.b:),2),070*150[b,W6,++b6/-2*-;,-2/0/-5-[/2),0_5+*+̂=�(),3/99/:*-;6/8,05;,+50,5..,.<�� ��>�����C>�����������������������>�����Y|0/7,02[.515;,]2/70/7,02[/3/2),0+654+,._[2),*-+40,.<N� })*9,*-[/407/++,++*/-n/0�̀ Q0*+*-;/42/3Y[/40:/0c]̂~/8,05;,5779*,+522),0,r4,+2/32),*-+40,.b:),2),0/0-/22),*-+40,.*+9,;599[/_9*;52,.2/75[̂�/02),7407/+,+/32)*+>KSTHFNJM�JKLGJFMNONPG�KyGJNPG/-9[<aW694+*/-X�NONPGFK�JKLGJFM*+.,9,2,.5-.0,7956,._[2),3/99/:*-;<���������� �-694.,+6/7[0*;)2,.152,0*59/3�-+405-6,�,08*6,+�33*6,b�-6̂b:*2)*2+7,01*++*/-̂ �NPG�Kg�d

��

X� NONPGFK�JKLGJFMY|0/7,02[.515;,]2/<i�j|0/7,02[),9._[2),*-+40,.3/0+,08*6*-;b0,75*0b+2/05;,/0+59,5270,1*+,+[/4/:-b0,-2b9,5+,b/7,052,/04+,n
235

Item 21.



�������������	
��
���
�����
�����
�������������������������������
�
�����
���
�
����������� �
�
���!�"�	
��
���������
���������

���
��#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&.23456783729692:45;9<2=8>4?3@A327634@B?C?D6�2E63?D6F2833;D54?>GG84@42G6:6>G6>G9H56>H65?E67?;G 456,;C;42:,;?I;=;4@ 234561DD36D?46 ,;C;4:236?J5J2E63?D6F?>G H6?36D3?>46GG;9J364;2>;>C?K;>D7?@C6>498>G6345;9J2E63?D6L�L �)<&01�&&+�10&F�/%')BM1*B�)*'0),A0)A&0'MB1-1�&�)<&01�&N�
� ��
������ ���?36F�8942G@?>G�2>432=A327634@B?C?D6�2E63?D6����O?LP���Q���R�������SL�����������#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&.23456783729692:45;9�?36F�8942G@?>G�2>432=A327634@B?C?D6�2E63?D6F2833;D54?>GG84@42G6:6>G6>G9H56>H65?E67?;G456,;C;42:,;?I;=;4@234561DD36D?46,;C;4:236?J5J2E63?D6F?>GH6?36D3?>46GG;9J364;2>;>C?K;>D7?@C6>498>G6345;9J2E63?D6L"L �)<&01�&.+&,&�'0)*(� B1'1,(1T(,('M�)<&01�&N�
� ��
������� ��&=6J432>;JB?4?,;?I;=;4@�2E63?D6����O?L UR�������7L���2E63?D61VT2G;=@(>S83@1>GA327634@B?C?D6,;?I;=;4@��%6J4;2>(V�2E63?D69��
�������� ���������O�L&WJ=89;2>9$ ������
����������������O7L&=6J432>;JB?4?X������
����������� ����������������������������

���������������������������
������������������������
���������� ��������
�����
��� ��������Y�
�����������
��
��#Z��[
�� ��R�������������������������������
����������������������Y�
��#IL�	
��
������������O���	 ��������Y�
�����������
��
���������������
������������������ ���
��
��#\����� ��������� �������������
��� ������ � ��������Y�
�� ���������!�
���]�����������������
��
��� �������� ����������Y�
�#\����� ��������� �������������
��� ������ �����

���� ���������!�
�"�]���������������������������

��������������������������
������������
��
���������������
����������
��������
�� � ��������Y�
�����������
��
��#\����� ����������
���������� �������������
��� ������ �����

���� ���������#N�
� ��
������� ��&=6J432>;JB?4?,;?I;=;4@�2E63?D6�����
����������������������
��
��#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&QL �)<&01�&�+A0)B/�'0&�1,,&̂ A&*%&?L (>983;>D1D366C6>4���_������� àb ��c�
�����
����R���c�������
���
�������c�
�����
����c������������
���� ��[
���
���#���_�������������
c�
�����
����R���c�
����������c���
�
������c� ��  �[��� ��������
���d��� ����� 
�#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&���������� P����������
�� �����
�����P���
���e
[���f�����P��#���� ����
�������# A?D6"2:�"
236

Item 21.



������������	
������������������������������ !��"�����������  �#�����"������$����%&'�()�!%���*�����+�����������������,�����#������������������������%����� ��!���,����!��,����,����%*����� ��������- !��.�%�����������,�� ���.����� ������"�����������  "/'�(0������������*����+���������������%��+������%����+��� ������*�#�����%������-!������������+���%������*����$�*���������$*�����$�*�����������������%"!����������"/'1(���,������,� �%��+� ������������-������������������%����.�*,������%���������������������-�������-���%����/'2()���*���������+��������%��!�%!����+� �!���*����,��������3��, ��$��%��!�%!����%%����������������/'4(5�������.���*+�����$������� ����������%�������!���������������������������-���+���+�$��/'6(78��� !��9��!:��7�������!��+�$�:/'�(;�� ����%7!����������:������+� ���������������������*��� ����$��!-������%,������!�%%������*<�� ��!*�%%����!���%%������!*,������,���������+� ���/'=(>����%����������*�����+��%�����������.� *����!�����������������$��������+��+��3��*����!����������<������ ��+�$��/'?(>�$� %������#������/'��(0�+�$��� ��+��%����! ���*�������#�������������-!!����������%����� ����%����%7!����������:/'��(7@����������  �#�����:������$%��+ ���7�����������  :�%��!�%7!�����������:%��,������.���$����#� ����-!�������+���/'��()�!7�����������  :������������������#���������%�������$�������� % �%��%7!����������:/4� �AB	CD�	EFGDH	CIDJD�	K	�DKKLDMLKLHN���5�����������.���������O�.���$�E'PQ�R���L(��� �����7�������!��+�$�:������$����%,������+�$������+�����������-����������������������-!!��/���>�+�������������.���$����  ���-����������������0�+�$���@��+����S�������T��>�+��/����+����,�,�  ��!�� �+������������-��-� �,��P	�HLAULLLFKLJLHPAVLUPWCDU�	6� �AB	CD�	 LXI	PL�UDH	I AY	CDHLAUP �AB	C	I MND�AUPAKLIDH	I 'GCDYFWY(LUPWCDU�	YCA�CDJ���%�  �,��$�#� ��������������@���$������	
��������%P	�HLAU LX�AB	CD�	P �AB	CD�	 DXMAILKNLUZWCNDUIYCAY	CHNIDJD�	KLDMLKLHN&[� ����������������������� !��7-��� !��9��!:��7�������!��+�$�:������$����%������!�����$���$������������������������� ����,��������7��������\��+� ���� ������������]���:%����!7����� ������_̂���\��̀ ������������$��+:,�������-������.����-!������+�����������a���9���+���$�����,����%������������������9�����,����!�������.� .��/�����#� �������� ���,������������"����� ������ _̂���\��̀ ������������$��+"&b� @��.������.���$��������� ���������.����-!����O�.���$�@���c����d�� �+������<��������.���  � ��+�/�����#� ��������������� !�%�7����� ������ _̂���\��̀ ������������$��+:��.����$!����������������-��������  ��*���\����,�� �������,��� �� ��$����� ���%�������������������#�������� �%�  �.�� �- � �+���*,���������� �+�������.�� �- �������+��!*�#����������!�����-����/T��+�����.������%���������  �����*�������,� �����+�����������������������- �/;�����������%�����#� ����� �7����� ������ ,̂���\��̀ ��������� ���$��+:������$��+ ���.����$�����������.���$� ���  �������%���#���������.� .�� ,����������� �� �̂!����  ! +�9��̀ ���������������9���/���������� 5�� �������!��$����+������ �%5��������e��.����f%%���*5��/*,���������+������/ YbgQ2�h�1
237

Item 21.



�������������	

�������� 
���������������������������������  !"����	

�������� 
�������� �#$%�&'()*+����,������������-!..!/��,�01+!234555-!"6!�+!-7��.7!���"�89�"��7�6�9��!-�66����+�!"+"�--�6.�/:�!.�+�!���"����;!9+!-+<�9��!-��=:�<�6.�+!/<�6<+<�>!��.=*�?9"=@��7�.�+=A!:�"�;��11.���BC��!�!+<�:�+!-9"���<+<���7!���BD� �&))&E�#F'$'G)*+����(������������-!..!/��(�H.."���!��7.��I1�������69""��7=+<����9"���+!9""�89��++!�����+9���+<���:��+�;�+�!�!"��-����!-+<�6.���!"J�9�+K4��6.9���;�6+9�..!��!-��"���;�91+!2L55���=7�6�9��!-+���!---"!�/!"MBN�  <�-!..!/��;.��;9�;��������+!*+����O!/�:�"4/��<�..<�:��!��!-+<��9+�����+-!"+<�7!:�/<��+<�����9"��6��11.���!�.=-!"�&%P'Q#FR
F&STFQR�#U#GT�&VTF#GT���W!"�#FTX�P)Q&(R&F�&'QF&%
F&STFQR�#U#GT�&VTF#GT���/�<�:�1���+<�@���+!-@��7�.�+=!"+<�H;;"�;�+�@���+-!"+<���6!:�"�;��BYZ[\]̂_]]̀ab̂ ]Yc_]_YdeZf�� <�-!..!/��;6<��;���������gQT'(T(�TS&FQ$'G�ThP$FTUT'Q)*+��D�#�����.�+�����"�1.�6��7=+<�-!..!/��;i#� A!:�"�;�9���"+<��1"!:���!����--!"���!�.=9�+�.+<�3j5+<��=�-+�"=!9�689�"�!"-!"� +<�!";���k�+�!�!"+<����!-+<�1!.�6=1�"�!�4/<�6<�:�"����".��"B�� <�-!..!/��;1"!:���!���"�������N� *+����E����������-!..!/��E� H�=.�;�..=��6!"1!"�+����+�+=!-/<�6<=!9!/��!"�+<��L51�"6��+!-+<�:!+��;�+!6M�9"��;+<�1!.�6=1�"�!�!�.=�-+<�"����!!+<�"����.�"���9"��6��:��.�7.�+!+<�+��+�+=BO!/�:�"�l�mA!:�"�;�H�!���!+�11.=+!J7!��.=��?9"=K!"J1"!1�"+=����;�K+<�+!669""��7�-!"�=!9�689�"���!"�+<��L51�"6��+!-+<�:!+��;�+!6Mn���l�mA!:�"�;�>�!���!+�11.=+!J1�"�!��.�����:�"+����; ��?9"=K�"����;!9+!-��!--����6!���++��7�-!"�=!9�689�"���!"�+<��L51�"6��+!-+<�:!+��;�+!6MBo� �(($Q$&'#%p')PFT(��q'TF)X�T))TT)&F�&'QF#rQ&F)��PQ&U#Q$r �Q#QP)stT'�ThP$FT($'�&')QFPrQ$&'&F�TFV$rT�GFTTUT'Qs$Qt�&Pup'r%P($'G	S)QFT#U 
#FQ$T)#� H�=1�"�!� !"!";���k�+�!� -!"/<!� =!9�"�1�"-!"���; !1�"�+�!�� /<��=!9����96<1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!�<�:��;"�����/"�+��;���6!�+"�6+!"�;"�����++<�+�96<1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!�7��������������+�!��.���9"��!�=!9"1!.�6=n,�H�=!+<�"1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!�=!9�"�"�89�"��+!�����������+�!��.���9"��9���"+<�6!�+"�6+!"�;"�����+���6"�7����v�"�;"�1<�B�7!:�Bw96<1�"�!�x�y!"!";���k�+�!�x�y��������+�!��.���9"��!�.=/�+<"��1�6++!.��7�.�+=-!"z7!��.=��?9"=z4z1"!1�"+=����;�z!"z1�"�!��.�����:�"+����;��?9"=z/<�6<��=7���19+��+!+<�+1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!���"�6+.=�"����;!9+!-��� {!9"�6+�!"!�����!��n!"��  <��6+�!"!�����!��!-+<!���6+��;!�=!9"7�<�.-n��+<�1�"-!"���6�!-=!9"!�;!��;!1�"�+�!��-!"+<�����+�!��.���9"��BO!/�:�"4+<����9"��6��--!"���+!�96<����+�!��.���9"����� |�.=�11.���+!+<��I+��+1�"��++��7=.�/n�����C�..�!+7�7"!���"+<��+<�+/<�6<=!9�"�"�89�"��7=+<�6!�+"�6+!"�;"�����++!1"!:���-!"�96<����+�!��.���9"��B���������� *�6.9���6!1="�;<+����+�"��.!-*��9"��6�w�":�6��|--�6�4*�6B4/�+<�+�1�"�����!�B 
#GTo&E�D

�����}������p��	���

238

Item 21.



������������ 	
�������������
������������������������
�
����
����������������
�����
�
����������
�����������
�
������������������������  !��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� � ������������$��
�
��
�"�� �
�
��������������
�����������
�������������������
�������
�����������
���
�����$��
����$
����
�����
���%� �������
�������$
������
�
��������������$��#�����������
������
�
������������$�����
����������������������
����������
�
���
���&�'�(���$
����
������
������
�����������
���
�����
$
�
��)��
�������
������
���$��
�������
#����
������
���������������
����������������
��
��������$
�
����

����#����#������
�
���#��
��
���������*�����
������
���� �������� ��
����������� *��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� ��������������
����������� ������������$��
�
��
�"�� �
�$��$�� �������
����������
������������������
�������
�����������
���
�� ���$��
����$
���)��  !��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� ����
�������%� +����,�
�����
��#���
����������-�
�#������
����
��������
���
��������,��������"���.����������$
���#�
������������
�/��*�����#��*����*�������������
�
����
�����.�/����������
���������$��������
������*�����#������&�'��������
���� �����, �������
�����
�"�����#����
������*��������
��
����������*��������������
0��
���������������������������*���������������
�����#
�������
�������
��
����������������#���"���)1� 23345467%897:;<=3>?<63;�5:�6@A8=5=3BA=<%5467:�6C=<%D=>97�8;347DEA:5<=%@ ?%<54=:%� +������� �����
0��
�� �����# ���������#
�� �����
��� ������������������������
0��
����$������
��
�
��
��������������#���������������������
0��
��*�������������
�
����
�������������
��&���'�+����������������
0��
��������-�
��������������
�
����
������������������������#�������
*��
�F�������)�*�$�)(��������.�/�����
0��
��.�/
������
�
����
����������
�����������
�*
�
���� *��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� � ������������$��
�
��
�"�� ��
��#��*�
#���������������������
0��
���
������
�
�������G�����,H����
�
��
����G�
�����������H���
�������
���� �������I��#�����������
�����0�� )J���$��K�L���
�����������������������
�
����
��������������
���������������#
����*����&K�LM���$������$
�����������
�
����
�����
��-�
��*��������������#�������
�����������������������
�
����
������
�����*�*��������������
��������-�
��*����������������#�������$
�����������
�
����
�����)KNL(�����$�����
������������*��-����������
�������������������
���4� ������
��
���������
�����
#��-�
��*����G�
�����������H&�44� ������
��
�����������
��*������������
#
���
�������������������
�������������
#��
�
�������G�����,H)�� 	
�������������
�������������� ��������
�
����
�����������
�������#�������������
�����
�
����������
�������������������������
�
���������������������G*��
��
�"��H�G��������#���H�
�
��������������
�����������
�������������������
�������
����������
���
�����$��
����$
����
�����
���K�L�������
�������$
������
�
��������������$��#�����������
������
�
������������$�����
����������������������
����������
�
���
���&�K�L(���$
����
������
������
�����������
���
�����
$
�
��)���������� M�����������
�����#���
����M�������(�$
���O��
���M��)��
��
����#
��
��) ?%D=16P�N
239

Item 21.



������������ �		
�
��������	���	����� ����������� ����!"�#$"%#���� ���&����'%�%(��)!(�)%%(#�"''#%#��"*+�,��"!�"�,��'�� -.)%��*�/#%(�����+%%�0.�'#*�#�1)��0��0������%�'"2"!�0-/(#+(2"�.�#2�)%�'%�%("%�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� "�#�#�!�)%�&3��)����')+%�4�(�/�/#%(%(�5+(�')*�/(#+("��'#�%�#.)%�'����*'#�%(���!)*"�+�)����&%(�,��'��6�.)�#����#�"�#��)��'78�/�,��9:�;<(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%��)+(,��'����*�"��*#��%�%(��=%��%���2#%%�'.�*"/>"�':�;?&+�,��"!����,#'�'%�%(�,��'��#���@)#��'.�"+��%�"+%��"!���2��%-%(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%��)+(,��'��/#**��%.�.��"'��%("�%("%/(#+(��)"����@)#��'.�%(�+��%�"+%��"!���2��%%����,#'�&���)+(,��'��7A�B#%(�����+%%�%(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%�%(���,��'���-%(�&�**�/#�!"''#%#��"*�=+*)�#���"��*�9:�;<(#�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%(�,��'��'�����%"��*�%�9:�;3C�'#*�#�1)��4��3������%�'"2"!�4&��/(#+(%(�,��'��#��.*#!"%�'%��"�'"2"!��.���"����&%(�"��)2�%#���&*#".#*#%�#�"+��%�"+%��"!���2��%7<(#��=+*)�#��'�����%"��*�%�*#".#*#%�&��'"2"!��%("%%(�,��'��/�)*'(",�#�%(�".���+��&%(�+��%�"+%��"!���2��%>:A;����=�����/"��"�%�)�")%(��#$�'.���)>:D;����(��#+"*��+(�2#+"*+("�!�#�%(����')+%2"'�#�%��%#��"**�.�%(�,��'��>:	;E��"+F"!#�!-�=+��%/(��)��"+F�'��*�*�&��%(��)������&#����+%#��-'�2���%�"%#��-%��%#�!-��%(��).�%#%)%#�� �&�"�%�)�'��#��%�)+%#���&��2 %(�2"�)&"+%)���-"�'%(�����"+F"!�' #�%(���#!#�"*+��%"#���7:�;���&"#*)��%�2"F��)+(#����+%#���-"'1)�%2��%�-%��%������,#+#�!"�%(�,��'��("�"!���'%�2"F������2"**�)�'��%"F��%�2"F�#�%(�)�)"*+�)����&.)�#����-#�+����+%#�� /#%(%(�'#�%�#.)%#�����"*��&���')+%�7:G;H�2���%�"%#��-#��%"**"%#��-���,#+#�!�����"#�����"%#���-�=+��%�)+(����"%#������&��2�'"%%(�,��'��6����2#���#�+����+%#��/#%(%(��"*��&%(����')+%7:I;J��')+%�/(#+(-"&%��'#�%�#.)%#�� ���"*�.���)-(",�.���*".�*�'����*".�*�'��)��'"�"+��%"#���-�"�%��#�!��'#��%�&"���%(��%(#�!���).�%"�+�.���&��%(�,��'��7:K;0C�'#*�#�1)��0��0������%�'"2"!�0"�#�#�!�)%�&%(���*���!*#!��+��&%(�,��'��&��#%��/�"+%����2#��#�����%(����&#%��2�*�������"������*��"+%#�!��#%�.�("*&78�/�,��-%(#��=+*)�#��'�����%"��*�%�9
� <(��=+��%#���+��%"#��'#�5).L�"�"!�"�(�'7��&7>��

� 5)+(#����+%#���-"'1)�%2��%�-%��%������,#+#�!"�%(�,��'��("�"!���'%�2"F������2"**�)�'��%"F��%�2"F�#�%(�)�)"*+�)����&.)�#����-#�+����+%#��/#%(%(�'#�%�#.)%#�����"*��&%(����')+%�7:�;<(#�#��)�"�+�'�����%"��*�%�"��#��)��'����������!"�#$"%#��-&��2/(�2��)(",�"+@)#��'�)+(���')+%�-��"��#�!��'#��%-�"�%��+��%"#���-��%��#�!#�%�-"++�2�"��#�!��+��%"#�#�!�)+(���')+%�7M� �		
�
��������	 NO������GO����	 PQ�
RS�� N����S��
D T����� UK� V�Q�
��	 
 O�����I���S��U
�KW���� ����������� ����!"�#$"%#���� &��2 /(�2 ��)*�"�� �@)#�2��%/(����)"�'�)+(�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� (",�"!���'#�/�#%#�!#�"+��%�"+%��"!���2��%%("%�)+(�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� .�"''�'"�"�"''#%#��"*#��)��'����)���*#+�75)+(�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� #�"�#��)��'��*�/#%(�����+%%���)�*#".#*#%�&��0.�'#*�#�1)��0-0������%�'"2"!�0��0������"*"�'"',��%#�#�! #�1)��0'#��+%*�"�#�#�!�)%�&%(�2"#�%��"�+�-����"%#����)���&�@)#�2��%*�"��'%���)-/(#+(2"�.�#2�)%�'%��)+(����������!"�#$"%#��"�%(�*������&�@)#�2��%78�/�,��-%(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%��)+("''#%#��"*#��)��'9���������� ?�+*)'��+����#!(%�'2"%��#"*�&?��)�"�+�5��,#+��X&&#+�-?�+7-/#%(#%����2#��#��7 Y�I���G�Z:�;X�*�"��*#��%�%(��=%��%���2#%%�'.�*"/>"�':�;B#**��%.�.��"'��%("�%("%/(#+(��)"����@)#��'.�%(�+��%�"+%��"!���2��%%����,#'�&���)+("''#%#��"*#��)��'7
240

Item 21.



������������	
�������������
������������������������
�
����
���������
�
������������������������������������
����������������������
����������� �
��!"� #$$%&%'()*+(,-./$01)()2/.,'.3/,,'.,'45./6%,/,)� 7�������8�9��:��
;��
��8�9�<�������
�����������
�<
�
���
�
�:��������������
����
�����������������������������
�������������������<=��������������
�:���
�
����� ����
���>?�
�
���������������������>@�A7��������������
��������������������������<��������
��������
���!@�AB�������������
������� ��������
�� ������
�
�� �����
���������� <����<���������������8�9��:��
;��
��8�9�����
����B�������!C���D�>@�A?��
�����������������������
�
����
�������������
�������� �������
����<����E���@�AF���D��:���D
�����������
�
����
�����
����
��<�����������:����������
�����������������������
�
����
������
�����<�<��������������
����������
��<�������������:����������D
�����������
�
����
�����!���#$$%&%'()*+(,-./$GH(2%(//.,I#.JK%&/J&,'.L-.M/N'.,O'&H(2)2/$�N&K/O)6/$+(,-./$)� 7�����
��������:
�������D��������������:�:��<������
�������<�������
�����������
�<
�
�����<��
��
�=���������������:���P������������D��
�
�:
�=�����
�����<�
���������������
�������:
������D����
�
�:�����>@�AQ���������
��
���E�@�AQ���������
��
�������������
�:�����<�����E
��������������������:�
�:�����
����������<����������<�����!R������
��������
��������:
�������D�������
�������:�:��<����������������������
����<�������������
�
����
�������������
��!C���D�����
�����������������������
�
����
�����>@�AS�������
�������� �������
����<����E���@�A	
�����<�<��������������
����������
��<�������������:����������D
�����������
�
����
�����!��	
�������������
������������������������
�
����
����������������
�:���
�
����� ����
������
��>?�
�
����������������������<��
��
�=���������������:����������������D��
�
�: 
�=����
�
�:������������
�:�����
������������������
������D
����
�����
�:>@�A?������
�:�����D
�:����
�
�:������������D����������
�:����
�
������������D��������:���������
:�������
�
���
���E�@�AB���D
����
������
�����:
���
�:��D
���!?�
�� ����
������
���D��
�������
���:�
������
���������:���:�
:������������:��
�:
��������D
�
����

�:��������������
�
�:����
��
�:�������<�����
������
����������������
�����������P<��
��
�=���������������:����������������
������������������������D��
�
�:
�=����
�D��D���������
�:��������
������������������
������D
���!
���������� F�����������
:��������
����F�������B�D
���S��
���F��!��
��
�����
��
��! 5)2/T'4�U

7�����V���:��
;��
��V��������������
�
����
�����������
����������������������
���������:�������
��������������������
���������!

���#$$%&%'()*+(,-./$GL&)&/'.�'M/.(6/(&)*#2/(JN'.L-�$%M%,%'( '.5'*%&%J)*L-�$%M%,%'( G5/.6%&,'.#-&K'.%W)&%'(,)� ?�
�
�����������
�������
���������������
����������<����������<���������
�����������:�D���������:�������<�
D
�
������
�
�����<�
D
�
�����
���������
�������
;��
��!7��������:�D���������:�������<�
D
�
������
�
�����<�
D
�
��
���
��������<=��������������
�:��D
�
���>
241

Item 21.



������������	
�
������
��������
������
����������������������
����������
�����

��
���
�����
� ���	!������"����
��#
������
�����
���������������
����
$���
� �������������#�

�
��%��
��������
������
����������������������
�	������ 
 ����
���������	���������
�
$���
� ���
�����������#�

�
����������
����������������������
�&'(������������
��
��������������)*����� ��+���)%)����
��� ����#
)��)�
��������� ���
������# ��+���)������# �������
��������
�����
������
�
�
���#��
���
��%����
��������������!�����)*�������+���)��)����
�������#
)������
�	�������
)��������,�����
�
���
���������-���)&��(.//010234563789:/�237250/41:/ 6378943;:<92=94> �?94@AB@�CDDA<9:>07:7C@:9410237C35EACF3:97GH:77::729�23194;12974( I���
���������#���-���������	��� �����
�
�������#��
�������%���	����������

�
��
����

J���
��#
���
��K���������
�"�������
L��#���%	�
������������
��������#���-��������
�#�

���	�����#��������������#�

�
�����������
��������#���-����� 
���
��������������������
����������������������
�&M����
��������#���-������������������������
�����	����
��
����������� �����	������� 
�����
��������
��������#���-��������
����������#�����������#���#��
��������
�����
���������
��������#���-����������
���
����
�����������+
�������������������
��#���
������
�
����
��K���������
�"�������
L��#���&I�
����N�����#���-�����N����������������
����
�����
�����
�
��
���	�
�������
�������������������
���
�����
�
�&'(O����
��
������
��������
������
�����
�
���������������
��%��
�����	��#����������
�������������
�&������������
��
�����������P*�������+���Q%P����
�������#
Q%��P�
������������
������#��+���Q������#�������
�
��
���#��%��������
���
��
�%�������
�������������
������%
�#��

���#������
���#�
����
�%��������#�����
��
�����#%��������#%��������#����
���
��������
%����%�������	��#�%��������%�
�����%����
��%��
�����
��%����#
���
�������	��#������
�����������!������M��
�������%����
������R(.//010234563789:/AS>@52E::63T89E12.321U:9S>@52E::O����
��
��������P
�����

�Q	�����������������	������
���
��������������
L���#�����(4(�����VS�W6CX66Y?ZC6V.X6XVB[S\����
��
����
��4( P*�������+���Q��P�
������������
������#��+���Q��������%�����������
�����
� 
��]�������
������
�������+�����
����
̂%���������
� 
��]�������
������
���� ������������̂!���_��	������
�
������ ��#�����������
����#
�	������
������
��

��
	�������������#
� 
����
����
��+����
���� 
�������#��������4�� ��
!���R�I�����#�����������
���������#��������#��������
����
��������
�������
�
����
�&L���#����R(4(���
�
�
�&_����
������
������"�
��R����%������������

�
��� 
���
��������������
�������
�����
��������������
	��J	�������� ��������������
�
������ ������������
��� �������
���������������������
%���
��%���������
���������#
&
���������� "�����
�������#��
����
������"�������
M
����
� �̀���
%"��&%	�������
��������& <4=:a2D�R
bcdefghfffijfkfebglfhbmnohdc.(WU:D2552F03=61:>749:/:5:1:/43/9:@54;:/'E1U:D2552F03=p�( ��
q
�
���I##�
#��
r��������
����	
	�����������
�����4( s
�����
��
��
����
��2t:94=:�!'(u���#
����
��2t:94=:.%
��
������#
� 
����
��) �������+���)��)����
�������#
)������
�����
)��������,�����
�
���
���������-���)!���

242

Item 21.



������������ 	
�
����������������
����	
�
������������������ �� �!��"#�$%!�&'#� (&�
#)!��*����
#+)�)#)�#��!�#,,)''&
-������������./!��
�
��0"
��!/10!�)'-)�2��-1
��1&�!&�#-�
�
�1)�"'���)�#�1&�!��"#�$"!�&'#� !&�
#)!���
3
��1
������������4� 5�02"##!6�
0!78#�	
�
�#! ��)��9�#�#!:!�+)�)#)�#��!�#,,)''&
-������������./!��
�
��0"
��!/1&�!&�#-�
�
�1#!
�-!�&��)��8,�)'��#�#!-!�8!�)�#�"
�!/�
�
�0-/)�8;&'!�)!�8')��#�)��8��!<���'#)��/�!� ��"�/)�8;&'!�)!�8!�')��#�)��!��&�)�<'�'
<
�,�)'��#�#!-!�!�#�&!�
�)'-!""�&)�0--!�,)#�&��)��)!�!/#�!,��=����/!''!,)��
�
���>?� 5�02"##! 
�
��
&�6�!/@A�BCDE CCCFGCHCB@ DICE@JK.E�A LMN8OOO)�#��!�#,,)''&
-����%!7�
��/!�P�Q��R�S���G���TGU�VUTUQW�X� ���������YZ���[�QK���TTA\]�̂_�*����
#+)�)#LNO8OOO
̀"� �!��"#9"
''+)�)#LMN8OOO�� ��*����
#+)�)#��!,�
0!7)�#��!�#,,)''&
-/!�#���� !/
''1&�!��"#�"
'';&��1-!�)�"��
�
���'#!/
''1&�!��"#�"
''�1-!�)�)#)
#���)��#���!����#&�)!�=V��� 
̀"� �!��"#9"
''+)�)#��!,�
0!7)�#��!�#,,)''&
-8��02"##!#�*����
#
��La8OOO���"#)0'8/!�1&�!��"#�"
'';&��1-!�)�"��/!�
�-!�1&�!��"#�"
''b-!�)�)#)
# ���)�� #���!����#&�)!�=c,)''!�'-&
-/!�#�
�!��#!/1&�!��"#�"
'';&���1,�)"�
�)�;"��!/#����"#)0'
�!��#=�����"#)0'
&&')��&
�
#'-#!
"�1&�!��"#�"
''1=��')�)#�!/)����
�",)''�!#0���"�0-#�
�!��#!/#�)����"#)0'=c�
-8!�,)'')/�d�)��0-'
,8&
-
''!�
�-&
�#!/
�-���"#)0'
�!��#=e&!��!#)"!/!��&
-��#!/
���"#)0'
�!��#8-!���
''&�!�&#'-�)�0�����/!�#�&
�#!/#����"#)0'
�!��#,&
)�=�����f��
'*����
#+)�)#
&&')��&
�
#'-#!
"�!/-!��1'!"
#)!��1!,��0-!���#�#!-!�!�#�&!�
�)'-!""�&)�0--!�,)#�#�&��)��)!�!/#�!,��=1+!"
#)!�1�
��&��)��)�7!'7)��#��
�!�"!��"#)��'!#�8!�&��)��,�!�"!��"#)!�)�)�#���&#�!�'-0-
�#�#8�!
�,
-8,
#�,
-!��)��#$!/$,
-!/
�
)'�!
�=���.������Q�GUSUQ_�gĈ_[��̂��hZ��Z��i��Qj��f��
'*����
#+)�)#
&&')��&
�
#'-#!
"�!/-!��&�!2"#�
,
-/�!� &��)��!,��0-!���#�#!-!�=
���������� k�"'���"!&-�)��#��
#�)
'!/k����
�"5�7)"�(//)"8k�"=8,)#�)#�&��)��)!�= Z������g��

.������Q�GUSUQ_�gĈ_[��̂��hZ��G���QU�̂j
���c)#���&"#�#!#�)����
�"
//!���#!
��)#)!�
')������
//!���"!7�
�0-)#��6#��!�����!/@A�BCDECCFP�DC@.ECE@JKAR
0!78#�/!''!,)��)�
���>���!�#,,)''&
-!�0�
'/!/#�
��)#)!�
')�����)�#�
�!��#!/)����
�">�� 9d�)��0-#�"!�#�
"#!�
����#lV�*7
)'
0'����#�
&&')"
0'+)�)#�!/k����
�"��!,�)�#�	"'
�
#)!��lc�)"�7�)�'��=��)���!����#��
''�!#)�"�
�#�
&&')"
0'+)�)#�!/k����
�"��!,�)�#�	"'
�
#)!��=���5�02"##!6�!/@A�BCDE CCCFGCHCB@DICE@JK.E�A8
LN8OOO1!""����"1')�)#
��
LaO8OOO1
����
#1')�)#)�#��!�#,,)''&
-������������./!��
�
��0"
��!/1&�!&�#-�
�
�1"!7��������������RYm�T[̂Q��WZ��]��QWR�S�����������=I��Qn�][�]�_�_�gQnU_m�T[̂Q��WZ��]��QWR�S�����������o�[��U�nQ�̂��[QWQ���g�̂��̂�_pn�̂p�n���]�U� Qn�GUSUQ�gGU�VUTUQW ��Qn�.������Q� GUSUQg�����n��������o�̂� p�������̂Q���U_���QU�̂ Û S�qÛ�]�WS�̂Q_[̂���QnU_���������

243

Item 21.



�������������	
����������������� ���������� ����������� !"#$ %%% &���
''(�&)*+*�!(,!"-%% %%%&!..'.!�&)*+*�*/�0+�/�11*))2!3
(,'�4567896�:�876;�<=>4?@8A?�4A>74B�4567896'.!',)//���0(
+�'��C8� D(/
',/EF�G)!*+/+!,�'&/
*�/&�'�
.0�E�'H� I'/�(/�'�'.!(*J!�*�(/+!K*(.�)!*+/�'�'*(.*(.&/
*�/&LM,
��*�)NO
'��)*.!�*�(��2!3,!+!./�(3�
'�0!)�!22)*/�()3���0!+�
(���,!+!./*(P�//��"$%%LQ0*/,,
��*�)!22)*/��!)),!+!./��!
/��&2'�2'�3,!+!.&!/�0'/
)���!(3�(&���
''(�&'.!',)//���0(
+�'��2'/�(/�'�'.!(*J!�*�(/10�/
/�!*(,!+!./��!
/���0!�&���
''(�&LR+!32!3!(32!'��'!))���0,,
��*�)!+�
(�������/��)+(���!(3�)!*+ �'&/
*�&!(,
2�((��*�*�!�*�(���0!��*�(�!K( 3�
/0!))2'�+2�)3'*+�
'/
/��'/
�02!'����0,,
��*�)!+�
(�!/0!/�(2!*,�3
/LS/'/2��/�0*/��T'!.&S..'.!�&*/�0+!P*+
+ !+�
(�11*))2!3��'!))��T',&���
''(�/&,
'*(.�(2�)*�32'*�,L�47>U6V<7V4=6=4W>UX=�876;�<=>4?@8A?�4A>74BY74V67>@Z8[896�4567896;4<77X9U>8A??<>@>4?6W6A?6A?=\U6A\6U856V8X?>U6�X[X>4W�X8FXBX>@47>U6�997698>6�X[X>W4768HUH4567896;8A?\6876978A>6??X=H76>X4AXA[8]XA9V8@[6A>=<A?67>UX=H4567896����	
����������������� ���������� ����������� �0+�/�11*))2!3��'2̂'�2'�3,!+!._
(,'�4567896�:�B6H>74AXHZ8>8�X8FXBX>@�4567896��')�//��̂)��'�(*�,!�!_*/"$% %%%1*�0�
�'.!',���0(
+�'��̂���
''(�/_Làbcdefdghbeiiajbdklmafajklldkndldcobefpdcdef̀��Q0��))�1*(.��(,*�*�(/!'!+(,,C�� qA4\B6?964W�HH<776AH68� G�(,*�*�(��;D�+/8�!(,FL!',)�,!(,'2)!�,�3�0��))�1*(.Cr�sZ<>X6=�A�U6�56A>�W�HH<776AH6;�WW6A=6;�B8X[ �7�<X>r8st�
+
/�/��*��0!�1!'(��*�*,!//��(!/2'!��*�!�)��!(&���
''(�&�'!(���(/10*�0+!3'/
)�*(!�)!*+Lu(�1),.��!(&���
''(�&�33�
'!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3/0!))(��*(*�/)���(/�*�
�K(�1),.���0(!+,*(/
',
()//!(���*�'���0(!+,*(/
',0!/'�*T,/
�0(��*��'�+�0!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3LQ��0P�(�2�//*�) (��*�/0�
),*(�)
,CX� v�1 10(!(,10'�0&���
''(�&���K2)!�EXX� Q0(!+/!(,!,,'///��!(3*(�
',2'/�(/!(,1*�(/// !(,XXX�Q0(!�
'!(,)��!�*�(��!(3*(�
'3�',!+!.!'*/*(.�
����0&���
''(�&�'���(/L
���������� D(�)
,/��23'*.0�,+!�'*!)��D(/
'!(�	'T*�/O��*� D(�L 1*�0*�/2'+*//*�(L Y896��4W�w

rFsD�!�)!*+*/+!,�'&/
*�&*/�'�
.0�!.!*(/�!(3*(/
', 3�
+
/�CX� D++,*!�)3'��',�0/2�*�*�/���0�)!*+�'&/
*�&!(,�0,!�'�*T,E!(,XX� x��*�3
/!//��(!/2'!��*�!�)Lt�
+
/�/��*��0!�1'�*T1'*��((��*����0�)!*+ �'&/
*�&!//��(!/2'!��*�!�)Lu(�1),.��!�)!*+ �'&/
*�&�33�
'!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3/0!))(��*(*�/)���(/�*�
�K(�1),.���0(!+,*(/
',
()//!(���*�'���0(!+,*(/
',0!/'�*T,/
�0(��*��'�+ �0!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3L�� R0'y748?�47[ �8[6?�A=<76?*/!,,,*(������� ���z{� ����������Z ���0*/(,�'/+(� G�(,*�*�(���>U67�A=<78AH6F��|H6==�A=<78AH6r�s�r8s*/'2)!�,�3�0��))�1*(.Cr8sS(3���0��0'*(/
'!(� 10�0'2'*+!'3 P�// ��(�*(.(��'�(!(3��0'�!/*/ �0!�*/!T!*)!�)��!(*(/
',/�))3�3'!/�(���1('/0*2�33�
��+�'�0!($%2'�(����0T��*(. /���K !(,(��1*�0/�!(,*(.!(3��0')!(.
!.*(!(3��0'2�)*�3LQ0*/2'�T*/*�(,�/(��!22)3��!2�)*�31'*��(��!22)3/2�*�*�!))3*(P�//���0*/2�)*�3L
244

Item 21.



������������	
������������������������������������ !"#$"%!&##'#%!()) **#%)#+(��#%$#+�,-". �*/ "!�)�01���2�
����3�3����41���514�����67�1���81�4�9��7��:����7����
�7�7���2:3����1����;�, %!-*<=*�>#*!<�-.-?#��'#*-?#��21��:�1��:4�9�@:�1����7�����3��
���A����,-%B#!C-"'#*(�/ D*�?-!"�%E����3���2���
����:3��2��5�2
�3������4���27��4�������F����G�:�14��7�25���4��5�H�����I1�2���5������4���1���7��5�4�4�����::17��� G2��������������219�����7������47����5��G221��21�G�
���9���1�����:����:����
�
��7��4�������F����9J21���HK9�J21�7��1:�4KAE����3��
�4���
��
���21
�3���������4�47������������:����:�9�@�:1���G221G�����
�JG���2��I1�2K�J7�7���2��5���K::1�4��
�J7��4��������3����4�����I1�2K����4��4:55�����A���L"D#*-,"M-!"�%N����3�4����
�4�3�����O���9�
�:
�1��7�3���5��:3��������
����������7��5�15 G�:5�4����:��3��1�����
�7��:27�������
�4������4����������
����4�P�5��N�41���4
�����
�Q�:�������4921�7��:2�����1�5���:���27�3����
�4���������:3�������
�����:��3�������
���3�4��A�R�S%"%!#%!"�%-,T-", *#!��"$),�$#U,,V-M-*W$X�4���1�������:��21���7��4�������4�4��@�4����
�F���49��211������������24
1���������4:�4����41:

�F���4���
���:�7��������21�7��:29�����������2:3�����1�����
�4�3�����O���G�:�14��41:
����1��AY��3��9�
�47�3�4�� ��4������:�1����
��:���:����������7��5�15 ��@��:�4�1����
��:��:����������Z�������A�[�	
��������:������4�������������������'#*-?#�\=*�W )!]#)-,,̂ _>#%$#N��3����� 7̀��1:���:���̀921514�-� a������
���������������44��47��:��:�G���� 7̀��1:���:���̀A	�
��@����744�G��9���:�4
1����:�1��
�9�
������
����
� 7̀��1:���:���̀�H7��:�����4��5���� 7̀��1:���:����@7��4�̀AD�	�H�������4��G��4��74�5���5�F� 7̀��1:���:����@7��4�̀A	
�4��������:���4��
���5��4���41���:�A)� N���81�4���97��5��14�81�4���211������
��41:
��5�4�45�2G����4��G�2��81�����G1���25���������������
�4��41���:��21�:���59��:�1����21�GH4�����:��4A01���4���4514�G�4�����AW�O��5��14���47�:����G�����
������5���� 7�3����
��44A01514�4���14�4�����94���4����5�����44:���������
�����5��������81�4����3�4�������
�:���5A01514���
�4���
��bc��24�����1���81�4�A#� �7��������
14���
���3�4��������4�����5������2:���5A�� d44�4�1417�1���81�4�9���
�����:�5������2���
�4�����4���27��4�������F�����
�:
5�2G����G���21G�:�14���44��
�:
�
�4��41���:��77���4A
���������� N�:�1��4:72���
���5��������N�41���:�a��3�:�4e���:�9N�:A9���
��47��5�44��A =-?#�����R
���L"."!#W]-",*�-W��%!*-)! -,L"-D","!<-� f������O���:��3�g��G����2:3�����7�3����G2]-",*�-W=*�!#)!"'#L"-D","!<��'#*-?#T�*. ��� ��R�����
5���515 ��5��4�hi9ccc9ccc7��::1����:�����hb9ccc9ccc������������������5��514�G���7��:����
��������1��������27�I�:�AD�)� j��
�71�74�4��
�(!&#*k%$ *-%)#:�������]-",*�-W=*�!#)!"'#L"-D","!<��'#*-?#T�*. �����R��219�
���5����41���9����G����5���G��
���4�������:����:��A
	
��������:������4����77��:�G����2�:3������������G2���4���
��������������J��41���:����:�̀���
��̂ Tklkmk(l/ 4�:�����
�4����4�5����d�2�5���5�����
�e�
��N�41���:�:�������]-",*�-W=*�!#)!"'#L"-D","!<��'#*-?#T�*. �����R�������4�
�7��5�:2��
�:3�������
�:
�57���41����
��:����G1���������4:�����2:3������������G2�
����������J��41���:����:�K����1���A

245

Item 21.



������������	
���������
������������������������� ��!�"�#�$�%&�!'(�)�*�+�,&�����&(!&%� �(-�&�.�#�/����$�!'0)�*�+1��� ��!�&�,�'!�& %��(%��./�%0*2+3!�$%���4(�5*6+7�(&�(�!��!(!-�8���!��-�!,�%�-���!�%%�,�%/(-�!'5�%*9+3�%���-��(!�!'5�:-� �/�%,�-#4�#�-��,�#(�#(4�('%�,,4�#�-��$��'#���,,�#(!;8<<<��,$#�-#(%�!��&�,�'!�&/�%#�'#$(.�,�=>�?���@�AB�&��.�!C�%.D�,&�����&(!&%� �(-�&$��#�#�/����$�!'0@� AB�&��.�!C�%.D��(!, #.,�-(��!C�%.8,�-E!�,,�%&�,�(,�,�,�(�!�&�.( �%,�!=F#�,�!-��&�,��!�(�(!'��,#8��!�(��!C�%.8,#�-E8/%�'#��%&�(�#�#(�%�,���,/%��,�-# #.,�-(��!C�%.8,�-E!�,,�%&�,�(,�=��?���G�A?!,�%�&-�!�%(-�D9��,&�����&(!&%� �(-�&$��#�#�/����$�!'09� �!.�(,���!��%��-�!,�('%����!�5H�?���G�A?!,�%�&I�!�%(-�D)�*�+�,&�����&J�F#�/����$�!'&�/�!����!,(%�(&&�&/�%�#�,�!&�%,���!��!�.0�@�A1��-�%�!�-&(�("��(!,�!/�%�(���!8/(-�,�% %�'%(�,,��%�&(,�%�!8-%�(��&�%�,�&�!8�%�%(!,�����&���%/%�� -�� ���%,�/�$(%�8�!-��&�!',.,���,(!&(  ��-(���!,,�/�$(%�8#(%&�%/��  .&�,E,8IKL7M�38�( �&%�4�,8-���,8&(�(  %�-�,,�!' &�4�-�, �%(!.��#�%��&�( $#�-# (%��,�& $��# ���-�%�!�-(��. -�!�%����&���� ��!�=�N�"O%�&�-�%�-(��"��(!,($��#&%($(��%%���4(�/%�� �#��(%E���/".��% %�&�-�"�(,�&�!�#�&���%��!(���!�..���%(!.%�'��(��%.�%'�4�%!��!�(�('�!-.�#(�02� F#��,��%-�!,�� ���! �/".��% %�&�-�"#(,-(�,�&�%$���-(�,�(-��(��%(���'�&"��&��.�!C�%."�%" %� �%�.&(�('�"5(!&6�3�-#&���%��!(���! %����%�,.����%�-�4�% �,,�,,��!�%-�!�%���/".��% %�&�-�"/%�� (!.&�,�%�����%8 �%-#(,�%�%�,�%8��%� (�%�%%� �(-� ".��% %�&�-�"8����!�.�/".��% %�&�-�"�,�!/��/�%�,��%-�!,�� ���!8�%�,#(P(%&��,(,(%�,����/0*�+�!�%%�%�%���,,��! �.(!�!,�%�&�!�#�&�,�'!8�(!�/(-��%�!'8 %�-�,,�!'8�(����!'8,��%('�8�%�%(!, �%�(���!�/".��% %�&�-�"5�%*�+�-��(��%(���'�&�!��!���!(�8�(��-���,�%$%�!'/��(���%(���! �%-�!�(��!(���! �/".��% %�&�-�"�.,����!���#�%�#(!.��=�Q�"O%�&�-�%�-(���: �!,�"��(!,%�(,�!(���(!&!�-�,,(%.�: �!,�,/�%02� F��� #�!�8%(&��(!&����4�,��!-����!�-(���!(!& %�!��&(&4�%��,���!�,8�!-��&�!',�(���!�%.8�!4��� �,(!& �,�('�=6�F%(!, �%��!'%�-(���& %�&�-�,/%��(!. �%-#(,�%8&�,�%�����%�%�,�%8����-(���!,&�,�'!(��&�..��=9� 7���!�%(���! (�&��.��%�� ��.��,/�%�4�%����8(,$���(,%���!�%(���! (�&��(&&����!(��� ��.��,�%�!&� �!&�!�-�!�%(-��%,.��#�%�=
���������� ?!-��&�,-� .%�'#��&�(��%�(��/?!,�%(!-�3�%4�-�,M//�-�8?!-=8$��#��, �%��,,��!= R2ST�@U)�@

V�F%(!, �%�(���!(!&(--����&(���!�: �!,��!-�%%�&�..��%�� ��.��,=T� 7�!�(��: �!,��!-�%%�&/�%��� �%(%.��-(���!,�,�&��,��%�%�-(���& %�&�-�,=)� 1: �!,��!-�%%�&�� %� �%�.&�, �,��/%�-(���& %�&�-�,8�!-��&�!' (-E('�!'�#(�-(!!����%��,�&=S�F%(!, �%�(���!�: �!,�,�!-�%%�&��%� �(-�%�-(���& %�&�-�,=W�7� (�%�!'8%�&�,�%�����!' �%%� �(-�!'-�4�%�& %�-(���&  %�&�-�,$��#��E� %�&�-�,�%,��,������,8!�����:-��&.��%�%�'�!(�-�,��/�(!�/(-��%�!'8 %�-�,,�!'8(-���,����!(!&X�%&�,�%������!=F#�,��: �!,�,��,����!-�%%�&(,(%�,����/(" %�&�-�%�-(��"=�Y�AZ%����! I�!�%(-�D��(!,($%����!-�!�%(-��%$%����! ('%����!��#(�%����%�,.�����(E� ( �%,�!�%�%'(!�P(���!(!(&&����!(��!,�%�&�!�#�,I�4�%('�O(%�8 %�4�&�&�#�-�!�%(-��%('%����!�02� ?,-�%%�!��.�!�//�-��%��-���!'�//�-��4�&�%�!'�#���%��/�#�, ���-.5(!&6�Z(,�:�-���& %��%��0*�+F#�A��&��.�!C�%.D�%A %� �%�.&(�('�D5�%*�+F#��//�!,��#(�-(�,�&�#�A �%,�!(�(!&(&4�%��,�!'�!C�%.D8/�%$#�-#�#�(&&����!(��!,�%�&,��E,-�4�%('��!&�%�#�,-�4�%('� (%�=
246

Item 21.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

37885

09/24/22DPR5002599

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

Leslie Babcock

USA

A 30 Day Notice of Cancellation applies in accordance with the policy provisions.
City Project Number SU-397-3320
RE: W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II, Cedar Falls, Iowa

09/24/23

220 Clay Street

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

1-800-300-0325

Ankeny, IA 50023

lbabcock@holmesmurphy.com

P.O. Box 1159
2727 Southwest Snyder Blvd

Snyder & Associates, Inc.

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Claims Made

Professional Liability

Aggregate

Per Claim

Holmes Murphy & Associates - CR

XL SPECIALTY INS CO

MTrotterCR

4,000,000

2,000,000

68099388

68099388

03/17/2023

City of Cedar Falls

A

247

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

 

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

  Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: April 3, 2023  

 SUBJECT: Hidden Pines Subdivision (PP21-006) 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approved Preliminary Plat for Hidden Pines 
 

PETITIONERS: 
 

Stephen Clabby, property owner; Kyle Larson, developer; Fehr Graham, 
Project Engineers  
 

LOCATION: 
 
 

PROJECT #: 
 

South of Greenhill Road, East of Cedar Heights Road and abutting the 
eastern City Limits 
 
PP21-006 Preliminary Plat for Hidden Pines 

 
PROPOSAL  
The applicant submitted a preliminary plat 
application to subdivide two lots into 43 
residential lots, six tracts, and one outlot 
within two phases. 
 
The property is located south of Greenhill 
Road and Sager Ave, east of Cedar 
Heights Drive, and north of the Luke 
Road dead end, and west of the Waterloo 
city limits.  
 
BACKGROUND:  
In 1982, the property owner proposed 
Heartland Hills Phase 3 subdivision as 
shown on the next page.  Phases 1 and 2 
were developed within the City of 
Waterloo and the property owner wished 
to continue the development with all the 

248

Item 22.



streets connecting to Waterloo.  
The main concern with the proposal 
was that there was no street 
connection to any Cedar Falls 
streets or surrounding properties.  
 
In 1999, the City reviewed a minor 
plat for the property to divide the 
property into two lots.  During the 
review, the City of Cedar Falls and 
the City of Waterloo were 
concerned with the southern parcel 
because it was cut off from any 
Cedar Falls services.  The minor 
plat was never approved.    
 
The property owner returned with 
Heartland Hills Phase 3 in 2001 and 
again in 2014 with similar 
subdivision design as the first 
review.  Each time, the property 
owner provided street connections 
to each of the Waterloo streets but 
did not propose a street connection 
to Cedar Falls.  The City was 
consistent in their review of these 
proposals, noting that street 
connections would be necessary in order for the City to provide services to the lots.    
 
In past proposals, the property owner designed the subdivision to have the sewer 
extended from the City of Waterloo.  In 2001, Waterloo determined that they did not 
have the sewer capacity in that part of town to service the subdivision.  When Luke 
Street was developed in Huntington Ridge Second Addition in 2005, the sewer 
connection was not designed in a way that could be extended to the subject property.  
To resolve this issue with the current submittal, the applicant proposes to extend the 
sanitary sewer from Huntington Road through an easement on the vacant property to 
the south.  (Easement reviewed in a separate agenda item.) 
   
ANALYSIS 
Coordination between Jurisdictions 
The proposed plat indicates that the streets will connect to streets in Waterloo and 
stormwater overflow will drain to Waterloo storm sewers. The applicant provided a letter 
from the City of Waterloo that Waterloo was acceptable of the utility and street 
connections (See attached).  Waterloo has no objections to the development as 
presented. 
 
Lot Configurations:   
The applicant proposes 43 lots, six tracts, and one outlot.  Tracts F and C are intended 
for stormwater detention and the remaining four tracts are for street rights-of-way.  The 

249

Item 22.



outlot is proposed to be combined with the residential property to the east.  
 
The subdivision is within the R-2 Zoning District.  The subdivision consists of lots that 
range from 7,244-19,834 square feet.  The applicant also proposes mostly single family 
lots with a few lots large enough to contain duplexes as the market allows/demands.   
 
Each lot is at least 60 feet wide as measured from the front setback for a single-family 
residence and 70 feet wide for a duplex.  Minimum principal building setbacks within the 
R-2 Zoning District are as follows: 25-foot front yard, 30-foot rear yard, and a side yard 
of 10% of the lot width. All 43 of the proposed buildable lots meet these standards.  As 
required by the subdivision code, the corner lots are at least 80 feet wide measured at 
the front setback line.  All corner lots meets this requirement.    
 
Phasing of Development and Critical Connections: 
Per the recent amendment to the subdivision code, the applicant is required to submit a 
phasing plan that shows the order of development with an emphasis on ensuring the 
timely connection of streets and other infrastructure within the development.  The 
phasing plan shall ensure that critical streets routes are completed first.  
 

 
 
The applicant proposes to develop Hidden Pines in two phases.  The critical street route 
is continuing Luke Street north to connect with Sager Avenue.  Sager Avenue will be 
extended to the west property boundary to facilitate future development.  The 
stormwater detention facilities are also part of the of the critical infrastructure of the 
subdivision and are needed to serve all the lots proposed in Phase 1.  Phase 1 includes 
26 lots, both stormwater detention basins, and construction of Luke Street to Sager Ave 
and extending Sager Ave. to the west property boundary.  Small stubs of Mark and 

250

Item 22.



Matthew Streets will be constructed in Phase 1 coinciding with the included corner lots.  
Phase 2 includes lots facing Mark Drive and Matthew Drive for a total of 17 lots and the 
small stub for Charlie Street, which will provide a connection to the vacant property to 
the south so that it can be developed in the future. This street stub aligns with the 
sanitary sewer that will be extended through the undeveloped property to the south. The 
applicant plans to start construction of the infrastructure in the spring for Phase 1 and by 
the end of the summer, start of Phase 2, depending on the market for new lots.   
 
In the second phase, Matthew and Mark Drives will connect to streets with the same 
name in Waterloo. The City of Waterloo reviewed the connections and overall proposal 
and have no objections to the connections.   
 
Traffic Calming: 
The applicant also was asked to provide traffic calming elements to their design along 
Luke Street.  To slow down traffic the applicant proposes reducing the street width from 
31 feet to 26 feet along Luke Street at the intersections with Mark and Matthew Drives.    
 
Stormwater Management: 
The applicant proposes two tracts to be used for stormwater management areas:  The 
existing pond in Tract F, and Tract C.  Both stormwater facilities are needed for the 
development of phase 1.  The stormwater from each lot will be connected to one of the 
stormwater basins to maintain the existing two-year storm event stormwater flow of the 
property in a surface drain/to pipes connected to the basins.  The existing pond is 
proposed to overflow to the basin in Tract C for the 100-year stormwater event.  The 
overflow from Tract C stormwater basin will connect to the City of Waterloo’s existing 
inlet east of the site on Matthew Drive.   
 
According to the draft deed of dedication, the property owner will deed the stormwater 
management areas to the homeowners’ association to maintain as well as dedicate 
easements to the City.  The City Engineer’s office has reviewed the revised stormwater 
report and finds it acceptable.   
 
Sanitary Sewer: 
Sanitary sewer is available upon extension through an easement across the 
undeveloped property to the south.  Staff reviewed the easement prior to the applicant 
obtaining signatures.  The sewer will align with the proposed Charlie Street, which will 
provide an opportunity for development of the property to the south.  Preliminary 
concept drawings of the sewer extension have been submitted for Engineering Division 
review.  The applicant has demonstrated that the sewer extension is feasible. The off-
site easement has been submitted as a separate agenda item for review.   
 
Wetlands: 
The environmental report shows that there are wetlands on the property. The wetlands 
are delineated on the plat.  The applicant reached out to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE). They determined that the wetlands were not jurisdictional 
wetlands and do not require any additional review from USACE.   
 
Under Section 20-6(d), the City requires that all wetlands, jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional wetlands to be mitigated or be left as is. The applicant proposes to mitigate 

251

Item 22.



the wetlands to a 0.4 to 1 ratio.  The onsite mitigation will include planting wetland 
species around the northern detention pond.  The additional plantings will also increase 
the water quality of the detention pond.  The mitigation plan must be included in the 
construction drawings for staff review prior to planting. (condition added) 
 
Parks and Trails: 
The Comprehensive Plan includes an analysis regarding the community needs for 
parkland including geographic distribution.  The analysis is designed to be general to 
provide flexibility and encourage creative design in providing park space.  The planning 
standard is to have residents within a fourth to one half mile from a park.  The applicant 
showed that Hidden Pines is within a half mile from Miriam’s Park in Waterloo.  The 
applicant proposes part of the Tract F to be used as open space for the homeowner’s 
association to determine the best use of the space.   
 
Process:  
Approval of a preliminary plat will allow the developer to proceed with the construction 
and installation of all required public infrastructure such as streets, sewers, and other 
utilities for the Phase 1 of Hidden Pines.  Final platting must follow the phasing plan as 
attached to the intent as feasible. No lot sales or new home construction can begin until 
a final plat is approved by the City Council. A final plat cannot be approved until 
infrastructure construction plans (streets, utilities, grading, etc.) are approved by the City 
Engineering Division and the infrastructure built and accepted by the City or a 
performance bond established. The proposed off-stie sewer easement has been 
reviewed by the City Attorney and is reviewed as a separate agenda item.   
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the preliminary plat for the Hidden Pines 
Development. Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in 
accordance with the service policies of CFU.  The developer is responsible for the 
construction of a properly sized water system from the existing 12” water mains at the 
north end of Luke St and at the northwest corner of Greenhill Road and Greenhill Circle.  
Included in the installation are valves, fire hydrants, and water service stubs for the new 
lots.  Water main sizing and fire hydrant and valve placement locations will need to be 
modified.  This will be done as a part of the construction plan review.  The developer will 
need to make refundable investments for the installation of the electric and gas utilities 
to and throughout the addition.  For a ten-year period after the installation, CFU will 
refund a portion of the refundable investments based upon the number of new service 
connections to the electric and gas distribution systems.  There is no interest paid on 
the refundable investments and the total refunds will not exceed the original investment 
amounts.  
 
Neighbor Notice:  
A courtesy notice to nearby property owners was mailed on December 7, 2022.  The 
City received three written comments (see attached).  Oral comments at the meeting 
are summarized in the meeting minutes on the next page. 
 
 
 
 

252

Item 22.



Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting: 
The Planning and Zoning Commission requested additional information about the traffic 
analysis, historical information about the area (what happened with the wetlands, filling, 
etc.), and further explanation of the stormwater management proposed.   
 
With regard to the traffic analysis and stormwater management, it is our understanding 
that the applicant’s engineer will be prepared to address these issues in more detail at 
the meeting.  City Engineering staff attended the meeting to answer any questions 
regarding their review of the traffic analysis and stormwater management.  
 
Regarding history of the site, the background section in the report above provides a 
history of past efforts to develop the site.  The applicant provided additional information 
on the ground disturbance conducted on the property in the past. It is in the applicant’s 
best interest to know the existing conditions of the site, so they can prepare accurate 
construction drawings for installation of the infrastructure. The City Engineering staff will 
review and approve the construction drawings and then inspect the site during and after 
the infrastructure is completed to ensure it is up to City standards before accepting it. In 
addition, prior to approval of the final plat the developer is required to sign a 
maintenance and repair agreement to ensure that the stormwater facilities are 
maintained in proper working order over time.   
 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed the preliminary plat for Hidden Pines 

(PP21-006) and recommends approval with the following stipulations:  
1. The applicant shall provide the wetland mitigation planting plan with the 

construction drawings, which shall be reviewed and approved by the City prior to 
planting. 

3. Conform to all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING 

Discussion 
12/14/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Commission then discussed the preliminary plat for Hidden Pines. Acting Chair 
Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Pezley provided background information. She 
explained that a preliminary plat is proposed near the intersection of Greenhill Road 
and Cedar Heights Drive. She explained that the parcel is within the R-2 Zoning 
District and consists of 43 residential lots. The developer plans to complete the 
project in two phases starting in the spring. She discussed the street extensions 
and noted that the City of Waterloo has no objections with the street extensions into 
Waterloo. She spoke about stormwater management, public sanitary sewer, 
wetlands, open space, critical infrastructure, and traffic calming provided. Staff 
recommends gathering comments from the Commission and the public and to 
continue the discussion to the next Planning and Zoning meeting. 
 
Nate Kass, Fehr Graham Engineering and Environmental came forward to express 
his availability for comments and questions. Ms. Moser asked about the wetland 
mitigation details. Mr. Kass explained that it would be specific native vegetation that 
will be graded very flat such that it will retain some runoff. New plants will be placed 
very strategically around the pond. Ms. Crisman asked if there are any plans to take 
care of and maintain the space if there are future issues. He stated that issues will 
be addressed. 

253

Item 22.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pat Burke, 1406 Asbury Lane, Waterloo, stated concerns with the stormwater and 
placement of different kinds of buildings near his home. Ms. Howard stated that 
nothing has been proposed at this time so she doesn’t want to speculate what will 
be there. He asked about the potential consequences of the stormwater runoff plan. 
 
Dan Murphy, 1438 Asbury Lane, Waterloo, stated concerns with stormwater runoff 
and potential traffic issues. Mr. Kass explained that the runoff should be less and 
that even if there were a system failure it will run into an overflow. He explained that 
City ordinances were followed and the Engineering division approved the plans. 
 
Charles Camarata, 4050 Matthew Drive, Waterloo, stated he believes that there is a 
wetland and didn’t understand what qualifies an area as a wetland. Mr. Kass 
explained the criteria that would have to be met to be considered a wetland. Mr. 
Camarata also stated concerns with parking and traffic in that area.  
 
Anthony Smith, 4816 Luke Street, Cedar Falls, stated concerns with home values, 
water runoff, and traffic.  
 
Pat Burke came forward again to discuss traffic issues again. Mr. Kass spoke about 
the traffic study and how the decisions were made with regard to how the traffic will 
flow. Mr. Burke asked about the process for this item’s approval.  
  
Mr. Smith asked if the traffic study was done before or after the roundabout was 
finished and expressed his thoughts on how traffic would move. He also 
commented again regarding one of the retention ponds. Mr. Kass addressed the 
comments made. 
 
Mr. Murphy asked if Waterloo has been notified of the project. Ms. Pezley stated 
that they have been involved and have no objections. 
 
Mr. Camarata came forward regarding the traffic again. Mr. Burke added comments 
regarding traffic as well. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked for clarification on how the city handles issues with traffic in 
terms of changes to the speed limit or speed bumps. Ms. Howard stated that 
questions can be posed to the Engineering Division and they can bring forward 
answers at the next meeting. Ms. Crisman also asked if some historical information 
could be provided about how the space has been handled by the DNR in the past. 
Ms. Moser also asked for assurance from the engineering division with regard to the 
water improvements.  
 
Ms. Crisman asked what the relationship with the Waterloo Planning and Zoning 
Commission has been in the past. Ms. Howard explained that the applicant is asked 
to reach out to Waterloo and provide the City of Cedar Falls that Waterloo was okay 
with the proposal. Ms. Grybovich asked if it is customary for the developer to have a 
meeting with the residents. Ms. Howard stated that it is encouraged for the 
developer to have a good neighbor meeting, but it is optional. The item was 
continued to the next meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

254

Item 22.



Public 
Meeting 
12/28/22 
 

The first item of business was a preliminary plat for Hidden Pines. Acting Chair 
Hartley introduced the item and Ms. Pezley provided background information. She 
explained that the plat is located at the southeast intersection of Greenhill Road and 
Cedar Heights Drive.  The plat proposes to include 43 residential lots and two 
stormwater tracts. This is proposed to be constructed in two phases.  There will be 
an extension of public sanitary sewer from Huntington Road to a Hidden Pines 
through an offsite easement. She briefly spoke about wetlands, open space, critical 
infrastructure to be constructed, and traffic calming that were discussed at the last 
meeting.  
 
Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II, discussed the engineering review cycle and 
explained the Planning and Zoning and Council Acceptance Phase, Construction 
Plan Review Phase, Construction Phase, and Maintenance Bond Phase. Ms. 
Howard noted that there is a lot of staff review before the preliminary plat, but most 
of the review of the technical details happens after the preliminary plat review. She 
also clarified that they are working with the City of Waterloo to be sure that things 
will be completed in satisfaction of their requirements as well.  
 
Nate Kass, Fehr Graham Engineering and Environmental, discussed the question 
with regard to the drainage. Because the site is relatively flat, the southerly 
detention pond is quite sizeable and there will be a lot of dirt excavated that will be 
used to regrade the site so that the design will slow the water and reduce how 
quickly it runs off. He noted that his stormwater report has also been vetted by the 
City of Waterloo. With regard to traffic concerns, he explained that they looked at all 
neighboring subdivisions that would potentially flow through the area. They used 
information obtained pre-covid during a time when there was no construction being 
done that would re-route typical traffic. He explained that by connecting Luke, 
Matthew, and Mark Streets, the amount of traffic on any one route, such as Luke 
Street should be reduced. He addressed concerns with wetlands as well and 
provided background information on the site. He also noted that there is no intent to 
build duplexes throughout the subdivision. The only ones contemplated are in the 
northern part near the stormwater basin.  
 
Ms. Crisman asked for more information about maintenance on the retention pond 
after the three-year bond is up. Mr. Tolan explained that the City requires a 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement that runs with the land with the property. The 
Agreement is reviewed and approved by Council and states that the owner will 
maintain those facilities and in the event that they don’t, the City has the right to fix 
it and assess the repair back to the benefitted property. 
 
Carl Erickson, 4211 Callum Court, spoke as a real estate agent about the need for 
residential development and relatively affordable lots. He discussed the shortage of 
lots in Cedar Falls and the effect it will have on the ability to build new housing.  
 
Anthony Smith, 4816 Luke Street, asked about potentially doing another traffic 
study that includes the new roundabout. He also asked if the City is doing anything 
to slow traffic in the Luke Street area to the south. Mr. Tolan stated that the City is 
continually studying the corridors, updating them as developments occur or as the 
City expands. The City keeps a capital improvements line item available as staff 
needs or requires updates to be made. As for traffic calming on Luke, there is 
nothing proposed at this time, but if needed traffic counters can be placed in the 
area to gather information regarding the traffic speeds.   
 

255

Item 22.



Chair Hartley asked who citizens should contact if they notice issues. Mr. Tolan 
stated that they can contact the engineering division directly or contact their council 
member. 
 
Kathy Thompson, 4810 Luke Street, spoke about the deep lots on Luke and asked 
if those will be single homes with long, deep lots or are they intended to be 
apartment buildings. She also asked about the new proposed street Charlie Lane. 
She noted that the street seems to go nowhere at this time and asked if it is 
intended to connect to a future development. She asked about the size and lot 
price. She stated that it would be helpful to have a good neighbor meeting and 
wanted to know if one will be offered.  
 
Ms. Howard explained that the City requires that every subdivision contribute to the 
connected street network for future development, so Charlie Street was required so 
that future development is possible on the land to the south.  
 
Mr. Kass spoke to the long, deep lots explaining that there is a sizeable vertical 
challenge on the west property line and the slope is what created the need for the 
longer lots. 
 
Bob Manning, 2908 West 1st Street, asked the developer about the duplexes that 
are proposed. The developer stated that the market has changed, and that his 
intention is to have a twin home or condominium project on a few properties at the 
northern portion of the property as shown on the plat. Mr. Manning stated that the 
twin home that he lives in was built by the same developer.  Before they bought the 
house, his wife was concerned with potential noise issues.  They have not had 
issues with neighboring noises.   He noted that he is the Executive Director of the 
Cedar Valley Homebuilders Association and sees that there is a shortage of 
attached housing for double income couples with no children at the end of their 
lifestyle. He provided data regarding the availability of housing and noted the 
shortage. 
 
Brian Wingert, 2110 Flynn Drive, spoke about the shortage of lot inventory for 
independent home builders. He noted that often developers are not willing to sell 
their lots to independent builders, which drives prices through the roof for smaller 
builders or those who would like to build their own home.  
 
Anthony Smith spoke again and asked about the school district boundary lines. Ms. 
Howard stated that school boundaries are established by the school district and the 
city doesn’t have power to change that.  
 
Brianne Reed, 5002 Luke Street, asked what would happen to their home values. 
She also asked about the option of putting a park in between the neighborhoods 
and leaving the dead end as it is. Mr. Erickson provided information on the home 
pricing and noted that generally new development in an area brings up all home 
values. Mr. Kass stated that there are no specific plans for a park in that area at this 
time. The decision about the use of the small open space area next to the 
stormwater basin will be left up to the homeowner’s association.  
 
Chris Dean, 4804 Luke Street, asked about the property next to his regarding the 
grading. He also asked about the difference in home values compared to the size. 
Mr. Kass explained the plan for grading. 
 

256

Item 22.



Ms. Lynch thanked everyone for being at the meeting and getting involved in the 
process. Ms. Crisman echoed that sentiment.  
 
Ms. Lynch made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 
 
 

 
  

Location Map 

Hidden Pines Plat  

Deed of Dedication 

Letter from Waterloo 

Written Comments  

  

257

Item 22.



Greenhill Trail

â

â

Lu
ke 

St

Sager Ave
Greenhill Cir

Aspen Ct

Mathew Dr

Jill Dr

Mark Dr

Jodi Dr

Greenhill Rd

Ce
da

r H
eig

hts
 Dr

E Greenhill Rd

C-1

R-4

C-1

C-2

R-1

R-2

R-4

MU

R-1

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
December 14, 2022

Hidden Pines Subdivision
Preliminary Plat (PP21-006)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

CenterS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

258

Item 22.



LOT 1 921.2

LOT 2 926.6

LOT 3 929.1

LOT 4 930.3

LOT 5 923.0

LOT 6 923.0

LOT 7 923.0

LOT 8 923.0

LOT 9 923.0

LOT 10 923.0

LOT 11 923.0

LOT 12 923.0

LOT 13 923.0

LOT 14 923.0

LOT 15 923.0

LOT 16 923.0

LOT 17 923.0

LOT 18 923.0

LOT 19 923.0

LOT 20 930.0

LOT 21 930.0

LOT 22 930.0

LOT 23 930.0

LOT 24 930.0

LOT 25 930.0

LOT 26 930.0

LOT 27 930.0

LOT 28 930.0

LOT 29 937.4

LOT 30 933.8

LOT 31 932.1

LOT 32 931.4

LOT 33 930.5

LOT 34 929.6

LOT 35 928.6

LOT 36 927.9

LOT 37 927.2

LOT 38 926.2

LOT 39 926.2

LOT 40 928.2

LOT 41 930.5

LOT 42 931.6

LOT 43 929.7

ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

PRELIMINARY PLAT
HIDDEN PINES

PART OF THE NE1/4 OF THE NW1/4 OF SECTION 29-T89N-R13W
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

PRELIMINARY18659
P. KASS
NATHAN

IO W A

N
G

IN
EER & LAND

SURVEYO
R

E
.F

O RP

259

Item 22.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: THIS SUBDIVISION IS A DIVISION OF PART OF WARRANTY DEED RECORDED IN BOOK 671, PAGE 670, AND OF A QUIT CLAIM DEED RECORDED WITH RECORDING INSTRUMENT #2018-00016074 BOTH ON FILE IN THE BLACK HAWK COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE, WATERLOO, IOWA. HIDDEN PINES, PART OF THE  NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF , PART OF THE  NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 13 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 01 17'41" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 40.00 FEET ALONG THE EAST SOUTH 01°17'41" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 40.00 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER SECTION TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 01 17'41" EAST, 289.66 FEET ALONG SAID EAST LINE; SOUTH 01°17'41" EAST, 289.66 FEET ALONG SAID EAST LINE; THENCE SOUTH 89 44'18" WEST, 79.00 FEET; SOUTH 89°44'18" WEST, 79.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 17'41" EAST, 120.09 FEET; SOUTH 01°17'41" EAST, 120.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 44'18" EAST, 79.00 FEET TO SAID EAST LINE; NORTH 89°44'18" EAST, 79.00 FEET TO SAID EAST LINE; THENCE SOUTH 01 17'41" EAST, 883.15 FEET ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTH SOUTH 01°17'41" EAST, 883.15 FEET ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID QUARTER-QUARTER SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 89 34'33" WEST, 662.67 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO THE WEST SOUTH 89°34'33" WEST, 662.67 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO THE WEST LINE OF THE EAST HALF OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE NORTH 01 17'23" WEST, 1228.80 FEET ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE SOUTH NORTH 01°17'23" WEST, 1228.80 FEET ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF GREENHILL ROAD; THENCE NORTH 75 34'50" EAST, 432.90 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY NORTH 75°34'50" EAST, 432.90 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; THENCE SOUTH 00 20'22" EAST, 64.00 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; SOUTH 00°20'22" EAST, 64.00 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; THENCE NORTH 89 44'23" EAST, 68.10 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; NORTH 89°44'23" EAST, 68.10 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE; THENCE NORTH 79 28'27" EAST, 134.69 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE NORTH 79°28'27" EAST, 134.69 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; CONTAINING 19.298 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD. 19.298 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD.  SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD. BASIS OF BEARING IS NAD83, IOWA STATE PLANE NORTH ZONE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BY/RETURN TO: FEHR GRAHAM, 200 5TH AVENUE SE, STE 100, CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52401 - PH: (319)294-6909

AutoCAD SHX Text
G:\C3D\21\21-823\21-823 PARCELS.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
2022 FEHR GRAHAM FEHR GRAHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS IOWA WISCONSIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER: 21-823

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NUMBER: 1 of 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY WAS COMPLETED ON:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLD BK: <##>  PG: <##>

AutoCAD SHX Text
I hereby certify that this land surveying document was prepared and the related survey work was performed by me or under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed Land Surveyor under the laws of the State of Iowa.  The unadjusted error of closure does not exceed 1:10,000 for the subdivision boundary and does not exceed 1:5,000 for any individual lot.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Nathan P. Kass, PE, PLS            Date License Number: 18659 My license renewal date is December 31, 2023. Sheets covered by this seal: SHEETS 1 THROUGH 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 12/13/2212/13/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECORDER'S INDEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY: BLACK HAWK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION: 29-T89N-R13W

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUARTER SECTION: NE1/4-NW1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY: CEDAR FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBDIVISION: HEARTLAND HILLS THIRD ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT(S): 1-50, LOTS A-D

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPRIETOR: STEPHEN A. AND DEON R. CLABBY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUESTED BY: STEPHEN A. CLABBY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Owner: Stephen Clabby and Deon Clabby Stephen Clabby and Deon Clabby 4046 Jodi Drive Waterloo, Iowa 50701 Preparer: Nathan P. Kass, PE, PLS Professional Engineer and Land Surveyor Fehr Graham Engineering & Environmental 200 5th Ave SE, Suite 100 Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52401 319.294.6909 Developer: Kyle Larson LGC Group PO Box 277 Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 319.266.6609 Zoning: Existing: R-2 - Residence District (1 & 2 Unit Residential) Proposed: R-2 - Residence District Setbacks: R-2: Front Yard=25 ft, Rear Yard=30 ft, Side Yard=10% of lot width Flood Plain/Floodway: not in regulatory flood plain or floodway (Zone X) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION CORNER AS DESCRIBED

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED PLASTIC CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RPC

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"%%C REBAR W/RPC #18659

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 1/2"%%C REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORANGE PLASTIC CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 1/2"%%C REBAR W/YPC #12086

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND "T" BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4 SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4-1/4 SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALCULATED POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 1" PINCHED IRON PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOW OPENINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A = 92739 SQ. FT./ 2.129 AC.  TRACT B = 25489 SQ. FT./ 0.585 AC TRACT C = 78842 SQ. FT./ 1.810 AC. TRACT D = 23290 SQ. FT./ 0.535 AC. TRACT E = 8006  SQ. FT./ 0.184 AC. TRACT F = 65664 SQ. FT./ 1.507 AC.

nkass
Text Box
4



PRELIMINARY PLAT
HIDDEN PINES

PART OF THE NE1/4 OF THE NW1/4 OF SECTION 29-T89N-R13W
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

260

Item 22.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BY/RETURN TO: FEHR GRAHAM, 200 5TH AVENUE SE, STE 100, CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52401 - PH: (319)294-6909

AutoCAD SHX Text
G:\C3D\21\21-823\21-823 PARCELS.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
2022 FEHR GRAHAM FEHR GRAHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS IOWA WISCONSIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER: 21-823

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NUMBER: 2 of 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY WAS COMPLETED ON: MONUMENTS TO BE SET WITHIN 1 YEAR OF RECORDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLD BK: <##>  PG: <##>

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 12/13/2212/13/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS AREA EXCLUDED FROM SUBDIVISION PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 01°17'41" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
205.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 01°17'23" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1228.80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 01°17'23" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
468.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
371.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
371.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
391.31'

AutoCAD SHX Text
422.15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 01°17'41" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
329.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 89°34'33" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1325.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
162.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'24" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
1325.47'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
422.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
662.88'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 01°17'41" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
883.15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW CORNER NE1/4-NW1/4  SEC. 29-89-13 FD. MAG NAIL IN PCC REC. DOC. 2007-26178

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW CORNER NE1/4-NW1/4  SEC. 29-89-13 FD. CUT "X" IN PCC REC. DOC. 2007-25370

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE CORNER NE1/4-NW1/4  SEC. 29-89-13 FD. MAG NAIL IN HMA POINT OF COMMENCING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE CORNER NE1/4-NW1/4  SEC. 29-89-13 FD. 1/2"  REBAR, NO CAPREC. DOC. 2007-26178

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ASSUMED BEARING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 1 FOR TRACT AREA INFORMATION AND LEGEND INFORMATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A: LUKE STREET 92,739 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4 SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4 SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4-1/4 SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
385.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 01°17'41" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
285.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
180.09'

AutoCAD SHX Text
281.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
281.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°44'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 01°17'41" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
285.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
470.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 01°17'23" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.28'

AutoCAD SHX Text
241.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 01°17'54" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 01°17'54" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
213.69'

AutoCAD SHX Text
154.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 18°01'52" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
202.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
297.62'

AutoCAD SHX Text
662.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
662.55'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: U.E. = UTILITY EASEMENT S.E. = STORM SEWER EASEMENT S.S.E. =SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAGER AVE



PRELIMINARY PLAT
HIDDEN PINES

IN THE NE1/4 OF THE NW1/4 OF SECTION 29-T89N-R13W
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

PHASE 2

PHASE 1

PHASE 2

261

Item 22.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BY/RETURN TO: FEHR GRAHAM, 200 5TH AVENUE SE, STE 100, CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52401 - PH: (319)294-6909

AutoCAD SHX Text
G:\C3D\21\21-823\21-823 PRELIM PLAT.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
2022 FEHR GRAHAM FEHR GRAHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS IOWA WISCONSIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER: 21-823

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NUMBER: 3 of 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY WAS COMPLETED ON: MONUMENTS TO BE SET WITHIN 1 YEAR OF RECORDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLD BK: <##>  PG: <##>

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 12/13/2212/13/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 23

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 91

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 90

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 83

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 82

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 81

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 80

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 72

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 73

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 71

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 70

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 62

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 63

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 61

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 60

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 52

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 51

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 50

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 53

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEPPER RIDGE CONDOMINIUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEARLAND HILLS 2ND ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUNTINGTON RIDGE 2ND ADD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUNTINGTON RIDGE 1ST ADD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A LUKE ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATTHEW DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: U.E. = UTILITY EASEMENT S.E. = STORM SEWER EASEMENT S.S.E. =SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
JODI DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAGER AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE MU

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENHILL  ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
  - CLUSTER MAILBOX (SUBJECT TO USPS APPROVAL) 4-FT SIDEWALKS TO BE INSTALLED ALONG BOTH SIDES OF PUBLIC STREETS FRANCHISE UTILITIES TO BE INSTALLED IN THE R.O.W. OR IN THE PROVIDED UTILITY EASEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLARK ENTERPRISES LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
REORGANIZED CHURCH OF JESUS CHRIST OF LATTER DAY SAINTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA, WETLANDS TO BE MITIGATED PER AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND  AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATED SANITARY  MANHOLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATED SANITARY  MANHOLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
JILL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT E CHARLIE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE FOR RESIDENTS 15,039 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESERVED/RETAINED BY OWNER OF LOT 52 OF HEARTLAND HILLS 2ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
POSSIBLE DUPLEX LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUKE STREET TO NARROW FROM 31' TO 26' THROUGH MATTHEW DR AND MARK DR INTERSECTIONS FOR TRAFFIC CALMING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE R-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FOREBAY 0.20 ACRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 31

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 32

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 33

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 34

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 35

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 36

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 37

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 38

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 39

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 40

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 41

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 42

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 43

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 29

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 28

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 26

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D - MARK DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B - MATTHEW DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C STORM WATER MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 24

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 23

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 13

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT F STORM WATER MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20



PRELIMINARY PLAT
HIDDEN PINES

IN THE NE1/4 OF THE NW1/4 OF SECTION 29-T89N-R13W
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

PHASE 2

PHASE 1

PHASE 2

262

Item 22.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BY/RETURN TO: FEHR GRAHAM, 200 5TH AVENUE SE, STE 100, CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52401 - PH: (319)294-6909

AutoCAD SHX Text
G:\C3D\21\21-823\21-823 PRELIM PLAT.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
2022 FEHR GRAHAM FEHR GRAHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS IOWA WISCONSIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER: 21-823

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NUMBER: 4 of 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY WAS COMPLETED ON: MONUMENTS TO BE SET WITHIN 1 YEAR OF RECORDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLD BK: <##>  PG: <##>

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 12/13/2212/13/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SET BACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 23

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 91 CLABBY, VICTORIA E

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 90 CLABBY, VICTORIA E

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 83 CAMARATA, CHARLES A

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 82 CAMARATA, CHARLES A

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 81 MORI, CELESTE M

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 80 GONZALEZ MORALE, JACOB

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 72 WHITTLE, CAROL M

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 73 LITZEL, LEWIS A & LITZEL, NICOLE E

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 71 GEISLER, MICHAEL B

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 70 PETERS, MADISON M

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 62 GLEASON, MERLE M & GLEASON LOIS L

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 63 CHAMBERLIN, STEPHANIE ANN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 61 BURTON, JAMES R & BURTON, JUDITH A

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 60 ALLEN, JONAH L

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 51 CLABBY, STEPHEN & CLABBY, DEON 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 50 ROMMEL, CONNIE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 53 HULS, LEVI JAMES & HULS, ALEXXUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEPPER RIDGE CONDOMINIUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEARLAND HILLS 2ND ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUNTINGTON RIDGE 2ND ADD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUNTINGTON RIDGE 1ST ADD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUKE ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATTHEW DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: U.E. = UTILITY EASEMENT S.E. = STORM SEWER EASEMENT S.S.E. =SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
JODI DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAGER AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLOO ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE R-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE MU

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENHILL  ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
  - CLUSTER MAILBOX (SUBJECT TO USPS APPROVAL) 4-FT SIDEWALKS TO BE INSTALLED ALONG BOTH SIDES OF PUBLIC STREETS FRANCHISE UTILITIES TO BE INSTALLED IN THE R.O.W. OR IN THE PROVIDED UTILITY EASEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLARK ENTERPRISES LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
REORGANIZED CHURCH OF JESUS CHRIST OF LATTER DAY SAINTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA, WETLANDS TO BE MITIGATED PER AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND  AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATED SANITARY  MANHOLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATED SANITARY  MANHOLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
JILL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESERVED/RETAINED BY OWNER OF LOT 52 OF HEARTLAND HILLS 2ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
POSSIBLE DUPLEX LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUKE STREET TO NARROW FROM 31' TO 26' THROUGH MATTHEW DR AND MARK DR INTERSECTIONS FOR TRAFFIC CALMING

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE FOR RESIDENTS 15,039 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FOREBAY 0.20 ACRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 52 CLABBY, STEPHEN & CLABBY, DEON 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A LUKE ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT E CHARLIE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D - MARK DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B - MATTHEW DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C STORM WATER MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT F STORM WATER MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 31

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 32

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 33

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 34

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 35

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 36

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 37

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 38

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 39

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 40

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 41

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 42

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 43

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 29

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 28

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 26

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 24

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 23

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 13

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20



1 

 

DEED OF DEDICATION 
OF 

PRELIMINARY PLAT 
 OF 

HIDDEN PINES 
PART OF THE NE ¼ OF THE NW ¼ OF  

SECTION 29-T89N-R13W 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA 
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
 
 That LG Companies, LLC, an Iowa limited liability company, with its principal office in 
Cedar Falls, Iowa; being desirous of setting out and platting into lots and streets the land 
described in the attached Certificate of Survey by Nathan P. Kass, a Professional Engineer and 
Licensed Land Surveyor, dated _____ day of ________________, 2022, do by these presents 
designate and set apart the aforesaid premises as a subdivision of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
the same to be known as: 
 

HIDDEN PINES 
PART OF THE NE ¼ OF THE NW ¼ OF  

SECTION 29-T89N-R13W 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA 
 

all of which is with the free consent and the desire of the undersigned and the undersigned do 
hereby designate and set apart for public use the street(s) as shown upon the attached plat. 
 

EASEMENTS 
 

 The undersigned do hereby grant and convey to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its 
successors and assigns, and to any private corporation, firm or person furnishing utilities for the 
transmission and/or distribution of water, sanitary sewer, gas, electricity, communication service 
or cable television, perpetual easements for the erection, laying building and maintenance of said 
services over, across, on and/or under the property as shown on the attached plat.  Such 
easements shall be deemed to run with the land and shall be binding upon the undersigned and 
the undersigned’s successors and assigns.   No building structures, landscaping structures, 
private gardens or any other possible obstruction can be placed in the easements. 
 
 Any and all drainage easements will be required to follow the “Stormwater Management 
Plan by Fehr Graham dated September 19, 2022” and no building structures, fence structures, 
landscaping structures, private gardens or any other possible obstruction can be built in and over 
said drainage easements. All lot owners and/or contractors working on said lots will be 
responsible to maintain said easements to be free and clear of any physical obstruction(s) thus 
allowing the conveyance of overland storm water runoff as intended per “Stormwater 
Management Plan” on record with the City of Cedar Falls Engineer's Office. 
 

263

Item 22.



2 

 

The undersigned do hereby grant and convey to the City of Cedar Falls, its successors and 
assigns, access to the Public Access Easement shown on Outlot “A”, Tract “C”, and Tract “F”. 
 
 

RESTRICTIONS  
 
 Be it also known that the undersigned do hereby covenant and agree for themselves and 
their successors and assigns that each and all of the residential lots in said subdivision be and the 
same are hereby made subject to the following restrictions upon their use and occupancy as fully 
and effectively to all intents and purposes as if the same were contained and set forth in each 
deed of conveyance or mortgage that the undersigned or their successors in interest may 
hereinafter make for any of said lots and that such restrictions shall run with the land and with 
each individual lot thereof for the length of time and in all particulars hereinafter stated, to-wit: 
 
 1. Any dwelling that shall be erected on any lot shall have a minimum setback from the 
front, side, and rear of the lot lines as indicated on attached Final Plat. The minimum set back 
from each side lot line is 10% of the lot width measured along the front of the lot or seven (7) 
feet whichever is greater.  All minimum setbacks will be required to meet or exceed R-2 Zoning. 
 
 2.  No single family dwelling shall be constructed, permitted or occupied on Lots 1-26  or 
31-44 herein having a square footage floor space, designed, intended, and constructed for living 
quarters, which space shall not include cellars, attics, garages, breezeways, porches, stoops, and 
other such non-living areas, of less than the following requirements: 
 

A. 1,300 square feet for the main base of a single story, split-level or split-foyer houses. 
 

B. 1,000 square feet on the first floor for story and one-half houses, or two story houses.   
With a total for all floors not less than 1,650 square feet excluding the basement level. 

 
3.  Each single family residence shall have a minimum of a two stall attached garage with 

a minimum of 525 square feet with a maximum of a three stall garage with a maximum of 1,600 
square feet. 
 
 4. Condominiums may be constructed on Lots 1-43. 
 

5.  The owner(s) of each lot, vacant or improved, shall keep his/her lot or lots free of 
weeds and debris. 

 
6.  No obnoxious or offensive trade or activity shall be carried on upon any lot nor shall 

anything be done thereon which may be or become an annoyance or nuisance to the 
neighborhood. 

 
7.  All approaches and driveways in said subdivision shall be paved with concrete. 
 
8.  Owner of each lot shall comply with all requirements of the US Post Office for mail 

receptacles.  All mailboxes shall be clustered or grouped for the units, and shall be placed 
between the curb line and the property line abutting the lots.  The area around said mailboxes 

264

Item 22.



3 

 

shall be kept free and clear by the owner of the lots on which said mailboxes are located.    
Location of the clustered mailboxes shall be reviewed and approved by the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa. 

 
9.  No old or used buildings shall be moved upon any of the lots in said subdivision for 

any purpose.  Any auxiliary buildings or sheds must be built of the same or similar materials of 
the residential structure on the lot and have the same roof pitch and design as said residential 
structure. 

 
10.  No radio station or short-wave operators of any kind shall operate from any lot which 

shall cause interference with audio or visual reception upon any other lot.  No exterior radio 
antenna shall be erected or maintained in or on the property.  No satellite TV antenna or “Dish” 
may be maintained, constructed or erected on any lot unless it is constructed in the rear yard and 
at least twenty feet from any property line and is shielded from the public view by shrubbery and 
landscaping.  No dish larger than 24” will be allowed. 

 
11.  No dwelling on any lot of said subdivision shall be occupied until the exterior is 

completed and finished and the interior substantially completed and finished. 
 
12. No bus, semi-tractor, RV, fifth-wheel camper, trailer or truck of any kind except what 

is commonly described as a “pick-up truck” shall be kept or parked on any lot or street in said 
subdivision for a period not to exceed twenty-four hours, after which said vehicle can not return 
to said subdivision for a period of five days, provided, however, that this prohibition shall not 
apply to such vehicles driven in said subdivision in pursuit of and in conducting their usual 
business. 

 
13. All buildings erected on any lot in said subdivision shall be constructed in accordance 

with all applicable statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations and standards of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

14. No animals, livestock, or poultry of any kind shall be raised, bred or kept on any lot, 
except that two dogs or cats maximum, or other household pets are allowed and then only if they 
are not kept, bred or maintained for any commercial purposes, such animals shall be kept under 
control so as not to constitute a public nuisance and must be kept in compliance with applicable 
zoning laws and regulations of the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. Dog runs or 
dog kennels of any kind are prohibited. 

 
15. Any and all fencing constructed on said lots shall have a minimum set back of one 

foot from any property line. Construction of any privacy fencing must have the support posts on 
the interior side of the fencing. 

 
16. A four foot wide P.C.C. sidewalk four inches thick will be installed by the owner of 

said lot during or immediately after the construction of the residence on any particular lot, or 
within five years after the date the plat is filed in the office of the recorder of Black Hawk 
County, whichever is sooner and that the sidewalk be across the full width of the lot and on 
corner lots also.  In the event that the City is required to construct the sidewalk, a lien or liens 

265

Item 22.



4 

 

may only be imposed against the lot or lots which require city construction and no others in the 
subdivision.  
 
 17.  No building or structure shall be erected, placed or altered on any lot in this 
subdivision until the building plans, and plot plan, showing all buildings, patios, and pools, and 
showing the location thereof, and side yard distances, rear yard distances, front yard distances, 
driveways, and walkways, and type of construction have been approved in writing as to 
conformity and harmony of the external design and quality workmanship and materials with 
existing structures in the subdivision by a representative of LG Companies, LLC. 
 
  18.  Factory-built housing or modular homes will not be allowed.  Panelized homes may 
be allowed, but must meet the requirements of LG Companies, LLC, as stated in the previous 
restriction. 
 
 19.  The contractor or owner of any lot shall verify the depth of the sanitary sewer service 
line serving said lot to ensure minimum drainage will be met prior to any footing or foundation 
work being completed.  All sump pump lines must be buried and attached to the subdrain along 
the back of the P.C.C. curbed street.  No sump lines will be allowed to dump directly onto the 
ground surface. 
 
 20.  Each person or entity who is record owner of a fee or undivided fee interest in any lot 
shall be a member of the Homeowners Association to be known as Hidden Pines Homeowners 
Association.  This shall not be construed to include persons or entities who hold an interest 
merely as security for the performance of an obligation.  There shall be one vote per lot and each 
lot owner shall be a member of the Homeowners Association.  Membership shall be appurtenant 
to and may be not separated from ownership of any lot; ownership of such lot shall be the sole 
qualification of membership. 
 
 The purpose of Hidden Pines Homeowners Association shall be to own and maintain the 
common area and green spaces of the development, the retention pond(s) and surrounding access 
(whether located in said subdivision or serving said subdivision but located outside thereof) and 
such other activities set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association.  
Such ownership and maintenance shall include, but not be limited to, common neighborhood 

monument-type mailboxes, mowing, watering, including upkeep of any underground sprinkler 
system, snow removal of common areas, maintenance of the retention pond(s) water 
retention/detention area(s).  Initially, the Developer, LG Companies, LLC, shall perform the 
actual construction duties to establish the common area, green spaces, entrance, pond and 
surrounding access area. 
 
    The annual dues for the Association shall initially be set at $____ per lot per year 
beginning in ____________, 2022.  The Developer, LG Companies, LLC, shall be exempt from 
any dues expense.  The Association shall have the ability and authority to adjust annual dues as it 
deems appropriate to carry out the maintenance duties as described above. 

 22.  The Owner and/or occupant of each Lot shall jointly and severally be responsible to 
keep in good order or to maintain the area between the curbline and the property line abutting 

266

Item 22.



5 

 

their property including keeping said area free of holes, pitfalls, stumps of trees, fences, brick, 
stone, cement, stakes, posts or rods to which a metal, plastic or similar receptacle designed to 
hold newspapers are affixed, private irrigation or sprinkler systems, retaining walls, landscaping 
brick, block, stone, timber or other similar material, or any other similar obstructions.   
 
 23. Tracts "A", “B”,  “D” and “E” are dedicated hereto to the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for street purposes. 
 
 23. Outlot A shall be conveyed to the owner of adjoining real estate to the east of Lot 
26. 
 
 24. Tracts “C and “F”  will be used for stormwater management and are non-
buildable and designed to meet SUDAS and the City of Cedar Falls Standards and 
Specifications.  Said Outlots will be vegetated with native plantings or maintained as mowed 
lawn for recreation space.   
 
 25.  Tract “F” will also be used for public access. 
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED 
 

1.    The Street(s) shown on the attached plat, will be brought to City grade and that the 
street will be sixty (60) feet, back of curb to back of curb, with approved hard surface pavement 
in accordance with the City of Cedar Falls, Standard Specifications unless otherwise specified as 
per approved construction plans.   
 

2.    Sanitary sewer, together with the necessary manholes and sewer service lines to all 
lots in the plat will be provided. 
 

3.    That underground utilities, as required by the Subdivision Ordinance of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, shall be installed. 
 

4.    That city water will be provided to all lots as required by the Cedar Falls Municipal 
utilities. 
 

5.    That municipal fire hydrant(s) will be provided as required by the Cedar Falls Public 
Safety Department. 
 

6.    That Storm sewer will be provided as specified by the City Engineer. 
 

7.    That handicap ramps will be provided as required by law.  
 
8.    All buildings erected on any lot in said subdivision shall be constructed in 

accordance with all applicable statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations and standards of the 
City of Cedar Falls. 
 
 9.     That the work improvements called herein shall be in accordance with the 
specifications of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and performed under the supervision of the City 

267

Item 22.



6 

 

Engineer.  In the event that the developer, LG Companies, LLC, it grantees and assigns fail to 
complete said work and improvements called for within one (1) year from the date of the 
acceptance of said final plat by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, the City may then make 
improvements and assess the costs of the same to the respective lots.  The undersigned, for 
themselves, their successors, grantees and assigns, waive all statutory requirements of notice of 
time and place of hearing and agree that the City may install said improvements and assess the 
total costs thereof against the respective lots. 
 

10.  That the City may perform said work, levy the cost thereof as assessments, and the 
undersigned agree that said assessments so levied shall be a lien on the respective lots with the 
same force and effect as though all legal provisions pertaining to the levy of such special 
assessments have been observed, and further authorize the City Clerk to certify such assessments 
to the County Auditor as assessments to be paid in installments as provided by law. 
 

11. The Developer shall construct and install all required public improvements within the 
subdivision plat, to conform with approved construction plans which meet the specifications of 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  Such required public improvements shall meet the following 
requirements: 

A.  Shall be constructed and installed in a good and workmanlike manner; 
 
B.  Shall be free of defects in workmanship or materials; 
 
C.  Shall be free of any conditions that could result in structural or other failure of  

 said improvements; 
 

D.  Shall be constructed and installed in accordance with the design standards and  
 technical standards established for such public improvements by the City and by  
 Cedar Falls Utilities; 
 

E.  Shall be constructed and installed in strict compliance with the minimum  
 acceptable specifications for the construction of public improvements set forth in the  
 Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, including without limitation, Chapter 24,  

 Subdivisions, and as such specifications shall be recommended for approval by the 
City Engineer from time to time, and approved by the city council.   

 
 F.  Shall otherwise be constructed in accordance with all applicable statutes, ordinances, 

codes, rules, regulations and standards. 
 
 12.  The Developer’s construction plans are now on file in the Office of the City 
Engineer. 
 
SIGNED and DATED this _______ day of _______________, 2022 
 
      LG Companies, LLC 
 
      ___________________________ 
      Kyle Larson, Manager 

268

Item 22.



7 

 

STATE OF IOWA, BLACK HAWK COUNTY: ss 
 
 On this ____day of ______________, 201__, before me, the undersigned, a Notary 
Public in and for the State of Iowa, personally appeared Kyle Larson, Manager of LG 
Companies, LLC, to me known as the identical persons named in and who executed the 
foregoing instrument and acknowledged that they executed the same as their voluntary act and 
deed on behalf of LG Companies, LLC. 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

269

Item 22.



270

Item 22.



1

Michelle Pezley

From: Pat Burke <patburke28@yahoo.com>
Sent: Wednesday, December 14, 2022 2:15 PM
To: Michelle Pezley
Subject: Photos 

 

271

Item 22.



2

 

272

Item 22.



3

 

273

Item 22.



4

 
CAUTION: This email originated outside the City of Cedar Falls email system. 
Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
 
 
 
Sent from my iPhone 

274

Item 22.



275

Item 22.



276

Item 22.



277

Item 22.



278

Item 22.



279

Item 22.



280

Item 22.



281

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610  
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: April 3, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Off-site Sewer Easement for Hidden Pines Subdivision.  
  
 
Hidden Pines Subdivision is located south of 
Greenhill Road and Sager Ave, east of Cedar 
Heights Drive, and north of the Luke Road dead 
end, and west of the Waterloo city limits. Hidden 
Pines subdivision is proposed to consist of 43 
residential lots, six tracts and one outlot within two 
development phases.    
 
Background: 
The applicant proposes Hidden Pines Preliminary 
Plat (see PP21-006 separate agenda item) to 
consists of 43 residential lots, six tracts, and one 
outlot. In past proposals, the property owner 
designed the subdivision to have the sewer 
extended from the City of Waterloo.  In 2001, 
Waterloo determined that they did not have the 
sewer capacity in that part of town to service the 
subdivision.  When Luke Street was developed in 
Huntington Ridge Second Addition in 2005, the 
sewer connection was not designed in a way that 
could be extended to the subject property.   
 
The applicant proposes to extend the sanitary sewer 
from Huntington Road through an easement on the vacant property to the south.  
Similar to other infrastructure in this subdivision, the sewer line must be constructed to 
City Standards and will be inspected accordingly. Preliminary concept drawings of the 
sewer extension have been submitted for Engineering Division review. The applicant 
has demonstrated that the sewer extension is feasible. 
 
Request Action: 
The applicant requests that the city accept the off-site sewer easement.  
 

282

Item 23.



 
Recommendation:   
Staff recommends the approval of off-site sewer easement for Hidden Pines. All parties 
have agreed to this change and have signed and notarized the easement, which is 
attached for your review. The easement has been reviewed by the City Attorney.   
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

283

Item 23.



284

Item 23.



285

Item 23.



286

Item 23.



287

Item 23.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: March 27, 2023 

 SUBJECT: FY2024 Budget 

 
Attached is the state required notice for the FY24 budget hearing.  The rate on the 
notice is $11.74.  This rate will cause a 2.98% increase on residential properties, a 
2.00% increase on commercial & industrial properties, and a 12.56% decrease on multi-
residential properties.   The full budget document is also included in this packet.  
 
The next step in the budget process is to have a hearing on the budget and formally 
adopt the budget.  As the Council is aware, the Council can adopt a budget that is lower 
than the published rate and lower than the approved maximum levy.  
 
The Code of Iowa requires that the City have a public hearing and I would request 
that the hearing be set for April 17, 2023. 
 
If you have any questions, about the budget or the budget process, please feel free to 
contact me.  
 
 
 

288

Item 24.



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING -- PROPOSED BUDGET
Fiscal Year July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024

City of:   CEDAR FALLS
The City Council will conduct a public hearing on the proposed Budget at:     City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA Meeting Date:    4/17/2023    Meeting

Time:    07:00 PM   
At the public hearing any resident or taxpayer may present objections to, or arguments in favor of , any part of the proposed budget. This notice represents a

summary of the supporting detail of revenues and expenditures on file with the City Clerk and County Auditor.
City budgets are subject to protest. If protest petition requirements are met, the State Appeal Board will hold a local hearing. For more information, consult

https://dom.iowa.gov/local-budget-appeals.

The Budget Estimate Summary of proposed receipts and expenditures is shown below. Copies of the the detailed proposed Budget may be obtained or
viewed at the offices of the Mayor, City Clerk, and at the Library.

The estimated Total tax levy rate per $1000 valuation on regular property
11.74413

The estimated tax levy rate per $1000 valuation on Agricultural land is
3.00375

At the public hearing, any resident or taxpayer may present objections to, or arguments in favor of, any part of the proposed budget.

Phone Number
(319) 273-8600  City Clerk/Finance Officer's NAME

Jennifer Rodenbeck
Budget FY  2024 Re-estimated FY  2023 Actual FY  2022

Revenues & Other Financing Sources
Taxes Levied on Property 1 24,481,575 23,791,654 22,456,567
Less: Uncollected Property Taxes-Levy Year 2 0 0 0

Net Current Property Taxes 3 24,481,575 23,791,654 22,456,567
Delinquent Property Taxes 4 0 0 0
TIF Revenues 5 6,145,440 5,320,260 6,611,377
Other City Taxes 6 7,976,316 8,639,192 8,615,811
Licenses & Permits 7 1,021,000 845,488 1,012,414
Use of Money and Property 8 1,155,920 1,286,553 1,073,595
Intergovernmental 9 12,178,010 22,044,492 15,929,225
Charges for Fees & Service 10 17,230,210 14,998,150 14,267,681
Special Assessments 11 0 0 35,911
Miscellaneous 12 897,259 794,541 2,350,447
Other Financing Sources 13 15,044,000 4,084,730 0
Transfers In 14 12,984,910 12,698,132 15,976,914
Total Revenues and Other Sources 15 99,114,640 94,503,192 88,329,942
Expenditures & Other Financing Uses
Public Safety 16 14,693,270 13,239,953 12,890,191
Public Works 17 20,775,080 18,744,208 16,455,069
Health and Social Services 18 28,000 28,000 25,776
Culture and Recreation 19 10,180,730 8,600,570 7,063,896
Community and Economic Development 20 3,224,650 2,715,458 3,319,082
General Government 21 6,629,260 6,070,925 4,933,496
Debt Service 22 2,546,800 2,192,078 1,062,100
Capital Projects 23 21,899,360 26,388,375 14,100,931
Total Government Activities Expenditures 24 79,977,150 77,979,567 59,850,541
Business Type / Enterprises 25 23,390,760 10,842,198 9,749,934
Total ALL Expenditures 26 103,367,910 88,821,765 69,600,475
Transfers Out 27 12,984,910 12,698,132 15,976,914
Total ALL Expenditures/Transfers Out 28 116,352,820 101,519,897 85,577,389
Excess Revenues & Other Sources Over   (Under) Expenditures/Transfers Out 29 -17,238,180 -7,016,705 2,752,553
Beginning Fund Balance July 1 30 98,756,610 105,773,315 103,020,762
Ending Fund Balance June 30 31 81,518,430 98,756,610 105,773,315

289

Item 24.

https://dom.iowa.gov/local-budget-appeals


290

Item 24.



291

Item 24.



292

Item 24.



293

Item 24.



294

Item 24.



295

Item 24.



296

Item 24.



297

Item 24.



298

Item 24.



299

Item 24.



300

Item 24.



301

Item 24.



302

Item 24.



303

Item 24.



304

Item 24.



305

Item 24.



306

Item 24.



307

Item 24.



308

Item 24.



309

Item 24.



310

Item 24.



311

Item 24.



312

Item 24.



313

Item 24.



314

Item 24.



315

Item 24.



316

Item 24.



317

Item 24.



318

Item 24.



319

Item 24.



320

Item 24.



321

Item 24.



322

Item 24.



323

Item 24.



324

Item 24.



325

Item 24.



326

Item 24.



327

Item 24.



328

Item 24.



329

Item 24.



330

Item 24.



331

Item 24.



332

Item 24.



333

Item 24.



334

Item 24.



335

Item 24.



336

Item 24.



337

Item 24.



338

Item 24.



339

Item 24.



340

Item 24.



341

Item 24.



342

Item 24.



343

Item 24.



344

Item 24.



345

Item 24.



346

Item 24.



347

Item 24.



348

Item 24.



349

Item 24.



350

Item 24.



351

Item 24.



352

Item 24.



353

Item 24.



354

Item 24.



355

Item 24.



356

Item 24.



357

Item 24.



358

Item 24.



359

Item 24.



360

Item 24.



361

Item 24.



362

Item 24.



363

Item 24.



364

Item 24.



365

Item 24.



366

Item 24.



367

Item 24.



368

Item 24.



369

Item 24.



370

Item 24.



371

Item 24.



372

Item 24.



373

Item 24.



374

Item 24.



375

Item 24.



376

Item 24.



377

Item 24.



378

Item 24.



379

Item 24.



380

Item 24.



381

Item 24.



382

Item 24.



383

Item 24.



384

Item 24.



385

Item 24.



386

Item 24.



387

Item 24.



388

Item 24.



389

Item 24.



390

Item 24.



391

Item 24.



392

Item 24.



393

Item 24.



394

Item 24.



395

Item 24.



396

Item 24.



397

Item 24.



398

Item 24.



399

Item 24.



400

Item 24.



401

Item 24.



402

Item 24.



403

Item 24.



404

Item 24.



405

Item 24.



406

Item 24.



407

Item 24.



408

Item 24.



409

Item 24.



410

Item 24.



411

Item 24.



412

Item 24.



413

Item 24.



414

Item 24.



415

Item 24.



416

Item 24.



417

Item 24.



418

Item 24.



419

Item 24.



420

Item 24.



421

Item 24.



422

Item 24.



423

Item 24.



424

Item 24.



425

Item 24.



426

Item 24.



427

Item 24.



428

Item 24.



429

Item 24.



430

Item 24.



431

Item 24.



432

Item 24.



433

Item 24.



434

Item 24.



435

Item 24.



436

Item 24.



437

Item 24.



438

Item 24.



439

Item 24.



440

Item 24.



441

Item 24.



442

Item 24.



443

Item 24.



444

Item 24.



445

Item 24.



446

Item 24.



447

Item 24.



448

Item 24.



449

Item 24.



450

Item 24.



451

Item 24.



452

Item 24.



453

Item 24.



454

Item 24.



455

Item 24.



456

Item 24.



457

Item 24.



458

Item 24.



459

Item 24.



460

Item 24.



461

Item 24.



462

Item 24.



463

Item 24.



464

Item 24.



465

Item 24.



466

Item 24.



467

Item 24.



468

Item 24.



469

Item 24.



470

Item 24.



471

Item 24.



472

Item 24.



473

Item 24.



474

Item 24.



475

Item 24.



476

Item 24.



477

Item 24.



478

Item 24.



479

Item 24.



480

Item 24.



481

Item 24.



482

Item 24.



483

Item 24.



484

Item 24.



485

Item 24.



486

Item 24.



487

Item 24.



488

Item 24.



489

Item 24.



490

Item 24.



491

Item 24.



492

Item 24.



493

Item 24.



494

Item 24.



495

Item 24.



496

Item 24.



497

Item 24.



498

Item 24.



499

Item 24.



500

Item 24.



501

Item 24.



502

Item 24.



503

Item 24.



504

Item 24.



505

Item 24.



506

Item 24.



507

Item 24.



508

Item 24.



509

Item 24.



510

Item 24.



511

Item 24.



512

Item 24.



513

Item 24.



514

Item 24.



515

Item 24.



516

Item 24.



517

Item 24.



518

Item 24.



519

Item 24.



520

Item 24.



521

Item 24.



522

Item 24.



523

Item 24.



524

Item 24.



525

Item 24.



526

Item 24.



527

Item 24.



528

Item 24.



529

Item 24.



530

Item 24.



531

Item 24.



532

Item 24.



533

Item 24.



534

Item 24.



535

Item 24.



536

Item 24.



537

Item 24.



538

Item 24.



539

Item 24.



540

Item 24.



541

Item 24.



542

Item 24.



543

Item 24.



544

Item 24.



545

Item 24.



546

Item 24.



547

Item 24.



548

Item 24.



549

Item 24.



550

Item 24.



551

Item 24.



552

Item 24.



553

Item 24.



554

Item 24.



555

Item 24.



556

Item 24.



557

Item 24.



558

Item 24.



559

Item 24.



560

Item 24.



561

Item 24.



562

Item 24.



563

Item 24.



564

Item 24.



565

Item 24.



566

Item 24.



567

Item 24.



568

Item 24.



569

Item 24.



570

Item 24.



571

Item 24.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: March 27, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Sale of Lot 10, except the West 80 feet thereof, West Viking Road 
Industrial Park Phase IV, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa 
(Contains 2.48 acres more or less). 

 
 
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for April 17, 2023 to 
address the proposed sale of the above referenced City owned real estate to CF 
Storage, LLC. The proposed project would consist of 30,000+ square feet of new 
storage building space to be constructed along Technology Parkway in the West Viking 
Road Industrial Park. Additional information pertaining to the Purchase, Sale and 
Development Agreement will be provided to City Council prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
         
        
 
 
 

572

Item 25.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING (1) TO CONSIDER 

ENTERING INTO A PROPOSED PURCHASE, SALE, AND DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND CF 

STORAGE, LLC; AND (2) TO CONSIDER CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN CITY-

OWNED REAL ESTATE TO CF STORAGE, LLC, PURSUANT TO SAID PROPOSED 

AGREEMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from CF 

Storage, LLC, an Iowa limited liability company (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed Purchase, 

Sale, and Development Agreement (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and CF 

Storage, LLC on terms which include: 

 

(1) Conveyance of certain city-owned real estate legally described as consisting of all that 

certain parcel or parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of 

Black Hawk, State of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 10, except the West 80 feet thereof, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV, City 

of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 2.48 acres more or less) 

(“Development Property”) 

 

for the Purchase Price of $162,043.00 and other valuable consideration set forth in the 

Agreement; 

and  

 

(2) Entering into a Minimum Assessment Agreement whereby the minimum actual taxable 

value of the land and improvements to be constructed on the Development Property would 

be established at an amount not less than $1,562,000.00 for a period through December 31, 

2034; 

and  

 

573

Item 25.



 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Purchase, Sale, and Development Agreement and 

conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer pursuant to the terms of said Agreement.  

 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 17th day of April, 2023, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council 

Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, to consider 

entering into a proposed Purchase, Sale, and Development Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, and CF Storage, LLC, and to consider conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer 

on certain terms as set forth in the proposed agreement.  A copy of the proposed agreement is on file in 

the Office of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish said notice of said 

public hearing. 

 

 

ADOPTED this 3rd day of April, 2023. 

 

   

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

574

Item 25.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and legally 

adopted by the City Council of said City on the 3rd day of April, 2023. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

  

 

 

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

575

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

––  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Luke Andreasen, PE 
 
 DATE: March 29, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension 
  City Project Number: CP-197-3244 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, April 17, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project, and Monday, April 24, 2023 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and 
time for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be 
published by Friday, April 7, 2023. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for 
distribution to contractors on Friday, April 7th, 2023, allowing for two (2) weeks of review 
before contract letting. 
 
This project involves extending Ashworth Drive pavement, sanitary sewer, water main, 
ands storm sewer from Kara Drive eastward to Hudson Road. Ashworth Drive and 
Hudson Road will become a new signalized intersection. Ashworth Drive East of Hudson 
will also be realigned to make a straight intersection. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $1,735,651.94. The project 
will be funded by Capital Projects and Street Construction Fund.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the Ashworth Drive 
Roadway Extension. 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 

576

Item 26.



Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension 

 

ITEM # ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE

1 2010-108-C CLEARING AND GRUBBING LS 1 3,000.00$      3,000.00$           

2 2010-108-D-1 ON-SITE TOPSOIL CY 550 16.00$           8,800.00$           

3 2010-108-D-3 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL CY 290 32.00$           9,280.00$           

4 3010-108-F TRENCH COMPACTION TESTING LS 1 5,000.00$      5,000.00$           

5 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE CY 7610 14.50$           110,345.00$       

6 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS CY 20 600.00$         12,000.00$         

7 2010-108-F-0 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) CY 121 14.50$           1,754.50$           

8 2010-108-G-0 SUBGRADE PREPARATION SY 3651 4.00$             14,604.00$         

9 2010-108-H-0 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 SY 1825 9.00$             16,425.00$         

10 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. SY 3651 20.00$           73,020.00$         

11 3010-108-D-0 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 300 32.50$           9,750.00$           

12 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, PVC, 8 IN., TRUSS LF 563 83.00$           46,729.00$         

13 4010-108-A-2 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHLESS, PVC, IN., C900 SR18 LF 199 250.00$         49,750.00$         

14 4010-108-E-1 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE, TRENCHED, PVC, 4 IN., (SDR-23.5) LF 485 89.00$           43,165.00$         

15 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE LF 303 88.00$           26,664.00$         

16 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D LF 233 73.00$           17,009.00$         

17 4020-108-D-1 REMOVAL STORM SEWER (SUBDRAIN) LF 271 8.00$             2,168.00$           

18 4040-108-A-0 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. LF 1094 17.50$           19,145.00$         

19 4040-108-C-1 SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, 6 IN. EA 4 400.00$         1,600.00$           

20 4040-180-D-0 SUMP PUMP TAP EA 14 300.00$         4,200.00$           

21 4040-108-D-1 SUBDRAIN CONNECTIONS (TO STORM SEWER INTAKE) EA 7 325.00$         2,275.00$           

22 4040-108-D-1 SUBDRAIN CONNECTIONS (TO EXISTING SUBDRAIN) EA 2 150.00$         300.00$              

23 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) LF 612 115.00$         70,380.00$         

24 5010-108-C-2 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 500 20.00$           10,000.00$         

25 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EA 7 2,000.00$      14,000.00$         

26 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EA 6 3,000.00$      18,000.00$         

27 5010-XX-1 20" x 8" TAPPING SLEEVE EA 1 7,000.00$      7,000.00$           

28 5010-XX-3 8" NITRILE GASKETS EA 10 250.00$         2,500.00$           

29 5020-108-A-0 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EA 1 3,750.00$      3,750.00$           

30 5020-108-C-0 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EA 1 9,000.00$      9,000.00$           

31 5020-108-C-0 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY REMOVAL EA 1 7,500.00$      7,500.00$           

32 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EA 4 5,000.00$      20,000.00$         

33 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EA 4 8,500.00$      34,000.00$         

34 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-509 EA 6 8,500.00$      51,000.00$         

35 6010-108-G-0 CONNECTION TO EXISTING MANHOLE EA 1 3,000.00$      3,000.00$           

36 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" SY 3250 50.00$           162,500.00$       

37 7020-108-B-0 PAVEMENT, HMA, SPECIAL SHAPING SY 280 50.00$           14,000.00$         

38 7030-108-E-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK SY 94 15.00$           1,410.00$           

39 7030-108-H-1 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY, PCC SY 165 15.00$           2,475.00$           

40 7030-108-H-2 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY, GRAVEL SY 306 10.00$           3,060.00$           

41 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" SY 160 45.00$           7,200.00$           

42 7030-108-G-0 DETECTABLE WARNINGS SF 80 350.00$         28,000.00$         

43 7030-108-H-0 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" SY 50 65.00$           3,250.00$           

44 7030-108-H-2 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 50 37.00$           1,850.00$           

45 7040-108-A-0 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX SY 85 150.00$         12,750.00$         

46 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC SY 1104 15.00$           16,560.00$         

47 7040-108-I-0 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL LF 691 5.00$             3,455.00$           

48 8010-108-A TRAFFIC SIGNAL LS 1 350,000.00$ 350,000.00$       

49 8020-108-B-0 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA 23.91 90.00$           2,151.90$           

50 8020-108-G-0 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EA 18 70.00$           1,260.00$           

51 8020-XX-1 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECEIVER) EA 6 350.00$         2,100.00$           

52 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1 5,000.00$      5,000.00$           

53 9010-108-B SEEDING, FERTILIZING, AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING AC 0.71 4,000.00$      2,840.00$           

54 9020-108-A-0 SOD SF 1620 2.00$             3,240.00$           

55 9040-108-A-2 SWPPP MANAGEMENT LS 1 5,000.00$      5,000.00$           

56 9040-108-D-1A WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW LF 1960 2.50$             4,900.00$           

57 9040-108-D-2A WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL LF 1960 0.75$             1,470.00$           

58 9040-108-O-1 STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE SY 244 20.00$           4,880.00$           

59 9040-108-T-1 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, FILTER SOCK EA 7 150.00$         1,050.00$           

60 9040-108-T-2 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EA 7 50.00$           350.00$              

61 11020-108-A-0 MOBILIZATION LS 1 200,000.00$ 200,000.00$       

62 11050-108-A-0 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1 10,000.00$    10,000.00$         

1,735,651.94$   

OPINION OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COST

TOTAL (WITH 10% CONTINGENCY)

577

Item 26.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: April 3, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Signs for Civic/Institutional Uses in Downtown 

Character District (TA23-001) 

 

 
Background 
 
The City received an inquiry from St. Patrick Catholic Church about replacing an existing 

monument sign that has an electronic message center (EMC) at their school located in the 

Downtown Character District.  St. Patrick Church and School are located in the Urban General 

and Urban General 2 frontage areas within the Downtown Character District. Properties 

designated as Urban General and Storefront frontages are subject to the sign standards in 

Section 26-194.L, Signage [in the Downtown Character District]. New free-standing signs are 

not allowed in the Urban General and Storefront and EMCs are restricted to marquee signs, as 

defined in the code.   

 

The intent of the Urban General and Storefront frontages is to encourage buildings to be built 

close to the street so that street frontages are lined with buildings to support a pedestrian-

friendly, main-street mixed-use district. A transition to pedestrian-scaled storefront signage is 

anticipated as infill occurs. To that end, there is an incentive in the code to encourage 

replacement of existing freestanding signs with other allowed types of building signage, such as 

wall signs and projecting signs. That being said, there are a number of civic and institutional 

uses in the Urban General frontage areas, including St. Patrick Church and School, the First 

Methodist Church, the First Presbyterian Church, and Lincoln Elementary School.  Similar to 

other churches and schools, these properties have larger open spaces on their properties for 

playgrounds, gathering spaces, and parking lots and often have monument signs with an EMC. 

While civic and institutional  buildings are exempt from certain standards in the new Character 

District Code, there is no specific exemption or alternative signage allowance for civic uses in 

these areas.   

 
Analysis 
 
The intent of the Downtown Character District Code is to facilitate development that is 

consistent with the adopted Downtown Vision Plan. One of the major objectives of the Vision 

578

Item 27.



 
 

Plan is to encourage future development that helps preserve the character of the Downtown 

area.  Churches and schools and other institutional uses are important to the character and 

livability of the downtown neighborhoods. Since they operate differently than commercial or 

residential uses, it makes sense to have different rules that apply, provided any changes are 

also sensitive to and complementary to other uses intended for the area.  

 

All the institutions mentioned above are located between the Downtown core and the 

Neighborhood Frontage Districts.  Properties located in the Neighborhood Frontages are 

allowed signage according to the sign standards in the R-1 Zoning District, since these areas 

are intended to maintain the residential character of the existing neighborhoods that surround 

downtown. In the R-1 Zoning District, permitted uses other than single family homes and 

duplexes, such as schools and churches, are allowed monument signs not to exceed 30 square 

feet in area and 5 feet in height. EMCs are also allowed. Given that many institutional uses will 

continue to have open space on their properties where monument signs could be located and 

many of the institutional uses both in this area and in surrounding neighborhoods have 

electronic messaging centers, staff finds that it would be reasonable to amend the code to allow 

them in a similar manner as allowed in the Neighborhood Frontage Districts.    

 

Discussion of Solutions 

 

In order to allow new monument signs and EMCs for civic and institutional uses in the Urban 

General and Storefront frontages in the Downtown Character District, the zoning code must be 

amended. Staff recommends that the following change be considered: 

 

 Amend paragraph 26-194L.2, as follows:  

 

2.   Applicability 

The standards in this section apply to any sign that is CLEARLY VISIBLE FROM THE 

STREET-SPACE in the frontages designated as Urban General or Storefront, except for 

signs for Civic and Institutional Uses, as defined in this Chapter. Signs for Civic and 

Institutional Uses and signs in the Neighborhood Frontages are regulated according to 

the sign standards for the R-1 zoning district. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

At their meeting on March 22, 2023, on a vote of 6-0, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

recommended approval of the proposed zoning code text amendment. Now, therefore, staff 

recommends that City Council set the date of public hearing on this matter for April 17, 2023.      

 
Minutes from the Planning and Zoning Commission meetings are noted below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

579

Item 27.



 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 

Discussion 
2/8/2023 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a zoning text 
amendment to modify sign allowance for Civic and Institutional Uses in the 
Downtown Character District. Chair Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Howard 
provided background information. She explained that St. Patrick’s School has 
asked to replace the existing monument sign. She stated that new freestanding 
signs are not allowed in the Urban General and Storefront frontages. Institutional 
and civic uses are different that other uses, so may need to be looked at a little 
differently when it comes to signage.  She noted that in the Neighborhood 
frontages of the Downtown Character District, institutional uses are allowed 
signage similar to what is allowed in the R-1 Zone. Staff wants to discuss a 
solution that would allow signage for institutional uses in all frontage districts of 
the Downtown Character District according to the standards in the R-1 District. 
The result would be that all institutional and civic uses in the Downtown 
Character District would be treated the same with regard to signage allowances.  
Staff recommends gathering comments from the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and the public and set a public hearing for the next Planning and 
Zoning Commission meeting on March 22, 2023. 
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Grybovych seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Hartley, Larson, Leeper and Lynch), and 0 nays. 

 

Discussion 
3/22/2023 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Text 
Amendment modifying the sign allowance for Civic and Institutional Uses in the 
Downtown Character District. Chair Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Howard 
provided background information. She explained that there had been a request 
from St. Patrick’s School to replace their freestanding monument sign but 
current sign allowances for the Downtown Character District would not allow for 
the requested sign because the school is located in the Urban General 
Frontage District. She noted that Institutional and civic uses are different than 
other uses, so may need to be looked at a little differently when it comes to 
signage.  She noted that in the Neighborhood frontages of the Downtown 
Character District, institutional uses are allowed signage similar to what is 
allowed in the R-1 Zone, where monument signs with electronic message 
centers are allowed. Staff recommends amending the code to allow signage for 
institutional and civic uses in all frontage districts of the Downtown Character 
District according to the standards in the R-1 District. The result would be that 
all institutional and civic uses in the Downtown Character District would be 
treated the same with regard to signage allowances.  
 
Ms. Gryboych made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Larson seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 
 

 

580

Item 27.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thomas Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: April 3, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request 4919 Hudson Road (RZ23-001) 
   
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from A-1: Agriculture District to R-1: Residence District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

David Nicol  

LOCATION: 
 

4919 Hudson Road 

 

 
David Nicol is requesting to rezone an approximately 2.18 acres of the property formerly 
addressed as 4919 Hudson Road from A-1, Agriculture District to R-1, Residence District. 
Associated with this rezoning is a request to rezone 0.89 acres of property the City purchased 
from Mr. Nicol to construct a street extension of Ashworth Drive from Hudson Road west to 
Ashworth Drive in the Prairie Winds 4th Addition.  
 
In April 2022, the City purchased the south 0.89-acre portion of Mr. Nicol’s property and 
demolished the residential structure for the purpose of making the connection between Hudson 
Road and Ashworth Drive. Mr. Nicol is requesting the rezoning to allow development of the 
remaining parcel.   
 
At the meeting on March 22, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing 
and recommended approval of the proposed rezoning. Therefore, staff now requests that City 
Council set a public hearing date for April 17, 2023, to formally consider the rezoning request. A 
full staff report and summary report of the Planning and Zoning Commission meetings will be 
provided to City Council prior the public hearing. 
 

581

Item 28.



â

â
â

â

Erik Rd

Glo
ria

 St

Algonquin Dr

No
rse

Dr

Sa
ma

nth
a C

ir

Ashworth Dr

Reese Rd

Vera Way

Kara Dr

Donald Dr

Hu
ds

on
 Rd

RP

R-1

MU

R-2R-3

A-1

A-1

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 
March 8, 2023

Rezoning from A-1 to R-1
Formarly 4919 Hudson Rd.
(RZ23-001)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

CenterS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

582

Item 28.



583

Item 28.



584

Item 28.



 

RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

 

RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF HEARING ON PROPOSED 

AMENDMENT TO  

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS ZONING MAP AND DIRECTING  

PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF SAID PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 

 WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to change the zoning from A-1, Agricultural Zoning District to R-1, Residence 

Zoning District, as described below, and 

 

 WHEREAS, said Commission has recommended approval of said change in the zoning, 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is desired to submit the same for consideration to the City Council to have 

a public hearing on the same as provided by law; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that there shall be a public hearing on a proposed change to the 

zoning from A-1, Agricultural Zoning District to R-1, Residence Zoning District to amend the 

Cedar Falls Zoning Map (Case #RZ23-001), by removing approximately 3.07 acres of real estate 

located at the former address of 4919 Hudson Road, as legally descripted below, from A-1, 

Agricultural Zoning District and placing the same in the R-1, Residence Zoning District: 

 

Legal description for land to be rezoned from A-1 to R-1: 

 

A part of the South ½ of the Northwest Quarter of Section No. 26, Township No. 89, Range No. 

14 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, Black Hawk County, Iowa, described as follows: 

 

Beginning at a point on the East Line of said Northwest Quarter 725.2 feet North of the Southeast 

corner of said Quarter: thence West right angles a distance of 215 feet; thence North at right angles 

a distance of 40 feet; thence West at right angles a distance of 435 feet; thence North at right angles 

a distance of 205 feet; thence East at right angles a distance of 650 feet to the east line of said 

Northwest Quarter; thence South a distance of 245 feet to the point of beginning. EXCEPT those 

parts conveyed for road purposes in Land Deed Book 91 Page 491, Land Deed Book 553 Page 

528, and Parcel C as described in File No. 2022-00025092 in the Office of Recorder, in Black 

Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

And  

 

That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section No. 29, Township 89 North, 

Range 14 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State 

of Iowa, described as follows: 

 

585

Item 28.



Commencing at the southeast corner of the Northwest Quarter of Said Section 26, point being a 

1/2 inch rebar in a monument box; thence North 00°42’50” West, along the East line of the 

Northwest Quarter of said Section 26, a distance of 725.14 feet (725.20 feet record); thence South 

89°20’50” West, 62.52 feet to the presently established Westerly right-of-way line of Hudson 

Road, being the Southwest corner of a parcel of land describe in Land Deed Book 553 Pages 528-

529 in the Office of Black Hawk County Recorder, point also is on the South line of the parcel of 

land described in Document No. 2012-5324 in the Office of the Black Hawk County Recorder, 

point being a 1/2 inch rebar with License Number 2697, also being the Point of Beginning; thence 

South 89°20’50” West, along the South line of the parcel of land described in said Document No.  

2012-5324, a distance of 152.48 feet, point being a 1-1/2 inch pinch pipe; thence North 00°40’05” 

West, along the South line of the parcel of land described in said Document No. 2012-5324, a 

distance of 39.96 feet (40.00 feet record), point being a 1-1/2 inch pinch pipe; thence South 

89°16’14” West, along the South line of the parcel of land described in said Document No. 2012-

5324, a distance of 435.09 feet (435.00 feet record) to the Northeast corner of Lot 22 of Prairie 

Winds 4th Addition, point being on the West line of the parcel of land described in said Document 

No, 2012-5324, point being a 1-1/2 inch iron pipe; thence North 00°43’46” West, along the West 

line of the parcel of land described in said Document No. 2012-5324, a distance of 60.00 feet to 

the Southeast corner of Lot 21 of Prairie Winds 4th Addition, point being a 1/2 inch rebar with 

License Number 17162; thence North 89°16’14” East, 518.45 feet; thence South 00°44’42” East, 

40.07 feet; thence North 89°20’50” East, 69.30 feet to the presently established Westerly right-of-

way line of Hudson Road; thence South 00°30’40” East, 60.00 feet along the presently established 

Westerly right-of-way line of Hudson Road to the Point of Beginning. 

 

Containing 38,596 Square Feet of 0.87 Acre.  

 

And that said public hearing shall be held on the 17th day of April 2023, at 7:00 o’clock P.M. 

The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to publish notice of said hearing the Waterloo-

Cedar Falls Courier, said notice to be published at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing date. 

 

 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of April, 2023. 

 

 

______________________________ 

                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

586

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: April 3, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Set Public Hearing for Rezoning Request– Sands Property, North Cedar  
  (RZ22-004) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone the southern 14.43 acres of the Sands property from A-1 Agricultural 
District to R-2 Residence District (RZ22-004) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Jim Sands Construction LLC    

LOCATION: 
 

North of Black Hawk Park Addition and west of Cypress Avenue   

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant requests to rezone 14.43 
acres of land that is located north of Black 
Hawk Park Addition from A-1 Agricultural 
District to R-2 Residence District.  The 
rezoning will allow the development of 
residential lots of similar size to the 
surrounding residential lots. The property 
owner proposes to rezone the portion of 
the land that is known to be able to be 
serviced for sewer at this time.  This will 
allow the development of part of the 
subdivision while the applicant works to 
make sure that the northern 2/3s of the 
property is able to be supported by sewer.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The parcel has been within the A-1 
Agricultural District since the parcel was 
annexed into the City in 1971 and is being 
used for agricultural uses.  The land to the 

587

Item 29.



south and west of the property is zoned R-2 and developed as residential lots and the land to 
the north and east are within the A-1 Agricultural District and being used for Agricultural uses.   
 
The current owner recently purchased this property with the intent of developing residential lots. 
The rezoning of this property must be carefully considered by evaluating the characteristics of 
the land and surrounding properties. This staff report will outline a number of these elements to 
have a firm understanding of the future use of this property. 
 
On March 2, 2023, the applicant asked for an additional 10 feet of land to the north to be 
included in the rezoning.  This changed the original proposal from 14.18 acres to 14.43 acres.  
Revised zoning map is included in the packet. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The applicant requests the properties to be rezoned to the R-2 District.  Rezoning 
considerations involve the evaluation of three main criteria: 
 

1)  Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and the 
Comprehensive Plan? 

 
The rezoning request is consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan or Future 
Designations. 

 
The purpose of A-1 Agricultural District is 
to act as a "holding zone" in areas of the 
city that are undeveloped and not served 
by essential municipal services (i.e., 
sanitary sewer, water, roadways) but 
where future growth and development is 
anticipated according to the 
Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of R-
2 Residential Zoning District is to provide 
opportunities for low density, detached 
and attached residential development in 
areas that are served by essential 
municipal services.   
 
The current land use map is designated 
as low density residential (yellow) and 
Parks and Rec (green).  
 
The property owner has indicated to the 
City that he is agreeable to adding a 
neighborhood park within the 
development.  A neighborhood park is typically 1-3 acres depending of the size of the 
neighborhood the park is serving. Park land or private neighborhood open space will be 
evaluated with the preliminary plat.    
 
In conclusion, Planning and Zoning Commission finds that the proposal is consistent with 
Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan.   

588

Item 29.



  
2) Is the property readily accessible to sanitary sewer service?  

Yes, all utilities are readily available to the site. Sanitary sewer is available to the portion of 
the property that is being requested for rezoning to R-2.  The northern 2/3 of the property 
would have to be served from the north and is currently not readily available. Staff 
anticipates that if the rezoning is approved, the applicant will move forward with a 
preliminary plat that would maintain the northern portion as an outlot for future 
development.  Once a plan for extension of sewer to this portion is determined, a rezoning 
and further platting of the outlot would be required. Therefore, the property owner requests 
to rezone the southern 14.43 acres of the parcel that will be considered the first phase of 
the development. This portion of the property   can be serviced with sanitary sewer from 
the connections available at the dead ends of Hiawatha Road and Pocahontas Road.     
 

3) Does the property have adequate roadway access?  
The property owner has not demonstrated that the entire property has adequate roadway 
access; therefore, the property owner has chosen to rezone a portion of the property.  The 
14.43 acres has adequate roadway access from Hiawatha Road and Pocahontas Road 
which connects to Lone Tree Road.  Similar to extension of the sanitary sewer, future 
rezoning and platting of the northern 2/3 of the property could occur in the future when an 
adequate roadway network has been determined.   

 
NOTICES 
A notice was mailed to property owners within 300 feet of the part of the lot that is under 
consideration on February 14, 2023, regarding this rezoning request.  Due to the weather 
cancelation, a second notice was mailed on February 28, 2023.   
 
Notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing was published in the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Courier on March 14, 2023.   
 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
At the meeting on March 22, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing 
and recommended approval of the proposed rezoning. Therefore, staff now requests that City 
Council set a public hearing date for April 17, 2023, to formally consider the rezoning request. 
Correspondence and maps will be provided to City Council prior the public hearing. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
3/8/23 
Introduction 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a rezoning from A-1 to R-2 
for 14.43 acres of land west of Cypress Avenue and north of Tomahawk Lane. Chair 
Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Pezley provided background information. She 
explained the rezoning would allow the development of residential lots of similar size 
to the surrounding lots. The property owner proposes to rezone the portion of the 
land that is known to be serviced for sewer at this time. She explained the criteria 
staff looks at when considering rezonings and noted that the R-2 zoning is 
appropriate according to the Comprehensive and Future Land Use Plans. She 
discussed the current access to public services and adequate street network. Staff 
recommends gathering comments from the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
the public, and to set a public hearing for the next Planning and Zoning Commission 
meeting on March 22, 2023.  

Dan Arends, VJ Engineering, (3714 Center Street), explained that they are currently 
working with staff on a final design of a subdivision for the property. 

589

Item 29.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public 
Hearing 
3/22/23 
 
 
 

Scott, Bonorden, 1021 Rocklyn Street, stated concerns with stormwater management 
and wants to ensure that it is designed correctly.  

John Metcalf, 3421 Cypress, also stated concerns with stormwater management and 
spoke to current issues they have in the area.  

Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II, discussed options for stormwater management that 
engineering has been working on with the petitioner, which will be addressed with the 
subdivision plat.  

Ms. Pezley noted an email that was received after the packet was published for the 
Commission to review, which was handed out at the meeting.  

Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the next meeting. Ms. Crisman 
seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Hartley, Larson, Leeper and Lynch), and 0 nays. 

 
Tom Herzmann, 1122 West 10th Street, spoke as representative of the buyer of the 
property under contract for 1317 Tomahawk Lane. He noted concerns with the 
stormwater management plan, size, and density of the property. He also asked about 
the plan for curbs and gutters on the streets. Ms. Pezley stated that the existing 
streets will not change and the streets that would be proposed in the subdivision will 
be reviewed in the preliminary plat process. Stormwater requirements would also be 
reviewed at that time. 

Jon Metcalf, 3421 Cypress, noted concerns with the water and the potential phasing 
of the project.  

Mr. Leeper clarified that the current vote won’t be about the water, just the zoning, 
but the Commission has heard the concerns about the water and will ensure that 
those concerns will be addressed at the next stage. 

Larsen made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
 
 

590

Item 29.



591

Item 30.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 4/3/23 COUNCIL MEETING



592

Item 30.



593

Item 30.



594

Item 30.



595

Item 30.



596

Item 30.



597

Item 30.



598

Item 30.



599

Item 30.



600

Item 30.



601

Item 30.



602

Item 30.



603

Item 30.



604

Item 30.



605

Item 30.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 4/3/23 MEETING



606

Item 30.



607

Item 30.



608

Item 30.



609

Item 30.



610

Item 30.



611

Item 30.



612

Item 30.



613

Item 30.



614

Item 30.



615

Item 30.



616

Item 30.



617

Item 30.



618

Item 30.



619

Item 30.



620

Item 30.



621

Item 30.



622

Item 30.



623

Item 30.



624

Item 30.



625

Item 30.



626

Item 30.



627

Item 30.



628

Item 30.



629

Item 30.



630

Item 30.



631

Item 30.



632

Item 30.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular meeting of March 20, 2023
	230320MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-Maximum Levy
	1-FY24 budget max levy hearing council  2.mem
	2-FY24 Notice of Max Levy Republish
	3-budget max levy resolution republish (1)

	Item 3.	PH-Zoning-Uses for defunct institutional buildings
	1 - Staff Report to CC - Conditional Use Text Amendment.fv
	2 - Ordinance - Salon as Conditional Use in Institutional Buildings

	Item 4.	Ord. 3025-site plan review in CD-DT
	1. CC.memo.public hearing second petition.3.20.23
	2. draft language site plan review.8.24.22
	3. 3025-CD-DT Site Plan Review

	Item 5.	Committee Minutes - 03/20/23
	03-20-23 Standing Committees Minutes-Final

	Item 6.	Proclamations
	2023-03-28_ProclamationsForCityCouncilApproval (003)
	2023-04_ FairHousingMonth KT
	2023-04-26_Administrative Professionals Day
	2023-05_LowMowMay

	Item 7.	Departmental Monthly Report
	02 - February 2023 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 8.	Tobacco Permits 04032023
	04032023 Tobacco Applications

	Item 9.	Tobacco Violation Agreements
	1-Order Accepting Agreement
	2-Acknowledgement-Settlement Agreement - Signed
	3-Notice of Hearing, 1st Violation
	4-Hill Street Hearing Complaint-1st
	1-Order Accepting Agreement-KS
	2-Acknowledgement-Settlement Agreement-KS
	3-Notice of Hearing, 1st Violation-KS
	4-King Star Hearing Complaint-1st
	1-Order Accepting Agreement-LM
	2-Acknowledgment-Settlement Agreement-LM
	3-Notice of Hearing, 1st Violation-LM
	4-Landmark Hearing Complaint-1st

	Item 10.	Retail Alcohol 4-3-23
	Retail alcohol 4-3-23

	Item 12.	Acting Fire Chief
	CITY COUNCIL Acting Fire Chief Memo

	Item 13.	Opioid Settlements
	1-Memo to Mayor Council 2023 Opioid Settlement
	Settlement_Participation_Form_Allergan
	Settlement_Participation_Form_CVS
	Settlement_Participation_Form_Teva
	Settlement_Participation_Form_Walgreens
	Settlement_Participation_Form_Walmart

	Item 14.	Linen Services Contract Amend #1
	Linen Services - Council memo 2023 Amend1
	Aramark Linen Services ContractAmend1

	Item 15.	US Cellular Service Contract Renewal
	2023 Renewal Agreement Memo
	DocuSign_City_of_Cedar_Falls_SOF_2023April

	Item 16.	Warranty Deed-Jones property
	1_City Council Memo to Accept Deed 04-03-23
	2_Resolution Accepting Deed for Jones Property 04-03-23
	3_Jones Deed

	Item 17.	Warranty Deeds-Main Street Reconstruction
	1. Warranty Deed Memo - Main Street Reconstruction (3)
	2. Main Street Strip Map (2022-0523)
	Pacel 11-2604 Main
	Parcel 300-7404 University

	Item 18.	Warranty Deeds- Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction
	1. Warranty Deed Memo - Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction
	2. Parcel 2 - Cedar Heights
	3. Parcel 3 - Cedar Heights
	4. Parcel 15 - Cedar Heights
	5. Parcel 32 - Cedar Heights
	6. Parcel 35 - Cedar Heights
	7. Location Map

	Item 19.	Contracts - 2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation
	1. Memo Contracts - 2023 Sanitary Rehab
	2. Form of Proposal - 2023 Sewer Rehab
	3. Form of Contract
	4. Bonds - 2023 Sewer Rehab
	5.  Insurance - 2023 Sewer Rehab

	Item 20.	Contracts - 2023 Street Construction
	1. 2023 Street Construction Memo
	2. Form of Contract, PPM Bond, Insurance, and Form of Proposal

	Item 21.	PSA -Snyder & Associates - W. Viking Industrial Park Expansion Phase II
	1. PSA Memo - WVIP Expansion Phase II
	2. PSA with Attachements - WVIP Exp II
	3. 2023-03-17_CityofCedarFallsVikingIndustrialGen
	4. 2023-03-17_CityofCedarFallsVikingIndustrialProf

	Item 22.	Hidden Pines Preliminary Plat
	1. CC Hidden Pines prelim staff report
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3.  PRELIM PLAT_2022-12-13
	4. DOD revised
	6. Waterloo letter
	7. Public Comment Pat Burke
	8. public comment 2
	5 easement

	Item 23.	Sewer Easement for Hidden Pines
	1 Accept off-site easeement
	2 easement

	Item 24.	Set PH-FY24 Budget
	FY24 budget hearing council.mem
	PH Ntc-FY24 Budget Hearing
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7
	8
	9
	10
	11
	12

	Item 25.	Set PH-DA & Conveyance-CF Storage, LLC
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 04-03-23
	2_Resolution Setting Date of PH - CF Storage, LLC

	Item 26.	Set PH-PS&E- Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension
	1. Memo PSE - Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension
	Opinion of Probable Construction

	Item 27.	Set PH-Signage in CD-DT
	1 - Memo.CC. set PH signs for civic uses in CD-DT.4.3.23

	Item 28.	Set PH-Rezoning 4919 Hudson Rd
	1_CC Memo for 4919 Hudson Rd
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. Nicol Rezoning Exhibit Plat - Nicol 1.11.23
	4. City Rezoning Exhibit Plat
	5. CC Resolution Setting PH rezoning 4919 Hudson Road

	Item 29.	Set PH-Rezoning Sands property from A-1 Agricultural District to R-2 Residence District (RZ22-004)
	1_CC Memo for Sands Rezoning set PHf

	Item 30.	Bills and Claims-04/03/23
	1 Daily Invoices 040323
	2 Council Invoices 040323

	Bottom

